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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

þ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO

SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended: December 31, 2010

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO

SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Transition Period From          to          .

Commission File Number: 001-33603

The Dolan Company
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 43-2004527

(State or other jurisdiction
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222 South Ninth Street, Suite 2300

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402

(Address, including zip code of registrant’s principal executive offices)

(612) 317-9420
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Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on which Registered

Common Stock, par value $0.001 per share The New York Stock Exchange

Series A Junior Participating Preferred

Stock Purchase Right

The New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant in a well-known seasoned issuer, as

defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.  Yes o     No þ

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports

pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.  Yes o     No þ

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports

required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the

registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such

filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes þ     No o

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to

Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405) is not contained herein, and will not
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be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or

information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K

or any amendment to this Form 10-K.  þ

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically

and posted on its corporate web site, if any, every Interactive Data File

required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T

(§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such

shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such

files).  Yes o     No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an

accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See

definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller

reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer þ Non-accelerated filer o

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller reporting company o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as

defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  Yes o     No þ

As of June 30, 2010, the registrant’s non-affiliates owned shares of its

common stock having an aggregate market value of $310,330,454.80 (based

upon the closing sales price of the registrant’s common stock on that date on

the New York Stock Exchange).

On March 1, 2011, there were 30,487,537 shares of the registrant’s

common stock outstanding.
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Exchange Commission on or around April 4, 2011, but will file no later than

120 days after December 31, 2010, are incorporated by reference into Part III

of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING

STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K includes forward-looking statements

that reflect our current expectations and projections about our future results,

performance, prospects and opportunities. We have tried to identify

forward-looking statements by using words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,”

“anticipate,” “believe,” “intend,” “estimate,” “should,” “could,” “potential,”

“goal,” “strategy” and similar expressions. These forward-looking

statements are based on information currently available to us and are subject

to a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those

described in “Risk Factors” in this annual report on Form 10-K, that could

cause our actual results, performance, prospects or opportunities to differ

materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking

statements.

You should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

Except as otherwise required by federal securities laws, we undertake no

obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements,

whether as a result of new information, future events, changed

circumstances or any other reason after the date of this annual report on

Form 10-K.

In this annual report on Form 10-K, unless the context requires

otherwise, the terms “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to The Dolan Company and

its consolidated subsidiaries. During 2010, we changed our name from

Dolan Media Company to The Dolan Company. We operate our

majority-owned subsidiary, American Processing Company and its

subsidiaries (collectively, “APC”), under the trade name, National Default

Exchange or NDeX. Therefore, when we refer to “National Default

Exchange” or “NDeX” in this annual report on Form 10-K, we mean all of

our mortgage default processing operations in Michigan, Indiana and

Minnesota and at Barrett-NDEx, as well as those acquired from the

Albertelli Sellers in October 2009. When we refer to “Barrett-NDEx” in this

annual report on Form 10-K, it means the mortgage default processing
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operations serving the Texas, California, Nevada and Georgia markets that

NDeX acquired from National Default Exchange Management, Inc.,

National Default Exchange Holdings, LP, THP/Barrett-NDEx AIV, Corp.

and THP/Barrett-NDEx AIV, LP on September 2, 2008. The term “Barrett

Law Firm” refers to Barrett, Daffin, Frappier, Turner & Engel, LLP and its

affiliates. When we refer to the “Albertelli Sellers” in this annual report on

Form 10-K, it means James E. Albertelli, P.A., The Albertelli Firm, P.C.,

Albertelli Title, Inc. and James E. Albertelli, as a group. We also refer to

James E. Albertelli, P.A. and The Albertelli Firm, P.C., together, as the

“Albertelli Law Firm.” The term “Trott Sellers” in this annual report on

Form 10-K means David A. Trott, Ellen Coon, Trustee of the Ellen Coon

Living Trust u/a/d 9/9/98, Marcy J. Ford, Trustee of the Marcy Ford

Revocable Trust u/a/d 7/12/04, William D. Meagher, Trustee of the William

D. Meagher Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, and Jeanne M. Kivi, Trustee of the Jeanne

M. Kivi Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, each of whom we individually refer to as a

“Trott Seller.”
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PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

We are a leading provider of necessary professional services and

business information to legal, financial, real estate and governmental affairs

sectors in the United States. We serve our customers through two

complementary operating divisions: our Professional Services Division and

our Business Information Division. Our Professional Services Division is

comprised of two operating segments: mortgage default processing services

and litigation support services. Through our subsidiary, NDeX, we provide

mortgage default processing services to eight law firm customers as well as

directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers for residential real estate

located in California and Nevada. We currently provide these services for

residential real estate located in California, Florida, Georgia, Indiana,

Michigan, Minnesota, Nevada and Texas. Our subsidiaries DiscoverReady

and Counsel Press comprise our litigation support services operating

segment. DiscoverReady, which we acquired on November 2, 2009,

provides outsourced discovery management and document review services

to major United States and global companies and their law firms. Counsel

Press provides appellate services to law firms and attorneys nationwide. Our

Business Information Division, which comprises our business information

segment, publishes business journals, court and commercial media and other

highly focused information products and services, operates web sites and

produces events for targeted professional audiences in 21 geographic

markets across the United States. Our information is delivered through a

variety of methods, including more than 60 print publications and more than

100 web sites. Through subscription-based offerings, our Business

Information Division also offers transcription services and access to our

legislative databases which provide federal and state legislative and

regulatory information.
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Our business model has multiple diversified revenue streams that allow

us to generate revenues and cash flow throughout all phases of the economic

cycle. This diversification allows us to maintain the flexibility to capitalize

on growth opportunities. In addition, our balanced business model, together

with our diverse geographic mix, produces stability by mitigating the effects

of economic fluctuations. The following table shows the percentage of our

total revenues generated by our products and services for the years ended

December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008.

Percentage of Revenues

Revenue type 2010 2009 2008

Cyclical/non-cyclical revenues

Display and classified advertising revenues 8.5% 10.5% 17.7%

Public notice revenues 4.8% 6.1% 7.4%

Subscription and other revenues 5.1% 5.5% 8.1%

Litigation support services segment revenues 18.9% 8.0% 7.9%

Total cyclical/non-cyclical revenues 37.3% 30.1% 41.1%

Countercyclical revenues

Mortgage default processing services segment

revenues 52.8% 57.6% 44.5%

Public notice revenues 9.9% 12.3% 14.6%

Total countercyclical revenues 62.7% 69.9% 59.1%

Cyclical revenues and cash flows tend to increase during economic

expansions and decrease during economic downturns. In contrast,

countercyclical revenues and cash flows tend to increase during economic

downturns and decrease during economic expansions, and non-cyclical

revenues and cash flows tend to remain relatively unaffected by changes in

the economic cycle. For example, absent government intervention, a

worsening economy tends to lead to a higher rate of residential mortgage

foreclosures and a greater number of foreclosure-related public notices

being published, while an improving economy tends to have the opposite
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impact. We believe that revenues associated with our litigation support

services and subscription and other revenues in our Business Information

Division are primarily non-cyclical because such revenues do not tend to

fluctuate with the economic cycles. We show our public notice revenues in

both the cyclical/non-cyclical and countercyclical sections because about

two-thirds of our total such revenues are related to foreclosure notices,

which are countercyclical, and one-third of such

3
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revenues are related to listings for fictitious business names, limited liability

companies and other entity notices, which are typically non-cyclical.

Our History

The Dolan Company is a Delaware corporation incorporated in March

2003 under the name DMC II Company to continue operations started in

1992 by our predecessor company, named Dolan Media Company. In July

2003, after our predecessor company spun off its business information and

other businesses to us in connection with a restructuring, we resumed

operations under the name Dolan Media Company. In 2010, we changed our

name from Dolan Media Company to The Dolan Company.

We have a successful history of growth through acquisitions. We have

completed more than 70 acquisitions under both our predecessor company

from 1992 through March 2003, and since March 2003, including two

acquisitions in 2010. In August 2010, we acquired certain assets of Federal

News Service, Inc. (“Federal News”). Federal News, located in

Washington, D.C., uses technology and trained specialists who work in real

time to transcribe Washington’s pivotal events and deliver the transcriptions

very quickly to its customers. It also provides multi-language translations

and custom transcription services. In December 2010, we acquired

DataStream Content Solutions, LLC (“DataStream”). Located in College

Park, MD, DataStream is a leading provider of federal legislative and

regulatory data and advanced content management systems to information

businesses, publishers and governments.

We expect that our acquisitions will continue to be a component of

growth in our three operating segments. We also expect to continue to

identify opportunities to expand the businesses in our Professional Services

Division by starting operations in markets where we have not previously

provided these services or by acquiring business lines that we have not

previously provided, like our acquisition of DiscoverReady in 2009. For

more information about the businesses we acquired in 2010, you should
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refer to “Item 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of Operations — Recent Acquisitions” below.

Our Industries

Professional Services

Our Professional Services Division consists of two operating segments:

mortgage default processing services and litigation support services. Our

mortgage default processing services segment comprises the operations of

NDeX. Our litigation support services segment comprises the operations of

DiscoverReady, our discovery management and document review services

business, and Counsel Press, our appellate services business. We provide

these support services to the legal profession, including in-house corporate

counsel with respect to DiscoverReady. In addition, NDeX also provides its

services directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers on California and

Nevada foreclosure files. Companies are increasingly looking for ways to

control legal costs and for legal work to be performed by the lowest cost

high quality provider. We believe that law firms are under intense pressure

to increase efficiency and reduce costs while fulfilling the growing demands

of clients. We further believe that outsourcing has become an increasingly

attractive choice for law firms as they identify functions outside of their

core competency of practicing law that can help them manage their costs.

Mortgage Default Processing Services

The outsourced mortgage default processing services market is highly

fragmented, and we estimate that it primarily consists of back-office

operations of approximately 350 local and regional law firms throughout the

United States. We believe that large case volumes and rising client

expectations provide an opportunity for default processors that provide

efficient and effective services on a timely basis.

We believe that residential mortgage delinquencies will remain high in

2011 due to the continued high unemployment rate and the number of
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homeowners who owe more on their mortgages than their home is worth

due to deterioration in the residential real estate markets, as well as the

re-setting of interest rates on adjustable rate mortgages. Compounding these

factors is the continued softness in the residential real estate market in many

regions of the United States, which makes it more difficult for borrowers in

distress to sell their homes, along with

4
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tighter credit requirements for new loan products. The volume of

delinquencies and defaults over the past few years has been at historically

high levels and has created additional demand for default processing

services and has served as a growth catalyst for the mortgage default

processing market. See, however, “Item 1A: Risk Factors” for a discussion

of increased regulations and voluntary foreclosure relief programs that

could have an adverse impact on the mortgage default processing market.

Based on information provided to the Mortgage Bankers Association, or

MBA, by banks and loan servicers who report their mortgage data to the

MBA, 50 million residential mortgage loans were being serviced in the

United States as of December 31, 2010, compared to 52 million residential

mortgage loans being serviced a year earlier. The MBA is a national

association representing the real estate finance industry. The MBA’s

information also shows that, at December 31, 2010, there were 2 million

seriously delinquent mortgages, defined as loans that are more than 90 days

past due, compared to 2.4 million a year ago. In its fourth quarter industry

report, the MBA estimates that 4.6% of all mortgage loans were in

foreclosure at December 31, 2010, which is consistent with last year. This

estimate includes loans where servicing has been suspended in accordance

with the mortgage lender’s or loan servicer’s foreclosure requirements and

excludes loans where the foreclosure has been completed. Based on this

estimated annual volume of mortgages in foreclosure and the average

revenue we derived per file in 2010 (which we assume would be generally

representative of rates charged for mortgage default processing services

throughout the United States), we believe the U.S. market for non-legal

residential mortgage default processing services was approximately

$1.1 billion in 2010.

Litigation Support Services

The market for litigation support services is highly fragmented and we

believe that it includes a large number of providers across the country, along

with an unknown number of law firms in the United States who choose to

provide these services to their clients directly rather than outsourcing them.
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One of the litigation support services we provide is discovery management

and document review services. Discovery is the process by which parties

use the legal system to obtain relevant information, primarily in litigation,

regulatory, and governmental investigation matters. Some United States

companies with in-house legal departments choose to perform or manage

some portions of the discovery process in-house, rather than outsourcing

them. This process can be expensive and time-consuming for companies

and their lawyers depending upon the volume of emails, electronic files and

paper documents a company must review to respond to a document request.

As the volume of data requiring review continues to increase, we anticipate

that companies and their lawyers will be required to find more cost effective

and efficient solutions to managing their discovery process. We believe the

U.S. market for discovery services was in excess of $4 billion in 2010.

We also provide appellate services to lawyers in connection with both

state and federal appeals. We currently perform more state appellate work,

as state appellate case volume generally is larger than federal case volume.

There are typically about 300,000 state appeals filed each year, compared to

approximately 58,000 federal appeals filed per year, according to

information available to us from the Administrative Office of the

U.S. Courts and the National Center for State Courts. While certain states,

such as New York, have very specific appellate filing requirements, federal

appeals typically are more complicated and have more challenging

document and filing requirements. Our clients typically require Counsel

Press’ expertise more when their cases are more complicated and the filing

requirements are more challenging.

Business Information

We provide business information products to companies and

professionals in the legal, financial, real estate and governmental affairs

sectors primarily through print and online business journals and court and

commercial newspapers, as well as other electronic media offerings. Our

business journals generally rely on display and classified advertising as a

significant source of revenue and provide content that is relevant to the

business communities they target. Our court and commercial newspapers
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generally rely on public notices as their primary source of revenue and offer

extensive and more focused information to the legal communities they

target. All of our business journals and court and commercial newspapers

also generate circulation revenue to supplement their advertising and public

notice revenue base. We believe, based on data we have collected over

several years, that
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there are more than 230 local business journals and more than 350 court and

commercial newspapers nationwide, which generated approximately

$2.0 billion in revenues in 2010.

Mainstream media outlets, such as television, radio, metropolitan and

national newspapers and the Internet, generally provide broad-based

information to a geographically dispersed or demographically diverse

audience. By contrast, we provide proprietary content that is tailored to the

legal, financial and real estate sectors of each local and regional market we

serve and that is not readily obtainable elsewhere. Our business information

products are often the only source of local information for our targeted

business communities and compete only to a limited extent for advertising

customers with other media outlets, such as television, radio, metropolitan

and national newspapers, the Internet, outdoor advertising, directories and

direct mail.

We are qualified to carry public notices in 14 of the 21 markets we serve.

A public notice is a legally required announcement informing citizens about

government or government-related activities that may affect citizens’

everyday lives. Most of these activities involve the application of

governmental authority to a private event, such as a mortgage foreclosure,

probate filing, listings for fictitious business names, limited liability

companies and other entity notices, unclaimed property notices, notices of

governmental hearings and trustee sale notices. Every jurisdiction in the

United States has laws that regulate the manner in which public notices are

published. Statutes specify wording, frequency of publication and other

unusual characteristics that may vary according to jurisdiction and make the

publication of public notices more complex than traditional advertising.

These laws are designed to ensure that the public receives important

information about the actions of its government from a newspaper that is

accessible and already a trusted source of community information.

Currently, local newspapers generally are the medium that is used to satisfy

laws regulating the process of notifying the public. The requirements for

publishing public notices serve as barriers to entry to new and existing

publications that desire to carry public notices.
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Through new subscription-based offerings in 2010 as a result of

acquisitions, Federal News and DataStream bring us into new industries

with their transcription services and customized access to state and federal

legislative and regulatory data. The market for these products and services

includes government agencies, including the U.S. Congress; news media

and other business information providers; and governmental relations

professionals in lobbying firms and Fortune 1000-level companies

throughout the U.S.

Our Products and Services

Professional Services — Mortgage Default Processing Services Segment

We offer mortgage default processing and related services through our

majority-owned subsidiary, NDeX, to our eight law firm customers and, on

California and Nevada foreclosure files, to mortgage lenders and loan

servicers. We currently own 93.8% of the membership interests in NDeX.

Generally, NDeX assists its law firm and other customers in processing

foreclosure, bankruptcy, eviction and, to a lesser extent, litigation and other

mortgage default related case files, in connection with residential mortgage

defaults in California, Florida, Georgia, Indiana, Michigan, Minnesota,

Nevada and Texas. NDeX also provides real estate title services to the

Barrett Law Firm and provides loan modification and loss mitigation

support on mortgage default files to its customers.

Our largest customer is the Barrett Law Firm, which represented

approximately 44% of our mortgage default processing services segment

revenues and 23% of our total revenues in 2010. Trott & Trott is our second

largest customer, representing 26% of our mortgage default processing

services segment revenues and 14% of our total revenues in 2010. In 2010,

the top 10 clients of our law firm customers accounted for 67% of the

mortgage default case files handled by our law firm customers. In 2010, we

received approximately 378,800 mortgage default case files for processing

from our customers.
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Pursuant to 15- to 25-year services agreements, NDeX is the sole

provider of processing services for foreclosure, bankruptcy, eviction and, to

a lesser extent, litigation, for residential mortgage defaults to its eight law

firm customers. These contracts provide for the exclusive referral to NDeX

of processing work related to residential mortgage default case files handled

by each law firm, although Trott & Trott and the Barrett Law Firm may send

files elsewhere if directed by their respective clients. All of NDeX’s

customers pay a fixed fee per file based on the type of file that NDeX

services. The initial term of our services agreements with the Trott & Trott

and the Barrett Law Firm expire in 2021 and 2033, respectively. The initial

term of our services agreements with other
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law firm customers expire between 2022 and 2030. In each case, the initial

terms of these services agreements will automatically renew for up to two

successive five-to ten-year periods unless either party elects to terminate the

term then-in-effect with prior notice. During the term of our services

agreement with our law firm customer in Indiana, we have agreed not to

provide mortgage default processing services with respect to real estate

located in Indiana for any other law firm. Similarly, we have agreed with

our law firm customer in Minnesota not to provide our services to any other

law firm with respect to Minnesota real estate during the term of our

services agreement. We also agreed with the Albertelli Law Firm, our

Florida law firm customer, that we will not provide our services with respect

to real estate located in Florida for any other law firm until October 2012.

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, our mortgage

default processing services segment accounted for 53%, 58%, and 45% of

our total revenues and 74%, 88% and 85% of our Professional Services

Division’s total revenues, respectively.

Mortgage default processing is a volume-driven business in which clients

of our law firm customers, and our mortgage lender and loan servicer

customers for residential real estate located in California and Nevada, insist

on the efficient and accurate servicing of cases, strict compliance with

applicable laws, including loss mitigation efforts, and high levels of

customer service. Our law firm customers depend upon our mortgage

default processing services because efficient and high-quality services

translate into the opportunity for more case referrals from their clients. The

default processing begins when a borrower defaults on mortgage payment

obligations and the mortgage lender or servicer sends the case file

containing the relevant information regarding the loan to our law firm

customer, or directly to NDeX, with respect to residential real estate located

in California and Nevada. Our law firm customers are retained by mortgage

lending and mortgage servicing firms to provide counsel with respect to the

foreclosure, eviction, bankruptcy and, to a lesser extent, litigation and other

mortgage default related case files in each of the states in which we provide

these services for residential mortgage defaults. After a file is referred by

the mortgage lending or mortgage loan servicing firm to our law firm

customers, or directly to us in California and Nevada, the lender’s or the

(/)



(.navbar-

collapse)



Dolan Co. - FORM 10-K - March 11, 2011 http://www.getfilings.com/sec-filings/110311/Dol...

22 of 335 05/08/2018 07:08 PM



servicer’s goal is to proceed with the foreclosure and disposition of the

subject property as efficiently as possible and to make all reasonable

attempts to avoid foreclosure and thereby mitigate losses. Immediately after

our customer receives a file, it begins to use NDeX to process the file.

The procedures surrounding the foreclosure process involve numerous

steps, each of which must adhere to strict statutory guidelines and all of

which are overseen and directed by attorneys at our law firm customers.

NDeX assists these customers with processing residential mortgage

defaults, including data entry, supervised document preparation, mailing of

required notices and placements of required publications and other

non-legal processes. Specific procedural steps in the foreclosure process

vary by state. An early step in the process is a letter that must be sent from

the law firm, or directly from NDeX in the case of properties located in

California or Nevada, to the borrower as required by the federal Fair Debt

Collections Practices Act. NDeX also assists its customers in opening a file

and ordering a title search on the mortgaged property to determine if there

are any liens or encumbrances. The data received from the lender or

mortgage servicing client of the law firm customers, and the results of the

title search or commitment search, become the foundation of the foreclosure

case file that NDeX assists its customers in building.

We service customers in both non-judicial and judicial foreclosure states.

In a judicial foreclosure state, a loan is secured by a mortgage and the

foreclosing party must file a complaint and summons that begin a lawsuit

requesting that the court order a foreclosure. The law firm and NDeX must

also arrange for service to defendants of the complaint and summons. If

successful, the plaintiff in a judicial foreclosure state obtains a judgment

that leads to a subsequent foreclosure sale. In connection with such

foreclosure, a public notice must be published the requisite number of times

in a qualified local newspaper.

In a non-judicial state, a loan is secured by a mortgage that contains a

power of sale clause, and the lender may begin the foreclosure process

without a court order. Generally, foreclosing parties in non-judicial states

must publish a public notice to commence the foreclosure process. Once the
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public notice has been published the requisite number of times in a qualified

local newspaper, NDeX arranges, under the direction of the law firm or, in

California and Nevada, its mortgage lender and loan servicer customers, for

a copy to be posted on the front door of the subject property, if required by

applicable law, and for a digital photo to be obtained to prove compliance.

After publication has been completed and all other legal steps have been

taken, the sheriff’s deed and affidavits are prepared for review by the law

firm prior to the public auction.
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In all cases, except Texas where publication is not required, a sworn

affidavit of publication of the required public notice must be obtained from

the newspaper publisher by the law firm using NDeX’s staff and entered

into the case file along with proof of publication.

If the process goes all the way to a foreclosure auction of the subject

property, NDeX works with its customers and the sheriff to coordinate the

auction and to facilitate communications among interested parties. In

Michigan, as an example, the foreclosing party may enter a bid in the

amount of its total indebtedness for the subject property. A decision

regarding whether the foreclosing party should bid, and how much, is

determined by attorneys at the law firm pursuant to instructions received

from the lender or mortgage servicer. After the auction, the sale results are

communicated by NDeX to interested parties and the appropriate deeds are

recorded. The eight states in which we do business permit the former owner

to recover the property at any time prior to its sale by the sheriff by paying

the default amount, plus interest and costs. In addition, Michigan and

Minnesota each have six-month redemption periods following the auction,

during which time the former owners can pay the amount bid, plus

accumulated interest, and thereby recover the property. If the redemption

payment is made in full, funds are forwarded to the lender and all parties are

notified by NDeX that a redemption has occurred. In that event, the sheriff’s

deed is void. If, however, no redemption occurs after the statutory

redemption period has passed, the law firm works with its clients to

determine the next step. At this point in time, if the property is still

occupied, documents are prepared by the law firm and generated by NDeX

to commence an eviction.

At any point during this process, a borrower may file for bankruptcy,

which results in a stay on mortgage default proceedings. Therefore, NDeX

assists its customers in frequently and diligently checking bankruptcy court

records to ensure that a bankruptcy filing has not been made. Most

foreclosure cases do not proceed all the way to eviction, but are ended at

earlier dates by property redemption, property sale, bankruptcy, or by a

vacancy by the mortgagor.
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Fees.  Government sponsored entities, including Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac, monitor and establish guidelines that are generally accepted by

mortgage lending and mortgage servicing firms nationwide for the per file

case fees to be paid to their counsel. Thus, our law firm customers receive a

fixed fee per file from their clients and we then receive our agreed upon

fixed fee per file from the applicable law firm. Under the services

agreements with our law firm customers, we are entitled to receive a fee

when our law firm customer directs us to begin processing a residential

mortgage case file, regardless of whether the case proceeds all the way to

foreclosure, eviction, bankruptcy or litigation. If our customers’ client

proceeds to eviction or chooses to litigate, or if the borrower files for

bankruptcy, and in some instances when the time to process the file is

prolonged, we receive additional fixed fees per case file. In California and

Nevada, foreclosures may be undertaken by non-attorneys. Thus, in the case

of California and Nevada foreclosure files, we receive the full fee directly

from our customers, the mortgage lender or loan servicers.

Technology.  NDeX has two proprietary case management software

systems that store, manage and report on the large amount of data associated

with each foreclosure, bankruptcy, eviction or litigation case file serviced by

NDeX in each of the states in which we do business. One was developed by

NDeX for use in Michigan, the other was developed by Barrett-NDEx

(which we acquired in September 2008) for use in Texas, Georgia,

California and Nevada. Under both systems, each case file is scanned,

stored and tracked digitally, thereby improving record keeping. The systems

also provide NDeX’s management with real-time information regarding

employee productivity and the status of case files. We are constantly

working to improve the functionality of our proprietary case management

systems and other related IT productivity tools to meet the needs of our

customers’ mortgage lender and loan servicer clients. For example, we have

developed the ability to provide our customers’ clients email notifications of

case status and customized case and summary reports. We have successfully

customized the system used in Michigan to efficiently and productively

process files of our law firm customers in Minnesota and Indiana and plan

to do the same for our Florida law firm customer, the Albertelli Law Firm,

in early 2011. NDeX continues to use the system developed by
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Barrett-NDEx to service our customers in Texas, California, Nevada and

Georgia. In 2011, we intend to implement Barrett-NDEx on the case

management system originally developed for use in Michigan, so that we

are using the same system in all of the states where we do business.
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Professional Services — Litigation Support Services Segment

Through our litigation support services segment, we provide outsourced

litigation support services to major United States and global companies and

their in-house lawyers and law firms, through DiscoverReady, and we

provide outsourced appellate services to local and regional law firms

through Counsel Press. DiscoverReady, in which we own an 85.3% interest,

provides discovery management and document review services. Counsel

Press assists law firms in organizing, preparing and filing appellate briefs,

records and appendices, in paper and electronic formats. For the years ended

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, our litigation support services segment

accounted for 19%, 8% and 8% of our total revenues and 26%, 12% and

15% of our Professional Services Division’s total revenues, respectively.

Discovery is the process by which parties use the legal system to obtain

relevant information, primarily in litigation, regulatory and government

investigation matters. This process can be expensive and time-consuming

for companies depending upon the volume of emails, electronic files and

paper documents a company must review to respond to a document request.

DiscoverReady assists these companies and their counsel in document

reviews and managing the discovery process. DiscoverReady also provides

related technology management services. DiscoverReady’s revenues are

very concentrated as its top two customers (both of which are in the

financial services industry) accounted for 78% of DiscoverReady’s total

revenues, 58% of our litigation support services segment revenues and 11%

of our total revenues in 2010.

Our litigation support services professionals at Counsel Press provide

clients with consulting services, including procedural and technical advice

and support with respect to U.S. state and federal appellate processes. With

our assistance, our customers are able to file high-quality appellate briefs,

records, appendices, and other documents that comply with the highly-

localized and specialized rules of each court in which appeals are filed.

Counsel Press’ team of experienced attorneys and paralegals have forged

close relationships with the courts over the years, and are keenly aware of
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the requirements, deadlines and nuances of each court, further improving

the quality of appellate guidance provided to clients. Counsel Press also

offers a full range of traditional printing services and electronic filing

services. For example, Counsel Press provides the appellate bar with

printing and filing services using its “Counsel Press E Brief” electronic and

interactive court filing technology, which converts paper files containing

case citations, transcripts, exhibits and pleadings, as well as audio and video

presentations, into integrated and hyperlinked electronic media that can be

delivered on CD-ROM or over the Internet. Counsel Press’ case

management system and other proprietary business process applications are

an important component of our digital strategy that enables our customers to

more efficiently manage the appeals process.

Our appellate services are critical to our customers as their ability to

satisfy their clients’ needs depends upon their ability to file a timely appeal

that complies with a particular court’s technical requirements. Using our

proprietary case management system, Counsel Press is able to process, even

on short notice, files that exceed 50,000 pages, producing on-deadline

filings meeting exacting court standards. In 2010, Counsel Press assisted

more than 4,000 individual attorneys working within law firms,

corporations, non-profit agencies, and government agencies in organizing,

printing and filing appellate briefs and other documents in many states, all

of the federal courts of appeals and the U.S. Supreme Court. In addition to

its appellate services, Counsel Press provides additional tracking and

professional services to its clients.

Fees.  We charge our customers fees for our litigation support services,

which are generally based upon the volume of data that we manage, the

number of documents that we review, the type of technology utilized, the

number of consulting hours employed, the size and complexity of the

matter, and the requirements of the court or client.

Technology.  Counsel Press uses a proprietary case-management system

and proprietary web-based applications within that system to manage our

customer relationships and files. Each Counsel Press staff member has

access to real-time information about any file we are managing, or have
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managed, or seek to manage. We store large amounts of data and summarize

that data for our management and staff in reports on productivity, workload,

market opportunity, case management and case processing functions. Our

primary customer-facing technology is our CP Client Portal which is

available via secure Internet connection. The CP Client Portal provides our

clients real-time access to the information we create and files we collect.
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DiscoverReady uses technology-aided systems to host, manage and

automate the document review process. These systems are consolidated in

our New York, Michigan and Connecticut data centers, and are used

nationwide in our e-discovery efforts. We have developed flexible

technology that integrates third-party and custom-built tools to deliver

efficient combinations of data collection, processing, hosting, review,

privilege identification and production to our customer projects. Our

technology allows us to simultaneously support numerous projects, allowing

each to be in a different stage, and to operate with a custom workflow. Our

systems and processes follow rigorous security standards and routinely pass

our customers’ exacting standards and audits. We consistently improve the

system that delivers our e-discovery process by adding new technology and

by increasing automation, and we are in the final stages of deploying our

next generation system that will significantly increase the speed, capacity

and capability of our processes.

Business Information

Our business information products are important sources of necessary

information for the legal, financial and real estate sectors in the 21 markets

that we serve in the United States. We provide our business information

products through our portfolio of more than 60 publications and more than

100 web sites. We also offer subscription-based products for transcription

services as well as access to our legislative databases which provide state

and federal legislative and regulatory information.

We believe, based on our 2010 revenues, we are the second largest

publisher of local business journals in the United States and the second

largest publisher of court and commercial publications that specialize in

carrying public notices. The business information products we target in the

Maryland, Minnesota and Missouri markets each accounted for more than

10% of our business information revenues for 2010. Our business

information products contain proprietary content written and created by our

staff and local expert contributors and stories from newswires and other

relevant sources. Our journalists and contributors contribute, on average,
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over 1,000 articles and stories per week to our print titles and web sites that

are tailored to the needs and preferences of our targeted markets. The

newsrooms of our publications leverage this proprietary content by using

internal newswires to share their stories with each other, which allows us to

efficiently develop content that can be customized for different local

markets.

We strive to be the most immediate and primary source of industry

information to our audience, offering necessary proprietary content that

enhances the daily professional activities of our readers. Our business

information products offer timely news, insight and commentary that inform

and educate professionals in the legal, financial, real estate and

governmental affairs sectors about current topics and issues affecting their

professional communities. Specifically, our content focuses on enabling our

readers to be well-informed of industry dynamics, their competitors, recent

transactions in their market, and current and potential client opportunities.

This critical information, delivered on a timely and regular basis, enables

the professionals we serve to operate effectively in business environments

characterized by tight deadlines and intense competition. For example, we

publish a number of leading titles that report on local and national legal

decisions issued by state and federal courts and governmental agencies, new

legislation, changes in court rules, verdicts and settlements, bar disciplinary

actions and other news that is directly relevant to attorneys.

We also offer to legal professionals related product enhancements and

auxiliary products, such as directories, local judicial and courthouse

profiles, legal forms and “new attorney” kits. Additionally, several of our

titles provide information regarding construction data and bidding

information on hundreds of projects each day, while other publications offer

comprehensive coverage of the real estate industry, including listings and

foreclosure reports. Our business information portfolio also includes certain

titles and online alert services that provide information about regulatory

agencies, legislative activities and local political news that are of interest to

legislators, lobbyists and the greater political community.

In addition to our various print titles, we employ a digital strategy to
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provide our business information products electronically through our web

sites and our email notification systems that offer both free and

subscription-based content. We customize the delivery of our proprietary

content to meet our customers’ needs. Specifically, our media neutral

approach allows us to tailor our products and services to take advantage of

the strengths inherent in each medium and allows our customers to choose

their preferred method of delivery. Our email notification systems allow us

in real-time to provide up-to-date information to customers, who can

conveniently access such
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information, as well as other information on our web sites, from a desktop,

laptop or mobile device. Our digital strategy acts both as a complement to

our print publications, with subscribers to a variety of our publications

having access to web sites and email notifications associated with such

publications, and independently, with exclusive paid subscription access to

most of our web services. Our electronic content includes access to

stand-alone subscription products, archives of articles, legislative tracking

and alert services and case digests containing case summaries, local verdicts

and settlements, judicial profiles and email alerts containing case summaries

and links to decisions in subscribers’ selected practice areas.

The credibility and distinct focus of our print products and their

reputation as trusted sources of local information extend to our web sites

and email notification systems, thereby differentiating our content from that

of other web sites and electronic media. This allows us to sell packaged

print and online advertising products to advertisers that desire to reach

readers through different media. Dolan Media Newswires, our Internet-

based, subscription newswire, is available at

www.dolanmedianewswires.com for news professionals and represents the

work of our journalists and contributors. We also operate online,

subscription-based legislative information services that are used by

lobbyists, associations, corporations, unions, government affairs

professionals, state agencies and the media in Arizona, Minnesota and

Oklahoma. Through these services, we offer online legislation tracking,

up-to-date legislative news and other highly-detailed legislative information.

Through DataStream, we offer customized access to legislative databases

which provide state and federal legislative and regulatory information.

DataStream’s proprietary processes and technology transform highly

complex and unstructured data into valuable products and services for its

business and government clients. It specializes in applying XML markup

language to convert complex and unstructured data into “smarter” forms,

allowing flexible queries and dynamic database updates. DataStream’s

proprietary business lines include Legislative Impact  and Regulatory

Impact , data management technologies which simplify searches of vast

®
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federal databases and are licensed to business clients and to the U.S. House

of Representatives Office of Legislative Counsel. The company also offers

other data management, conversion and analytic tools and services.

Through Federal News, we offer transcription services. Federal News’

transcriptions, delivered to subscribers through our website and email alerts,

cover presidential public appearances; major congressional hearings;

speeches, statements and press conferences by administration leaders,

congressional leaders and their spokespersons; briefings and important

events at the White House, Departments of State, Defense, Justice and

Homeland Security and the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative;

speeches and press conferences by visiting international leaders; political

interviews on television; and key events during presidential campaigns.

Advertising.  All of our print products, as well as a large number of our

electronic products, carry commercial advertising, which consists of display

and classified advertising. For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009

and 2008, advertising (including revenues from events discussed under

“Seminars, Programs and Other Events” below) accounted for 9%, 10% and

18% of our total revenues and 30%, 30% and 37% of our Business

Information Division’s total revenues, respectively. We generate our

advertising revenues from a variety of local business and individual

customers in the legal, financial and real estate sectors that we serve. For

example, our top 10 advertising customers only represented, in the

aggregate, 2% of our total Business Information revenues in 2010.

Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2010, we derived

approximately 94% of our advertising revenues from local advertisers and

about 6% of our advertising revenues from national advertisers (i.e.,

advertisers that place advertising in several of our publications at one time).

Because spending by local advertisers is generally less volatile than that of

national advertisers, we believe that our advertising revenue streams carry a

greater level of stability than publications that carry primarily national

advertising and therefore we are better positioned to withstand broad

downturns in advertising spending.

Public Notices.  Public notices are legal notices required by federal, state
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or local law to be published in qualified publications. A publication must

typically satisfy several legal requirements in order to provide public

notices. In general, a publication must possess a difficult-to-obtain

U.S. Postal Service periodical permit, be of general and paid circulation

within the relevant jurisdiction, include news content, and have been

established and regularly and uninterruptedly published for one to five years

immediately preceding the first publication of a public notice. Some

jurisdictions also require that a public notice business be adjudicated by a

governmental body. We are qualified to carry public notices in 14 of the 21

markets in which we publish business journals or court and

11
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commercial newspapers. Our court and commercial newspapers publish 359

different types of public notices, including foreclosure notices, probate

notices, notices of fictitious business names, limited liability company and

other entity notices, trustee sale notices, unclaimed property notices, notices

of governmental hearings, notices of elections, bond issuances, zoning

matters, bid solicitations and awards and governmental budgets. For the

years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, public notices accounted

for 15%, 18% and 22% of our total revenues and 52%, 54% and 46% of our

Business Information Division’s total revenues, respectively. We believe

that over 90% of our public notice customers in 2010 also published public

notices in 2009. Our primary public notice customers include real estate-

related businesses and trustees, governmental agencies, attorneys and

businesses or individuals filing fictitious business name statements.

Subscription-Based Revenues and Other.  We sell our business

information products primarily through subscriptions to our publications,

web sites and email notification systems, legislative databases, and

transcription services. We also provide commercial printing services and

sell database information through royalty or licensing fee arrangements. For

the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, our subscription-based

and other revenues accounted for 5%, 6% and 8%, respectively, of our total

revenues and 18%, 16% and 17% of our Business Information Division’s

total revenues, respectively. Subscription renewal rates for our business

information products were 81% in the aggregate in 2010, up from 74% in

2009. Our renewal rates reflect that our products are relied upon as sources

of necessary information by the business communities in the markets we

serve.

Seminars, Programs and Other Events.  We believe that one of our

strengths is our ability to develop, organize and produce professional

education seminars, awards programs and other local events to demonstrate

our commitment to our targeted business communities, extend our market

reach and introduce our services to potential customers. While we generally

charge admission and/or sponsorship fees for these seminars, awards

programs and other local events, these events also offer opportunities for
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cross-promotion and cross-selling of advertising with our local print

products that produce the event. Our sponsored events attracted

approximately 29,000 attendees and 600 paying sponsors in 2010. Revenues

from our events are included as part of our display and classified advertising

revenues.

Printing.  We print nine of our business information publications at one

of our three printing facilities located in Baltimore, Minneapolis and

Oklahoma City. The printing of our other print publications is outsourced to

printing facilities owned and operated by third parties. We purchase some of

our newsprint from U.S. producers directly, but most of our newsprint is

purchased indirectly through our third-party printers. Newsprint prices are

volatile and fluctuate based upon factors that include both foreign and

domestic production capacity and consumption. Newsprint, together with

outsourced printing costs, accounted for almost 9% of operating expenses

attributable to our Business Information Division in the year ended

December 31, 2010.

Investments

We have, at times, made strategic minority investments in private

companies. We have two equity method investments, the most significant of

which is The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC (“DLNP”), Michigan’s

largest court and commercial newspaper publisher. DLNP also publishes

several other court and commercial newspapers and operates a statewide

public notice placement network. We own a 35.0% membership interest in

DLNP. See “Recent Developments — New Investments” below for a

description of recent investments.

Competition

Professional Services Division — Mortgage Default Processing Services

Some mortgage loan lenders and servicers have in-house mortgage

default processing service departments, while others outsource this function
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to law firms that offer internal mortgage default processing services or have

relationships with third-party providers of mortgage default processing

services. We estimate that the outsourced mortgage default processing

services market primarily consists of the back-office operations of

approximately 350 local and regional law firms. Mortgage lending and

mortgage loan servicing firms demand high service levels from their

counsel and the providers of mortgage default processing services, with

their primary concerns being the efficiency and accuracy by which counsel

and the provider of processing services can complete the file and the

precision with which loss mitigation efforts are pursued. Accordingly,

mortgage default processing service firms

12
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compete on the basis of efficiency by which they can process files and the

quality of their mortgage default processing services. We believe that

increasing case volumes and rising client expectations provide us an

opportunity due to our ability to leverage our proprietary case management

systems to provide efficient and effective services on a timely basis.

Professional Services Division — Litigation Support Services

The market for litigation support services is highly fragmented and we

believe that it includes a large number of document review companies and

appellate service providers across the country as well as an unknown

number of law firms who provide these services directly for their clients.

We also believe that many United States companies that would benefit from

our litigation support services have in-house legal departments that provide

and manage a number of our services for the company. We compete with a

large number of service providers in this segment and believe that document

review and discovery management service providers (like DiscoverReady)

include consulting practices of a number of major accounting firms and

general management consulting firms. We believe that most appellate

service providers (like Counsel Press) are general printing service

companies that do not have the resources or experience to assist counsel

with large or complex appeals or to prepare electronic filings, including

hyperlinked digital briefs, that are being required by an increasing number

of appellate courts. This presents us with an opportunity to compete on the

basis of the quality and array of services we offer, as opposed to the price of

such services. We believe that, in addition to price pressure, the other

principal competitive factors in this segment are our ability to attract and

retain qualified professionals, our relationships with customers, our

reputation and the ability to provide high quality services while still

managing engagements effectively.

Business Information Division

Our Business Information Division’s customers focus on the quantity and
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quality of necessary information, the quantity and type of advertising,

timely delivery and, to a lesser extent, price. We benefit from

well-established customer relationships in each of the target markets we

serve. We have developed these strong customer relationships over an

extended period of time by providing timely, relevant and dependable

business information products that have created a solid foundation of

customer loyalty and a recognized brand in each market we serve.

Our segment of the media industry is characterized by high barriers to

entry, both economic and social. The local and regional communities we

serve generally can sustain only one publication as specialized as ours.

Moreover, the brand value associated with long-term reader and advertiser

loyalty, and the high start-up costs associated with developing and

distributing content and selling advertisements, help to limit competition.

Subscription renewal rates for local business journals and court and

commercial periodicals are generally high. Accordingly, it is often difficult

for a new business information provider to enter a market and establish a

significant subscriber base for its content.

We compete for display and classified advertising and circulation with at

least one metropolitan daily newspaper and one local business journal in

many of the markets we serve. Generally, we compete for these forms of

advertising on the basis of how efficiently we can reach an advertiser’s

target audience and the quality and tailored nature of our proprietary

content. We compete for public notices with usually one metropolitan daily

newspaper in the 14 markets in which we are qualified to publish public

notices. We compete for public notices based on our expertise, focus,

customer service and competitive pricing.

Our new legislative and political information businesses, DataStream and

Federal News, are based chiefly on a subscription model, and by providing

highly targeted or uniquely customized information, both have developed

long-term and close customer relationships. DataStream’s management and

conversion of data for government clients, including the U.S. House of

Representatives and the Library of Congress, has allowed DataStream to

develop proprietary systems for efficiently capturing and enhancing
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complex feeds of government data which, in turn, are relied upon by the

leading business and legislative information service providers and

aggregators in Washington D.C. We believe these relationships with both

government information sources and the distributors of government

information create a high barrier to entry, with our main competitors being

large information and data service providers. Federal News, which similarly

provides transcription services to information aggregators in

13
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addition to news media, government relations professionals, government

agencies and foreign embassies, does face direct competition from a unit of

a Washington D.C.-based legislative and political information service.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trademark, copyright and trade secret laws,

as well as license agreements and confidentiality agreements and practices,

to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights. We currently own

one patent and have recently filed additional patent applications seeking to

protect certain of our newest innovations.

We own a number of registered and unregistered trademarks for use in

connection with our business, including trademarks in the mastheads of all

but one of our print products, and trade names, including NDeX, Counsel

Press and DiscoverReady. If trademarks remain in continuous use in

connection with similar goods or services, their term can be perpetual,

subject, with respect to registered trademarks, to the timely renewal of their

registrations with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. We have a

perpetual, royalty-free license for New Orleans CityBusiness, which, except

for our military newspapers, is the only one of our print titles for which we

do not own a registered or unregistered trademark.

We approach copyright ownership with respect to our publications in the

same manner as is customary in the publishing industry. Consequently, we

own the copyright in all of our newspapers, journals and newsletters, as

compilations, and also own the copyright in almost all of our other print

products. With respect to the specific articles in our publications, with the

exception of certain of our military newspapers, we own all rights, title and

interest in original materials created by our full-time journalists, designers,

photographers and editors. For outside contributors, we generally obtain

either all rights, title and interest in the work or the exclusive “first-time

publication” and non-exclusive republication rights with respect to

publication in our print and electronic business information products.
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We license the content of certain of our products to several third-party

information aggregators on a non-exclusive basis for republication and

dissemination on electronic databases marketed by the licensees. These

licenses all had an original term of two years or more and remain subject to

renewal. We also license Dolan Media Newswires to various third-party

publications.

We have copyright and trade secret rights in our proprietary case

management software systems, document conversion system and other

software products and information systems. In addition, we have extensive

subscriber and other customer databases that we believe would be extremely

difficult to replicate. We attempt to protect our software, systems and

databases as trade secrets by restricting access to them and by using

confidentiality agreements. We currently have one patent and one pending

patent application on an NDeX-related bankruptcy claim tracking system,

and we have four patent applications pending on recent DiscoverReady and

DataStream innovations.

Despite the various means we have taken to protect our intellectual and

proprietary rights, it is possible that others may obtain information we

regard as confidential or that others will independently develop similar

software, databases or customer lists. In addition to the proprietary rights we

have and the means we have taken to protect them, we believe our

continued success also depends on our name recognition, product

enhancements and new product developments, and the knowledge, skill and

expertise of our personnel.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we employed 2,034 persons, of whom 1,212

were employed by NDeX in our mortgage default processing services

segment, 157 were employed in our litigation support services segment, 614

were employed in our Business Information Division (which is also a

segment) and 51 of whom served in executive or administrative capacities.

Three unions represent an aggregate of 15 employees, or approximately 7%
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and 21% of our employees, at our Minneapolis and Baltimore printing

facilities in our Business Information Division, respectively. We believe we

have a good relationship with our employees.

14
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Other Information about The Dolan Company

You may learn more about us from our web site at

www.thedolancompany.com. However, the information and other material

available on our web site is not part of this annual report. We file with the

SEC, and make available on our web site as soon as reasonably practicable

after filing, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on

Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments of those reports

filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

Please see Note 16 of our audited consolidated financial statements later in

this report for information about financial information related to our

segments for the last three fiscal years.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should

carefully consider the following risks as well as the other information

contained in this annual report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated

financial statements and the notes to those statements, before investing in

shares of our common stock. As indicated earlier in this annual report on

Form 10-K under the title “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward Looking

Statements,” certain information contained in this annual report are

forward-looking statements. If any of the following events actually occur or

risks actually materialize, our business, financial condition, results of

operations or cash flow could be materially adversely affected and could

cause our actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking

statements in this annual report on Form 10-K. In that event, the trading

price of our common stock could decline and you may lose all or part of

your investment.

Risks Relating to Our Business in General

We may have difficulty managing our growth, which may result in

operating inefficiencies and negatively impact our operating margins.
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Our growth may place a significant strain on our management and

operations, especially as we continue to expand our product and service

offerings, the number of markets we serve and the number of local offices

we maintain throughout the United States, including through acquiring new

businesses. We may not be able to manage our growth on a timely or cost

effective basis or accurately predict the timing or rate of this growth. We

believe that our current and anticipated growth will require us to continue

implementing new and enhanced systems, expanding and upgrading our

data processing software and training our personnel to utilize these systems

and software. Our growth has also required, and will continue to require,

that we increase our investment in management personnel, financial and

management systems and controls and office facilities. In particular, we are,

and will continue to be, highly dependent on the effective and reliable

operation of our centralized accounting, circulation and information

systems. In addition, the scope of procedures for assuring compliance with

applicable rules and regulations has changed as the size and complexity of

our business has changed. If we fail to manage these and other growth

requirements successfully or if we are unable to implement or maintain our

centralized systems, or rely on their output, we may experience operating

inefficiencies or not achieve anticipated efficiencies. In addition, the

increased costs associated with our expected growth may not be offset by

corresponding increases in our revenues, which would decrease our

operating margins.

We intend to continue to pursue acquisition opportunities, which we may

not do successfully and may subject us to considerable business and

financial risks.

We have grown, and anticipate that we will continue to grow, through

opportunistic acquisitions of professional services and business information

businesses. While we evaluate potential acquisitions on an ongoing basis,

we may not be successful in assessing the value, strengths and weaknesses

of acquisition opportunities or consummating acquisitions on acceptable

terms. For example, to the extent that market studies performed by third

parties are not accurate indicators of market and business trends, we may
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not appropriately evaluate or realize the future market growth or business

opportunities in targeted geographic areas and business lines that we expect

from an acquisition. Furthermore, we may not be successful in identifying

acquisition opportunities and suitable acquisition opportunities may not

even be made available or known to us. In addition, we may compete for

certain acquisition targets with companies that have greater financial

resources than we do. Our ability to pursue acquisition opportunities may

also be limited by non-competition provisions to which we are subject. For

example,
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our ability to carry public notices in Michigan and to provide mortgage

default processing services in Florida, Indiana and Minnesota is limited by

contractual non-competition provisions. We anticipate financing future

acquisitions through cash provided by operating activities, borrowings

under our bank credit facility and/or other debt or equity financing,

including takedowns on our $200 million shelf registration statement, which

the SEC declared effective on January 27, 2010. All of these could reduce

our cash available for other purposes or, in the case of a common stock or

other equity offering under our shelf registration statement, substantially

dilute your investment in us. For example, we were required to incur

additional indebtedness to close the acquisitions of Barrett-NDEx and

DiscoverReady and this additional debt consumed a significant portion of

our ability to borrow and may limit our ability to pursue other acquisitions

or growth strategies.

We may incur significant expenses while pursuing acquisitions, which

could negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations. In

2010, we expensed an aggregate of approximately $0.4 million of

acquisition costs.

Acquisitions that we complete may expose us to particular business and

financial risks that include, but are not limited to:

• diverting management’s time, attention and resources from managing

our business;

• incurring additional indebtedness and assuming liabilities;

• incurring significant additional capital expenditures and operating

expenses to improve, coordinate or integrate managerial, operational,

financial and administrative systems;

• experiencing an adverse impact on our earnings from non-recurring

acquisition-related charges or the write-off or amortization of acquired

goodwill and other intangible assets;

• failing to integrate the operations and personnel of the acquired

businesses;
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• facing operational difficulties in new markets or with new product or

service offerings; and

• failing to retain key personnel and customers of the acquired

businesses, including subscribers and advertisers for acquired

publications, clients of the law firm customers served by acquired

mortgage default processing and other customers served by acquired

mortgage default processing and litigation support services businesses.

We may not be able to successfully manage acquired businesses or

increase our cash flow from these operations. If we are unable to

successfully implement our acquisition strategy or address the risks

associated with acquisitions, or if we encounter unforeseen expenses,

difficulties, complications or delays frequently encountered in connection

with the integration of acquired entities and the expansion of operations, our

growth and ability to compete may be impaired, we may fail to achieve

acquisition synergies and we may be required to focus resources on

integration of operations rather than other profitable areas.

We depend on key personnel and we may not be able to operate and grow

our business effectively if we lose the services of any of our key personnel

or are unable to attract qualified personnel in the future.

We rely heavily on our senior management team, including James P.

Dolan, our founder, chairman, chief executive officer and president; Scott J.

Pollei, our executive vice president and chief operating officer; David A.

Trott, chairman and chief executive officer of NDeX; Mark W.C. Stodder,

our executive vice president-Business Information; and Vicki J. Duncomb,

our vice president and chief financial officer, because they have a unique

understanding of our diverse product and service offerings and the ability to

manage an organization that has a diverse group of employees. Our ability

to retain Messrs. Dolan, Pollei, Trott and Stodder and Ms. Duncomb and

other key personnel is therefore very important to our future success. In

addition, we rely on our senior management, especially Mr. Dolan, to

identify growth opportunities through the development or acquisition of

additional publications and professional services opportunities, such as our
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acquisition of DiscoverReady in November 2009 and Barrett-NDEx in

September 2008.

We have employment agreements with Messrs. Dolan, Pollei, Trott and

Stodder and Ms. Duncomb. These employment agreements, however, do not

ensure that Messrs. Dolan, Pollei, Trott and Stodder and Ms. Duncomb
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will not voluntarily terminate their employment with us. Further, we do not

typically enter into employment agreements with other key personnel. In

addition, our key personnel are subject to non-competition restrictions,

which generally restrict such employees from working for competing

businesses for a period of one year after the end of their employment with

us. These non-compete provisions, however may not be enforceable. We

also do not have key man insurance for any of our current management or

other key personnel. The loss of any key personnel would require the

remaining key personnel to divert immediate and substantial attention to

seeking a replacement. Competition for senior management personnel is

intense. An inability to find a suitable replacement for any departing

executive officer or key employee on a timely basis could adversely affect

our ability to operate and grow our business.

We are subject to risks relating to litigation due to the nature of our

product and service offerings.

We may, from time to time, be subject to or named as a party in libel

actions, negligence claims, contract claims and other legal proceedings in

the ordinary course of our business given the editorial content of our

business information products and the technical rules with which our

litigation support services and mortgage default processing businesses must

comply and the strict deadlines these businesses must meet. We could incur

significant legal expenses and our management’s attention may be diverted

from our operations in defending ourselves against and resolving lawsuits or

claims. An adverse resolution of any future lawsuits or claims against us

could result in a negative perception of us and cause the market price of our

common stock to decline or otherwise have an adverse effect on our

operating results and growth prospects.

We rely on exclusive proprietary rights and intellectual property that may

not be adequately protected under current laws, and we encounter

disputes from time to time relating to our use of intellectual property of

third parties.
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Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our proprietary

rights. We rely on a combination of copyrights, trademarks, service marks,

trade secrets, patents, domain names and agreements to protect our

proprietary rights. We rely on service mark and trademark protection in the

United States to protect our rights to our key marks and distinctive logos.

These measures may not be adequate, we may not have secured, or may not

be able to secure, appropriate protections for all of our proprietary rights in

the United States, or third parties may infringe upon or violate our

proprietary rights. Despite our efforts to protect these rights, unauthorized

third parties may attempt to use our trademarks, confidential information,

inventions and other proprietary rights for their similar uses. Our

management’s attention may be diverted by these attempts and we may need

to use funds in litigation to protect our proprietary rights against any

infringement or violation.

We may encounter disputes from time to time over rights and obligations

concerning intellectual property, and we may not prevail in these disputes.

Third parties may raise a claim against us alleging an infringement or

violation of the trademarks, copyright or other proprietary rights of that

third party. Some third party proprietary rights may be extremely broad, and

it may not be possible for us to conduct our operations in such a way as to

avoid those intellectual property rights. Any such claim could subject us to

costly litigation and impose a significant strain on our financial resources

and management personnel regardless of whether such claim has merit. Our

general liability insurance may not cover potential claims of this type

adequately or at all, and we may be required to alter the content of our

classes or pay monetary damages, which may be significant.

We rely on our proprietary case management software systems, document

conversion and review systems, web sites and online networks, and a

disruption, failure or security compromise of these systems may disrupt

our business, damage our reputation and adversely affect our revenues

and profitability.

Our proprietary case management software systems are critical to our
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mortgage default processing service business because they enable us to

efficiently and timely service a large number of foreclosure, bankruptcy,

eviction and, to a lesser extent, litigation and other mortgage default related

case files. Our litigation support services businesses rely upon our

proprietary document conversion and review systems that facilitate our

efficient processing of appellate briefs, records and appendices and

document reviews. Similarly, we rely on our web sites and email

notification systems to provide timely, relevant and dependable business

information to our customers.
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Therefore, network or system shutdowns caused by events such as

computer hacking, dissemination of computer viruses, worms and other

destructive or disruptive software, denial of service attacks and other

malicious activity, as well as power outages, natural disasters and similar

events, could have an adverse impact on our operations, customer

satisfaction and revenues due to degradation of service, service disruption or

damage to equipment and data.

In addition to shutdowns, our systems are subject to risks caused by

misappropriation, misuse, leakage, falsification and accidental release or

loss of information, including sensitive case file data maintained in our

proprietary case management systems and credit card information for our

business information customers. As a result of the increasing awareness

concerning the importance of safeguarding personal information, the

potential misuse of such information and legislation that has been adopted

or is being considered regarding the protection and security of personal

information, information-related risks are increasing, particularly for

businesses like ours that handle a large amount of personal data.

Disruptions or security compromises of our systems could result in large

expenditures to repair or replace such systems, remedy any security

breaches and protect us from similar events in the future. We also could be

exposed to negligence claims or other legal proceedings brought by our

customers or their clients, and we could incur significant legal expenses and

our management’s attention may be diverted from our operations in

defending ourselves against and resolving lawsuits or claims. In addition, if

we were to suffer damage to our reputation as a result of any system failure

or security compromise, NDeX’s customers and/or their clients could

choose to send fewer foreclosure, bankruptcy or eviction case files to us

and/or our law firm customers. Any reduction in the number of case files

handled by our customers would also reduce the number of mortgage

default case files handled by us. Similarly, our litigation support services

clients may elect to use other service providers. In addition, customers of

our Business Information Division may seek out alternative sources of the

business information available on our web sites and email notification
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systems. Further, in the event that any disruption or security compromise

constituted a material breach under our services agreements, our law firm

customers could terminate these agreements. In any of these cases, our

revenues and profitability could be adversely affected.

We may be required to incur additional indebtedness or raise additional

capital to fund our operations and acquisitions, repay our indebtedness

and fund capital expenditures and this additional cash may not be

available to us on satisfactory timing or terms or at all.

Our ability to generate cash depends to some extent on general

economic, financial, legislative and regulatory conditions in the markets

which we serve and as they relate to the industries in which we do business

and other factors outside of our control. We derive a significant portion of

our revenues from foreclosures (approximately 63% of our total revenues in

2010). Therefore, legislation, loss mitigation, moratoria, loan modifications

and other efforts that significantly mitigate and/or delay foreclosures may

adversely impact our ability to use cash flow from operations to fund

day-to-day operations in our mortgage default processing services segment

and Professional Services Division, and, to a lesser extent, our Business

Information Division, to repay our indebtedness, when due, to fund capital

expenditures, to meet our cash flow needs and to pursue any material

expansion of our business, including through acquisitions or increased

capital spending. We may, therefore, need to incur additional indebtedness

or raise funds from the sale of additional equity. Financing, however, may

not be available to us at all, at an acceptable cost or on acceptable terms,

when needed. Our existing bank credit facility may also limit our ability to

raise additional funds through debt or equity financing. In addition, if we

issue a significant amount of additional equity securities, the market price of

our common stock could decline and our stockholders could suffer

significant dilution of their interests in us.

If our indefinite-lived intangible assets (including goodwill) or finite-life

intangible assets become impaired, we may be required to record a

significant charge to earnings.

(/)



(.navbar-

collapse)



Dolan Co. - FORM 10-K - March 11, 2011 http://www.getfilings.com/sec-filings/110311/Dol...

56 of 335 05/08/2018 07:08 PM



In the course of our operating history, we have acquired numerous assets

and businesses. Some of our acquisitions have resulted in the recording of a

significant amount of indefinite-lived and finite-life intangible assets on our

financial statements. At December 31, 2010, our indefinite-lived intangible

assets (including goodwill) were $225.4 million, in the aggregate, and our

finite-life intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, were
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$196.0 million. If we acquire new assets or businesses in the future, as we

intend to do, we may record additional goodwill or other intangible assets.

We assess our goodwill for impairment on an annual basis using a

measurement date of November 30 and, based on this assessment, we have

determined that our goodwill is not impaired. See “Item 7: Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations — Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates — Intangible

Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets” later in this report for information for

our annual test of goodwill impairment. Accounting standards require that

we also assess the impairment of our goodwill and identifiable intangible

assets whenever events, circumstances or other conditions indicate that we

may not recover the carrying value of the asset. This may require us to

conduct an interim assessment of our goodwill and finite-life intangible

assets. As a result of this interim assessment, we may record a significant

charge to earnings in our financial statements during the period in which

any impairment of our goodwill or identifiable intangible assets is

determined. This charge, if taken, could adversely affect our business,

financial position, results of operations, and future earnings and, as a result,

could cause our stock price to decline.

Our failure to comply with the covenants contained on our debt

instruments could result in an event of default that could adversely affect

our financial condition and ability to operate our business as planned.

We have, and will continue to have, significant debt and debt service

obligations. Our credit agreement contains, and any agreements to refinance

our debt likely will contain, financial and restrictive covenants that limit our

ability to incur additional debt, including to finance future operations or

other capital needs, and to engage in other activities that we may believe are

in our long-term best interests, including to dispose of or acquire assets. Our

failure to comply with these covenants may result in an event of default,

which if not cured or waived, could result in the banks accelerating the

maturity of our indebtedness or preventing us from accessing availability

under our credit facility. If the maturity of our indebtedness is accelerated,
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we may not have sufficient cash resources to satisfy our debt obligations

and we may not be able to continue our operations as planned. In addition,

the indebtedness under our credit agreement is secured by a security interest

in substantially all of our tangible and intangible assets, including the equity

interests of our subsidiaries, and therefore, if we are unable to repay such

indebtedness the banks could foreclose on these assets and sell the pledged

equity interests, which would adversely affect our ability to operate our

business.

The market price of our common stock has been, and may continue to be,

highly volatile. The market price of our common stock depends on a

variety of factors, which could cause our common stock to trade at prices

below the price you have paid.

Our common stock has traded on the New York Stock Exchange under

the symbol “DM” since August 2, 2007. Since that time, the closing sales

price of our common stock has ranged from a high of $30.84 to a low of

$2.97 per share. The market price of our common stock could continue to

fluctuate significantly in the future. Some of the factors that could affect our

share price include, but are not limited to:

• variations in our quarterly or annual operating results;

• changes in the legal or regulatory environment affecting our business;

• changes in our earnings estimates or expectations as to our future

financial performance, including financial estimates by securities

analysts and investors;

• the contents of published research reports about us or our industry or

the failure of securities analysts to cover our common stock;

• additions or departures of key management personnel;

• any increased indebtedness we may incur in the future;

• announcements by us or others and developments affecting us;

• actions by institutional stockholders;

• changes in market valuations of similar companies;
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• speculation or reports by the press or investment community with

respect to us or our industry in general;

• future offerings of debt or equity;

• future offerings of our common stock in the public market; and

• general economic, market and political conditions.

These factors could cause our common stock to trade at prices below the

price you paid for our common stock, which could prevent you from selling

your common stock at or above this price. In addition, the stock market in

general, and the New York Stock Exchange in particular, has from time to

time, experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have

affected the market prices of individual securities. These fluctuations often

have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of

publicly traded companies. In the past, following periods of volatility in the

market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class-action

litigation has often been brought against that company. If similar litigation

were instituted against us, it could result in substantial costs and divert

management’s attention and resources from our operations.

Anti-takeover provisions in our amended and restated certificate of

incorporation, amended and restated by-laws and stockholder rights plan

may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that you may

consider favorable or prevent the removal of our current board of

directors and management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and

restated bylaws and stockholder rights plan could delay, defer or prevent a

third party from acquiring us, despite the possible benefit to our

stockholders, or otherwise adversely affect the price of our common stock

and your rights as a holder of our common stock. For example, our amended

and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws

(1) permit our board of directors to issue one or more series of preferred

stock with rights and preferences designated by our board, (2) stagger the
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terms of our board of directors into three classes and (3) impose advance

notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations of directors

to be considered at stockholders’ meetings. In addition, our stockholder

rights plan, which our board adopted on January 29, 2009, and which was

amended on May 26, 2010, entitles the holders of rights, when exercisable,

to acquire, in exchange for the exercise price of each right, shares of our

common stock, having a value equal to two times the exercise price of each

right. These provisions may discourage potential takeover attempts,

discourage bids for our common stock at a premium over market price or

adversely affect the market price of, and the voting and other rights of the

holders of, our common stock. These provisions could also discourage

proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to

elect directors other than the candidates nominated by our board. We are

also subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law,

which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a

broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for

a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became

an “interested” stockholder and which may discourage, delay or prevent a

change of control of our company. In addition, our bank credit facility

contains provisions that could limit our ability to enter into change of

control transactions.

Risks Relating to Our Professional Services Division

If the number of case files referred to us by our mortgage default

processing service law firm customers, or loan servicers and mortgage

lenders we serve directly for mortgage default files in California and

Nevada, decreases or fails to increase, our operating results and ability to

execute our growth strategy could be adversely affected.

NDeX has eight law firm customers and also provides mortgage default

professing services directly to lenders and loan servicers for residential real

estate located in California and Nevada. Revenues from NDeX constituted

74% and 88% of our Professional Services Division’s revenues in 2010 and

2009, respectively, and 53% and 58% of our total revenues in 2010 and

2009, respectively. We are paid different fixed fees for each foreclosure,
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bankruptcy, eviction, litigation, and other mortgage default related case file

referred by these eight law firms to us for processing services. Therefore,

the success of NDeX and our mortgage default processing services segment

is tied to the number of these case files that each of our law firm customers

receives from their mortgage lending and mortgage loan servicing firm

clients and the number of California and Nevada foreclosure files we

receive directly from our
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mortgage lender and loan servicer customers. In 2010, our largest law firm

customer was the Barrett Law Firm, who represented 44% of our mortgage

default processing services revenues. Trott & Trott was our second largest

law firm customer in 2010 and accounted for 26% of these revenues. Also,

in 2010, the top ten clients for all of our law firm customers, on an

aggregated basis, accounted for 67% of the case files our law firm

customers directed to us for mortgage default processing services.

Our operating results and ability to execute our growth strategy could be

adversely affected if (1) any of our law firm customers lose business from

these clients; (2) these clients are affected by changes in the market and

industry, or other factors that cause them to be unable to pay for the services

of our law firm customer or reduce the volume of files referred to our law

firm customers and which they direct us to process; or (3) our law firm

customers are unable to attract additional business from current or new

clients for any reason, including any of the following: the provision of poor

legal services, the loss of key attorneys (such as David A. Trott, who has

developed and maintains a substantial amount of Trott & Trott’s client

relationships), the desire of the law firm’s clients to allocate files among

several law firms or a decrease in the number of residential mortgage

foreclosures in the eight states where we do business, including due to

market factors or governmental action. A failure by one or more of our law

firm customers to pay us as a result of these factors could materially reduce

the cash flow of NDeX and result in losses in our mortgage default

processing services segment. Further, to the extent that Trott & Trott’s or the

Barrett Law Firm’s clients direct either of them to use another provider of

mortgage default processing services or those clients conduct such services

in-house, the number of files we process would be adversely affected. We

could also lose any law firm customer if we materially breach our services

agreements with such customer.

Bills introduced and laws enacted to mitigate foreclosures, voluntary relief

programs and voluntary halts or moratoria by servicers or lenders, as well

as governmental investigations, litigation and court orders, may have an

adverse affect, and at times have had an adverse effect, on our mortgage
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default processing services and public notice operations.

The increasing number of mortgage defaults, foreclosures and evictions

have resulted, and may continue to result in new or increased government

regulation (either legislatively or through courts) of residential mortgage

products or the foreclosure of delinquent loans. If new or more stringent

regulations are enacted, our customers and/or their clients would likely be

subject to these regulations. As a result, these new or more stringent

regulations may adversely impact the number of mortgage default files that

our law firm customers receive from their clients and can then direct us to

process or that we receive for processing from our California and Nevada

mortgage lender and loan servicer customers.

Federal, state and local governmental entities and leaders have

increasingly focused attention on foreclosures and have proposed, and in

some cases, enacted legislation or taken other action that may have, and

some of which has had, an adverse impact on the number of mortgage

default case files NDeX is asked to process, the length of time it takes to

process such files, the time over which we recognize revenue associated

with the processing of those files, and the number of foreclosure public

notices placed in our Business Information products and DLNP (our

minority investment) for publication. This legislation includes the Hope for

Homeowners Act of 2008, the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act, the

Streamlined Modification Program, and the Homeowner Affordability and

Stability Plan (including the Making Home Affordable Program, the Home

Affordable Modification Program (HAMP), and the Home Affordable

Foreclosure Alternatives Program (HAFA)), the Protecting Tenants at

Foreclosure Act, and laws passed to mitigate foreclosures in California,

Maryland, Michigan, Indiana, and Florida. There also have been voluntary

foreclosure relief programs developed by lenders, loan servicers and the

Hope New Alliance (a consortium that includes loan servicers).

The past year included additional legislation aimed at mitigating

foreclosures, additional scrutiny on mortgage foreclosures, and voluntary

stoppages of foreclosures by servicers and lenders. Mortgage foreclosures

received additional scrutiny due to widespread national media coverage of
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reported procedural and documentation error and lapses by other parties in

the industry. The state attorneys general coordinated to review the

foreclosure process. Certain servicers reacted to the attention being paid to

the foreclosure process by various other government officials and

constituencies with self-imposed foreclosure sale and eviction moratoria in

the fall of 2010 while these servicers verified their internal policies and

procedures. Certain servicers also reacted to this environment of increased

scrutiny in 2010 by requesting additional information and process

verification from law firms and vendors
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to which they refer their mortgage foreclosures. In fall 2010, numerous

servicers halted foreclosures in the 23 judicial states, which affected us in

Indiana and Florida.

In February 2011, the Department of the Treasury submitted a report to

Congress entitled “Reforming America’s Housing Finance Market” which

included a plan to responsibly reduce the role of the Federal National

Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage

Corporation (Freddie Mac) in the mortgage market and expressed a goal of

ultimately winding down both institutions. Many of the files we process are

supported by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. As a result, any change to these

institutions, or broader changes to the mortgage market as a whole, may

adversely impact the number of mortgage default files received by our law

firm customers from their clients (and therefore the number directed they

direct to us to process) and received by us for processing in California and

Nevada by our mortgage lender and loan servicer customers.

These and other laws, proposed legislation, investigations, directives,

voluntary programs, actions, plans, and court orders, have delayed, and may

delay or reduce in the future, the referral of files to our law firm customers,

or in the case of foreclosures on properties located in California and

Nevada, the referral of files directly to us for processing. In addition, they

may continue to increase the processing time for the foreclosure files

between the referral to the attorney or trustee and the foreclosure sale. In

some instances they may continue to increase the time over which we

recognize revenue associated with the processing of such files and may

reduce margins.

Similarly, new or more stringent regulations and court orders could

adversely affect when public notices are sent to our business information

products or Detroit Legal Publishing News (our minority investment) for

publication. If this legislation or any other bills being considered, or court

orders or programs are successful in reducing the number of mortgages

going into default, then the number of foreclosure public notices referred to

us or DLNP for publication will also be reduced. If any of these occur, it
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could have a negative impact on our earnings and growth.

David A. Trott, the chairman and chief executive officer of NDeX, James

Frappier, a senior vice president of NDeX, and certain other employees of

NDeX, who are also shareholders and principal attorneys of our law firm

customers, may under certain circumstances have interests that differ

from or conflict with our interests.

NDeX’s chairman and chief executive officer, David A. Trott, along with

James Frappier, a senior vice president of NDeX, and other executive vice

presidents and senior executives in NDeX’s operations, are the principal

attorneys and shareholders of NDeX’s eight law firm customers. In addition,

certain members of the senior management at Barrett-NDEx own an interest

in NDeX and have the right to require that we redeem their interest

beginning in September 2012 (See “Item 7: Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —

Noncontrolling Interest” later in this report). As a result of these

relationships with NDeX and our law firm customers, Mr. Trott and these

individuals may experience conflicts of interest in the execution of their

duties on behalf of us. These conflicts may not be resolved in a manner

favorable to us. For example, they may be precluded by their ethical

obligations as attorneys or may otherwise be reluctant to take actions on

behalf of us that are in our best interests, but are not or may not be in the

best interests of their law firms or their clients. Further, as licensed

attorneys, they may be obligated to take actions on behalf of their law firms

or their respective clients that are not in our best interests. In addition,

Mr. Trott has other direct and indirect relationships with The Detroit Legal

News Publishing, LLC and other vendors NDeX uses that could cause

similar conflicts. See “Related Party Transactions and Policies — David A.

Trott” in our proxy statement and Note 15 to our consolidated financial

statements for a description of these relationships.

We have owned and operated DiscoverReady for a very short period of

time and we are highly dependent on the skills and knowledge of the

individuals serving as chief executive officer and president of

DiscoverReady as none of our executive officers have managed or
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operated a discovery management and document review services company

prior to this acquisition.

We acquired an 85.0% equity interest in DiscoverReady on November 2,

2009, and currently own 85.3% of these interests. DR Holdco LLC owns the

remaining 14.7% membership interest in DiscoverReady. DR Holdco is a

limited liability company owned by James K. Wagner, Jr. and Steven R.

Harber, DiscoverReady’s chief executive
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officer and president, respectively, along with other DiscoverReady

employees, DiscoverReady provides outsourced discovery management and

document review services to major United States and global companies and

their law firms. Prior to our acquisition of this business, our executive

officers have not managed or operated a discovery management and

document review business. Thus, we rely heavily on the management skills

and experiences of Messrs. Wagner and Harber, who have co-founded and

built DiscoverReady and have a deep understanding of the discovery

management and document review business. If our executive officers cannot

effectively manage and operate this business, the operating results and

prospects for DiscoverReady, our litigation support services segment and

our Professional Services Division may be adversely affected and we may

not be able to execute our growth strategy with respect to DiscoverReady.

We have employment agreements with Messrs. Wagner and Harber;

however, these employment agreements do not ensure that either of them

will not voluntarily terminate their employment with us. We also do not

have key man insurance for either of Messrs. Wagner or Harber. The loss of

either Messr. Wagner or Harber could require our executive officers to

divert immediate attention to seeking a replacement and operating a

business in which our executive officers have no prior experience. Our

inability to find a suitable replacement for either of Messrs. Wagner or

Harber on a timely basis could adversely affect our ability to operate and

grow DiscoverReady.

DiscoverReady’s business revenues are very concentrated among a few

customers and if these customers choose to manage their discovery with

their own staff or with another provider and if we are unable to develop

new customer relationships, our operating results and the ability to

execute our growth strategy at DiscoverReady may be adversely affected.

DiscoverReady generates revenue through fee-based arrangements for

outsourced discovery management and document review services with

major United States and global companies and their counsel.

DiscoverReady’s top two customers (both in the financial services industry)
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accounted for 78%, in the aggregate, of its total revenues for 2010. In

particular, one of these customers accounted for 65% of its 2010 revenues

and 40% of its 2009 revenues. As a result, the success of DiscoverReady is

tied to our relationships with these key customers as well as our ability to

develop new customer relationships. Our operating results and ability to

execute our growth strategy for DiscoverReady could be adversely affected

if (1) we lose business from either of these customers; (2) these customers

are affected by changes in the market and industry or other factors that

cause them to be unable to pay for our services; or (3) we are unable to

attract additional business from current or new customers for any reason,

including any of the following: poor service, the loss of key employees,

such as James K. Wagner, Jr. and Steven R. Harber, or the decision of our

customers to perform document review services with their own staff or to

with another provider. If any of these were to occur, it could reduce the cash

flow of DiscoverReady and adversely affect the results of operations of this

business.

Regulation of the legal profession may constrain the operations of the

businesses in our Professional Services division, and numerous related

issues could impair our ability to provide professional services to our

customers and reduce our revenues and profitability.

Each state has adopted laws, regulations and codes of ethics that provide

for the licensure of attorneys, which grants attorneys the exclusive right to

practice law and places restrictions upon the activities of licensed attorneys.

The boundaries of the “practice of law,” however, are indistinct, vary from

one state to another and are the product of complex interactions among state

law, bar associations and constitutional law formulated by the U.S. Supreme

Court. Many states define the practice of law to include the giving of advice

and opinions regarding another person’s legal rights, the preparation of legal

documents or the preparation of court documents for another person. In

addition, all states and the American Bar Association prohibit attorneys

from sharing fees for legal services with non-attorneys.

Pursuant to services agreements between NDeX and its law firm

customers, we provide mortgage default processing services to law firms
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and directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers on California

foreclosure files. Through DiscoverReady, we provide outsourced discovery

management and document review services. Through Counsel Press, we

provide procedural and technical knowledge to law firms and attorneys to

assist them in filing
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appellate briefs, records and appendices on behalf of their clients that

comply with court rules. Current laws, regulations and codes of ethics

related to the practice of law pose the following principal risks:

• State or local bar associations, state or local prosecutors or other

persons may challenge the services provided by NDeX, Counsel Press

or DiscoverReady as constituting the unauthorized practice of law. Any

such challenge could have a disruptive effect upon the operations of our

business, including the diversion of significant time and attention of our

senior management. We may also incur significant expenses in

connection with such a challenge, including substantial fees for

attorneys and other professional advisors. If a challenge to any of these

businesses were successful, we may need to materially modify our

professional services operations in a manner that could adversely affect

that division’s revenues and profitability and we could be subject to a

range of penalties that could damage our reputation in the legal markets

we serve. In addition, any similar challenge to the operations of

NDeX’s law firm customers could adversely impact their mortgage

default business, which would in turn adversely affect our mortgage

default processing segment and Professional Service Division’s

revenues and profitability;

• The services agreements to which NDeX is a party could be deemed to

be unenforceable if a court were to determine that such agreements

constituted an impermissible fee sharing arrangement between the law

firm and NDeX; and

• Applicable laws, regulations and codes of ethics, including their

interpretation and enforcement, could change in a manner that restricts

NDeX’s, Counsel Press’ or DiscoverReady’s operations. Any such

change in laws, policies or practices could increase our cost of doing

business or adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

Failure to effectively customize either of our proprietary case

management software systems so that they can be used to serve law firm

customers in new states could adversely affect our mortgage default
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processing service business and growth prospects.

We have two proprietary case management software systems, each of

which stores, manages and reports on the large amount of data associated

with each foreclosure, bankruptcy or eviction case file we process. One

system was initially built for use in Michigan and the other for use in Texas,

both of which are primarily non-judicial foreclosure states. Other states, like

Indiana, are judicial foreclosures states. As a result, our law firm customers

must satisfy different requirements depending on the state in which they

serve their clients. When we enter a service agreement with a law firm

customer in a state where we do not currently do business, we need to

customize one of our proprietary case management software systems so that

it can be used to assist that customer in satisfying the foreclosure

requirements of their state. If we are not, on a timely basis, able to

effectively customize one of our case management software systems to

serve our new law firm customers, we may not be able to realize the

operational efficiencies and increased capacity to handle files that we

anticipated when we entered the service agreements. At times, we base the

fees we agree to receive from these law firm customers for each case file

they direct us to process on the assumption that we would realize those

operational efficiencies. Therefore, the failure to effectively customize our

case management software system could impact our profitability under our

services agreement with new law firm customers in our mortgage default

processing services segment. In 2011, we intend to migrate our mortgage

default processing operations in Florida and at Barrett-NDEx to the

proprietary case management software system initially developed for use in

Michigan. To the extent that we are unable to effectively migrate those

operations, we may not be able to realize the operational efficiencies and

capacity to handle files that we experienced prior to the migration.

Risks Relating to Our Business Information Division

We depend on the economies and the demographics of our targeted sectors

in the local and regional markets that we serve, and changes in those

factors could have an adverse impact on our revenues, cash flows and

profitability.
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Our advertising revenues and, to a lesser extent, circulation revenues

depend upon a variety of factors specific to the legal, financial and real

estate sectors of the 21 markets our Business Information Division serves.

These factors include, among others, the size and demographic

characteristics of the population, including the number of
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companies and professionals in our targeted business sectors, and local

economic conditions affecting these sectors. For example, if the local

economy or targeted business sector in a market we serve experiences a

downturn, display and classified advertising, which constituted 30%, 30%

and 37% of our Business Information revenues in 2010, 2009 and 2008,

respectively, generally decreases for our business information products that

target such market or sector. This was the case in 2009, when our display

and classified advertising revenues decreased $6.1 million from 2008 and,

to a lesser extent in 2010, when these revenues decreased another

$1.0 million, due to a decrease in the number of ads placed in our

publications as customers tightened discretionary spending in response to

the local economic conditions in the markets we serve.

Further, if the local economy in a market we serve experiences growth,

public notices, which constituted 52%, 54% and 46% of our Business

Information revenues in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively, may decrease as

a result of fewer foreclosure proceedings requiring the posting of public

notices. Our Business Information Division’s revenues could be particularly

affected by economic or demographic changes in Maryland, Minnesota or

Missouri because revenues from our publications targeting each of these

markets accounted for more than 10% of this division’s revenues in 2010

and 2009. If the level of advertising in our business information products or

public notices in our court and commercial newspapers were to decrease,

our revenues, cash flows and profitability could be adversely affected.

A change in the laws governing public notice requirements, as well as new

or increased regulation of residential mortgage products, may delay,

reduce or eliminate the amount of public notices required to be published

in print, affect how newspapers are chosen for the publication of public

notices or adversely change the eligibility requirements for publishing

public notices, which could adversely affect our revenues, profitability and

growth opportunities.

In various states, legislatures have considered proposals that would

eliminate or reduce the number of public notices required by statute. In
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addition, some state legislatures have proposed that state and local

governments publish official government notices themselves online. The

impetus for the passage of such laws may increase as online alternatives to

print sources of information become more generally accepted. Some states

have also proposed, enacted or interpreted laws to alter the frequency with

which public notices are required to be published, reduce the amount of

information required to be disclosed in public notices or change the

requirements for publications to be eligible to publish public notices. In

addition, new or increased government regulation of residential mortgage

defaults may result in fewer or delayed foreclosures and, therefore, the

publication of fewer related public notices or a delay in the publication of

related public notices. Further, legislation changing the public notices

required to be published in print or that adversely change the eligibility

requirements for publishing public notices in states where we publish or

intend to publish court and commercial newspapers would adversely affect

our public notice revenues and could adversely affect our ability to

differentiate our business information products, which could have an

adverse impact on our revenues, profitability and growth opportunities.

Government regulations related to the Internet could increase our cost of

doing business, affect our ability to grow or may otherwise negatively

affect our business.

Governmental agencies and federal and state legislatures have adopted,

and may continue to adopt, new laws and regulatory practices in response to

the increasing use of the Internet and other online services. These new laws

may be related to issues such as online privacy, copyrights, trademarks and

service mark, sales taxes, fair business practices, domain name ownership

and the requirement that our operating units register to do business as

foreign entities or otherwise be licensed to do business in jurisdictions

where they have no physical location or other presence. In addition, these

new laws, regulations or interpretations relating to doing business through

the Internet could increase our costs materially and adversely affect the

revenues and results of operations in our Business Information Division.

If we are unable to generate traffic to our online publications and other
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web sites and electronic services, our ability to continue to grow our

Business Information Division may be negatively affected.

We have devoted, and expect to devote, a significant amount of resources

to distributing the information we provide through the Internet, web sites,

electronic mail and other online services and the growth of our Business
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Information Division will increasingly depend upon our ability to

effectively use these methods to provide information to our customers. For

these methods to be successful, we will need to attract and retain frequent

visitors to our web sites or users of our other electronic services, develop

and expand the content, products and other tools that we offer on our web

sites and through other electronic services, attract advertisers to our web

sites and other electronic services and continue to develop and upgrade our

technologies. If we are not successful in our efforts, our Business

Information revenues and results of operations and our ability to grow this

division will be adversely affected.

Our business and reputation could suffer if third-party providers of

printing, delivery and outsourced technology services that we rely upon, as

well as newspapers where we place foreclosure public notices fail to

perform satisfactorily.

We outsource a significant amount of our printing to third-party printing

companies. As a result, we are unable to ensure directly that the final

printed product is of a quality acceptable to our subscribers. We also

outsource a significant amount of our technology and software systems

support to third-party information technology vendors. Further, we rely on

public notice newspapers in the markets where we process mortgage default

files, including Detroit Legal News Publishing, to timely and accurately

publish our foreclosure public notices. To the extent that any of these third

party providers do not perform their services satisfactorily, do not have the

resources to meet our needs or decide or are unable to provide these services

to us on commercially reasonable terms, our ability to provide timely and

dependable business information products, as well as our professional

services, could be adversely affected. In addition, we could face increased

costs or delays if we must identify and retain other third-party providers of

these services.

Most of our print publications are delivered to our subscribers by the

U.S. Postal Service. We have experienced, and may continue to experience,

delays in the delivery of our print publications by the U.S. Postal Service.
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To the extent we try to avoid these delays by using third-party carriers other

than the U.S. Postal Service to deliver our print products, we will incur

increased operating costs. In addition, the U.S. Postal Service is considering

eliminating Saturday delivery from its services. To the extent this change is

implemented, it may have an adverse affect on our Minnesota and Missouri

business information operations, which publish Saturday editions for certain

of their papers. In addition, timely delivery of our publications is extremely

important to many of our advertisers, public notice publishers and

subscribers. Any delays in delivery of our print publications to our

subscribers could negatively affect our reputation, cause us to lose

advertisers, public notice publishers and subscribers and limit our ability to

attract new advertisers, public notice publishers and subscribers.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

Our executive and corporate offices are located in Minneapolis, where

we sublease approximately 22,700 square feet under a sublease terminating

in February 2012, and lease approximately another 7,500 square feet under

a lease terminating in March 2014. We own our office facilities in Phoenix

and Baltimore, from which certain of our publishing units operate, and we

lease 28 other office facilities in 16 states for our business information

segment under leases that terminate on various dates between April 2011

and February 2019. We also own our print facility in Minneapolis and we

lease print facilities in Baltimore and Oklahoma City, under leases that

terminate in June 2014 and July 2015, respectively. NDeX (in our mortgage

default processing services segment) subleases an aggregate of

approximately 30,000 square feet in suburban Detroit from Trott & Trott,

PC, a law firm in which NDeX’s chairman and chief executive officer,

David A. Trott, owns a majority interest, at a rate of $10.50 per square foot,

triple net, which sublease expires on March 31, 2012. Trott & Trott leases

this space from NW13, LLC, a limited liability company in which Mr. Trott
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owns 75% of the membership interests. NDeX also leases or subleases

office space at seven other facilities under leases that terminate on various

dates between March 2012 and September 2027. Subsidiaries in our

litigation support services segment lease 13 offices under leases terminating

on various dates between April 2011 and June 2026. We consider our

properties suitable and adequate for the conduct
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of our business. We do not believe we will have difficulty renewing the

leases we currently have or finding alternative space in the event those

leases are not renewed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are from time to time involved in ordinary, routine claims and

litigation incidental to our normal course of business, none of which we

believe to be material to our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4. Reserved.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder

Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Dividends

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the

symbol “DM.” The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the

high and low per share closing sales prices of our common stock as reported

on the New York Stock Exchange.

Period High Low

Year ended December 31, 2010

First Quarter $12.08 $ 9.81

Second Quarter $13.30 $10.30

Third Quarter $12.33 $ 9.16

Fourth Quarter $14.80 $ 9.65

Year ended December 31, 2009

First Quarter $ 7.90 $ 4.07

Second Quarter $14.82 $ 8.10

Third Quarter $14.34 $10.19

Fourth Quarter $13.28 $10.00

On March 1, 2011, the closing price per share of our common stock was

$12.49. We urge potential investors to obtain current market quotations

before making any decision to invest in our common stock. On March 1,

2011, there were 1,656 holders of record of our common stock.

The holders of our common stock are entitled to receive ratably such

dividends as may be declared by our board of directors out of funds legally
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available for dividends. We have not historically declared or paid dividends

on our common stock and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash

dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. The payment of

any dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our board of directors

and will depend upon our financial condition, results of operations,

earnings, capital requirements and surplus, contractual restrictions

(including those in our credit agreement), outstanding indebtedness and

other factors our board deems relevant.

Performance Graph

The following graph shows a comparison from August 2, 2007 (the date

our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange) through

December 31, 2010, of cumulative stockholders total return for our common

stock, companies we deem to be in our industry peer group for both our

Business Information and Professional Services Divisions, the New York

Stock Exchange Market Index and the Russell 3000 Index. The companies

included in the industry peer group for the Business Information Division

consist of Daily Journal Corp (DJCO), Dun & Bradstreet Corporation

(DNB), IHS Inc. (IHS), Morningstar, Inc. (MORN), Reed Elsevier (ENL)

and Wolters Kluwer NV (WTKWY). The companies included in the

industry peer group for the Professional Services Division consist of

Automatic Data Processing, Inc. (ADP), American Reprographics Co.

(ARC), First American Financial Corporation (FAF), Fidelity National

Financial, Inc. (FNF), Huron Consulting Group (HURN), Lender Processing

Services, Inc. (LPS) and Thompson-Reuters Corp (TRI). The nature of our

business continues to evolve, as highlighted by the acquisitions of

DataStream and Federal News in the second half of 2010 and the acquisition

of DiscoverReady in November of 2009. Therefore, we have adjusted the

companies in our peer groups for both our Business Information and

Professional Services Divisions to more accurately reflect our current mix

of business. The returns set forth on the following graph are based on

historical results and are not intended to suggest future performance. The

performance graph assumes $100 was invested on August 2, 2007, in our

common stock, the companies in our peer group indices (weighted based on

market capitalization as of such date), the NYSE Market Index and the
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Russell 3000 Index, at the closing per share price on that date. Data for the

NYSE Market Index, Russell 3000 Index and our peer groups assume

reinvestment of dividends. Since our common stock began
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trading on the New York Stock Exchange, we have not declared any

dividends to be paid to our stockholders and do not have any present plans

to declare dividends.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

AMONG THE DOLAN COMPANY, NYSE MARKET INDEX,

RUSSELL 3000 INDEX AND PEER GROUP COMPANIES

Company/Market/Peer Group 8/2/2007 9/30/2007 12/31/2007 3/30/2008 6/30/2008 9/30/2008 12/31/2008 3/31/2009 6/30/2009 9/30/2009 12/31/2009 3/31/2010 6/30/2010 9/30/2010 12/31/2010

Dolan Co $ 100.00 $ 137.13 $ 164.62 $ 115.80 $ 102.71 $ 56.94 $ 37.19 $ 44.41 $ 72.18 $ 67.66 $ 57.62 $ 61.34 $ 62.75 $ 64.16 $ 78.56

NYSE Composite Index $ 100.00 $ 104.72 $ 102.11 $ 92.42 $ 92.01 $ 80.52 $ 62.02 $ 54.06 $ 64.67 $ 76.12 $ 79.56 $ 82.92 $ 72.51 $ 82.07 $ 90.22

Russell 3000 Index $ 100.00 $ 103.96 $ 100.49 $ 90.39 $ 89.39 $ 81.58 $ 63.00 $ 56.19 $ 65.64 $ 76.35 $ 80.85 $ 85.66 $ 75.96 $ 84.72 $ 94.54

Business Information $ 100.00 $ 104.95 $ 110.52 $ 100.89 $ 97.59 $ 85.28 $ 70.32 $ 65.32 $ 72.39 $ 77.60 $ 82.46 $ 80.17 $ 75.39 $ 85.02 $ 91.33

Professional Services $ 100.00 $ 100.64 $ 98.01 $ 87.54 $ 84.31 $ 80.06 $ 80.64 $ 73.26 $ 77.12 $ 87.91 $ 89.21 $ 96.70 $ 91.45 $ 97.52 $ 100.15

Business Information (former) $ 100.00 $ 81.03 $ 54.55 $ 43.44 $ 26.12 $ 15.55 $ 4.38 $ 3.90 $ 4.85 $ 12.33 $ 15.86 $ 19.17 $ 15.14 $ 16.05 $ 17.56

Professional Services (former) $ 100.00 $ 100.92 $ 98.27 $ 88.86 $ 88.56 $ 82.00 $ 79.25 $ 72.45 $ 79.21 $ 89.35 $ 92.30 $ 98.19 $ 93.96 $ 99.98 $ 104.99

Source:  Morningstar

Unregistered Sales of Securities and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities
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We did not repurchase any shares of our common stock, nor did we have

any unregistered sales of securities that were not described on a current

report on Form 8-K, during the fourth quarter of 2010.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents our selected consolidated financial data for

the periods and as of the dates presented below. You should read the

following information along with “Item 7: Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and our

consolidated financial statements and related notes, all of which are

included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. We derived the

historical financial data for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and

2008, and as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, from our audited

consolidated financial statements, included in this annual report on

Form 10-K. We derived the historical financial data for the fiscal years

ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the historical financial data as of

December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, from our audited consolidated financial

statements not included in this annual report. Historical results are not

necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for future

periods. These historical results include the operating results of businesses

that we have acquired during each of the periods presented. See Note 3 of

our audited consolidated financial statements later in this report for more

information regarding businesses we have acquired in each of 2010, 2009

and 2008.

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated

Statement of

Operations Data:

Professional

Services Division

revenues $223,069 $172,535 $ 99,496 $ 67,015 $ 37,812

Business

Information

Division revenues 88,240 90,382 90,450 84,974 73,831
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Total revenues 311,309 262,917 189,946 151,989 111,643

Total operating

expenses 253,008 212,140 161,375 125,228 92,711

Equity in earnings of

affiliates 4,580 4,615 5,646 5,414 2,736

Operating income 62,881 55,392 34,217 32,175 21,668

Interest expense, net (6,358) (6,072) (8,473) (8,521) (6,433)

Non-cash interest

expense related to

redeemable

preferred stock(1) — — — (66,132) (28,455)

Other income

(expense), net 197 3,847 33 (8) (202)

Income (loss) before

income taxes 56,720 53,167 25,777 (42,486) (13,422)

Income tax expense (21,479) (18,570) (9,209) (7,863) (4,974)

Net income (loss) 35,241 34,597 16,568 (50,349) (18,396)

Less: Net income

attributable to

redeemable

noncontrolling

interests(2) 2,886 3,784 2,265 3,685 1,913

Net income (loss)

attributable to The

Dolan Company $ 32,355 $ 30,813 $ 14,303 $ (54,034) $(20,309)

Net income (loss)

attributable to The

Dolan Company

per share — basic

and diluted $ 1.07 $ 1.03 $ 0.53 $ (3.41) $ (2.19)
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(Increase) decrease

in redeemable

noncontrolling

interest in NDeX,

net of tax(3) 0.01 (0.31) — — —

Net income (loss)

attributable to The

Dolan Company

common

stockholders per

share — basic and

diluted $ 1.08 $ 0.72 $ 0.53 $ (3.41) $ (2.19)

Weighted average

shares

outstanding —

basic(4) 30,151 29,832 26,985 15,868 9,254

Weighted average

shares

outstanding —

diluted(4) 30,314 29,916 27,113 15,868 9,254

30
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As of December 31,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

(In thousands)

Consolidated

Balance Sheet

Data:

Cash and cash

equivalents $ 4,862 $ 2,894 $ 2,456 $ 1,346 $ 786

Total working

capital (deficit) 2,156 (21,067) (12,588) (5,460) (8,991)

Total assets 535,788 528,290 470,627 226,367 186,119

Long-term debt,

less current

portion 131,568 137,960 143,450 56,301 72,760

Redeemable

preferred stock — — — — 108,329

Total liabilities and

redeemable

noncontrolling

interests 256,930 279,427 248,477 97,191 214,994

Total stockholders’

equity (deficit) 278,858 248,863 222,150 129,176 (28,875)

(1) Consists of accrued but unpaid dividends on our series A preferred stock

and series C preferred stock and the change in fair value of the shares of

our series C preferred stock, with each share of our series C preferred

stock being convertible into (1) one share of our series B preferred stock

and (2) a number of shares of our series A preferred stock and our

common stock for periods from August 1, 2003, through August 7,

2007. The conversion of our series C preferred stock and redemption of

our preferred stock upon the consummation of our initial public offering

in 2007 eliminated the non-cash interest expense we recorded for the

change in fair value of our series C preferred stock.
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(2) Consists of a noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady LLC of 15%

from November 2, 2009 through April 30, 2010, and 14.7% from May 1,

2010, through December 31, 2010; a 50% noncontrolling interest in

Legislative Information Services of America from October 1, 2010

through December 31, 2010; and the following noncontrolling interest in

National Default Exchange:

APC Investments Sellers of

Trott & (or the Trott Feiwell & Barrett-NDEx

Trott Sellers, as a Group) Hannoy (as a Group)

March 14, 2006 —

December 31, 2006(a) 19.0% — — —

January 1, 2007 —

January 8, 2007 19.0% — — —

January 9, 2007 —

November 30, 2007(b) 18.1% — 4.5% —

December 1, 2007 —

December 31, 2007(c) 9.1% — 2.3% —

January 1, 2008 —

January 31, 2008 9.1% — 2.3% —

February 1, 2008 —

February 21, 2008(d) — 9.1% 2.3% —

February 22, 2008 —

September 1, 2008(e) — 9.1% 2.0% —

September 2, 2008 —

December 31, 2008(f) — 7.6% 1.7% 6.1%

January 1, 2009 —

December 30, 2009(g) — 7.6% 1.7% 6.1%

December 31, 2009(h) — 2.4% 1.7% 6.1%

January 1, 2010 —

January 4, 2010(i) — — — 6.2%

January 5, 2010 —

December 31, 2010(j) — — — 6.2%
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(a) On March 14, 2006, we acquired an 81.0% interest in NDeX from

Trott & Trott, P.C.

(b) In connection with NDeX’s acquisition of the mortgage default

processing services business of Feiwell & Hannoy on January 9,

2007, NDeX issued to Feiwell & Hannoy a 4.5% membership interest

in NDeX

(c) On November 30, 2007, we purchased 9.1% and 2.2% of the

then-outstanding membership interests of each of Trott & Trott and

Feiwell & Hannoy, respectively.

(d) On February 1, 2008, Trott & Trott assigned its membership interest

in NDeX to APC Investments, LLC, an affiliate of Trott & Trott.
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(e) On February 22, 2008, NDeX made a capital call to fund the

acquisition of the mortgage default processing services business of

Wilford & Geske, P.A., in which Feiwell & Hannoy declined to

participate, thereby diluting its interest in NDeX.

(f) To fund, in part, the acquisition of Barrett-NDEx, NDeX made a

capital call, in which neither APC Investments nor Feiwell & Hannoy

participated, thereby diluting their interests. The noncontrolling

interest of APC Investments and Feiwell & Hannoy were further

diluted when NDeX issued a 6.1% membership interest to the sellers

of Barrett-NDEx (as a group) on September 2, 2008 in partial

consideration for the acquisition of Barrett-NDEx.

(g) On December 1, 2009, APC Investments made a pro-rata distribution

of its membership interest in NDeX to its members, the Trott Sellers.

The pro-rata distribution is not reflected in the table above.

(h) On December 31, 2009, we acquired an aggregate 5.1% of the

noncontrolling interest in NDeX, from the Trott Sellers.

(i) On January 4, 2010, we acquired an aggregate 2.4% of the

noncontrolling interest in NDeX from the Trott Sellers.

(j) On February 28, 2010, NDeX redeemed an aggregate 1.7% of the

noncontrolling interest in NDeX from Feiwell & Hannoy.

Under the terms of NDeX’s operating agreement, we are required to

distribute, on a monthly basis, NDeX’s earnings before interest, taxes,

depreciation and amortization, less debt service with respect to any

interest-bearing indebtedness of NDeX, capital expenditures and working

capital to each of NDeX’s members. The distributions are made pro-rata

in relation to the common membership units each member owns.
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(3) Because the redeemable feature of the NDeX noncontrolling interest is

outside of our control, we adjust the noncontrolling interest to the

redemption amount at each reporting period. We have recorded this

noncontrolling interest at the redemption amount, with the adjustment

recorded through “additional paid-in capital” rather than directly as a

charge against earnings. Because the redemption amount is based upon a

formula and deemed not at fair value, we have employed the two-class

method to calculate earnings per share based on net income (loss) from

continuing operations attributable to The Dolan Company common

stockholders.

(4) Diluted per share amounts assume the conversion, exercise, or issuance

of all potential common stock instruments (see Note 17 of our

consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on

Form 10-K for information on stock options) unless their effect is

anti-dilutive, thereby reducing the loss per share or increasing the

income per share.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations

Overview

In 2010, our total revenues increased $48.4 million, or 18.4%, from

$262.9 million in 2009 to $311.3 million in 2010, largely as a result of

increased revenues in our litigation support services segment. The litigation

support revenue growth was driven primarily by our DiscoverReady

business which we acquired in November 2009. DiscoverReady’s revenues

grew $37.3 million in 2010 compared to 2009 when we only owned them

for two months. In addition, revenues from our NDeX operations in Florida,

which we acquired in October 2009, grew by $10.3 million in 2010. Our

NDeX operations in Florida and the DiscoverReady acquisition in the fourth

quarter of 2009, together accounted for the majority of the 19.2% increase

in our operating expenses in 2010. Further, net income attributable to The

Dolan Company increased to $32.4 million for 2010 from $30.8 million for

the same period in 2009. As a result, net income attributable to The Dolan

Company per diluted share increased from $1.03 in 2009 to $1.07 in 2010.
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Recent Developments

New Credit Agreement

On December 6, 2010, we entered into a third amended and restated

credit agreement, effective December 6, 2010 (the “New Credit

Agreement”), with a syndicate of bank lenders for a $205.0 million senior

secured credit
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facility comprised of a term loan facility in an initial aggregate amount of

$50.0 million due and payable in quarterly installments with a final maturity

date of December 6, 2015 and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate

amount of up to $155.0 million, which may be increased pursuant to an

“accordion” feature to up to $200.0 million, with a final maturity date of

December 6, 2015. At any time after December 6, 2012, if the outstanding

principal balance of revolving loans under the revolving credit facility of the

New Credit Agreement exceeds $50.0 million, $50.0 million of such

revolving loans shall convert to an amortizing term loan due and payable in

quarterly installments with a final maturity date of December 6, 2015. The

New Credit Agreement restated our previous credit agreement in its entirety.

In connection with this new credit facility, we paid approximately

$1.9 million in bank and legal fees. Please see “Cash Flows from Financing

Activities” below for more discussion on our New Credit Agreement.

Stock Buy-Back Plan

Our board of directors approved a stock buy-back plan effective as of the

closing of our new credit agreement on December 6, 2010. This plan allows

us to repurchase up to 2 million shares of issued and outstanding common

stock at prevailing market prices or negotiated prices through December 31,

2013. The number of shares and the timing of the purchases will be

determined at the discretion of management. Between February 25, 2011

and March 9, 2011, we repurchased 137,500 shares under this plan for an

aggregate of $1.7 million.

New Investments

In August 2010, we made a 19.5% investment in BringMetheNews, LLC

(BMTN), a Minneapolis-based online news source. BMTN gathers local

news from hundreds of online sources and distributes it through a network

of online and social media sites. It also produces 16 daily radio newscasts

that are broadcast on more than a dozen outlets. We account for this

investment using the equity method of accounting. Our investment balance
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at December 31, 2010, was $0.7 million.

In the fourth quarter of 2010, we formed a strategic partnership with

Telran, Inc., a leading provider of statehouse legislative information, to

launch a 50-state, real-time legislative reporting and data service. The new

service, headquartered in Austin, Texas, is called Legislative Information

Service of America (LISA). It will provide real-time web-based reporting

on floor and committee actions, bill filings, and other legislative activity. It

features customized real-time tracking, alerts, full-text searches, daily

calendars and critical analytical tools aimed at bills as they are filed and

debated in statehouses across the United States. We own 50% of the equity

interests in LISA, and consolidate this entity, recording noncontrolling

interest for the 50% not owned by us.

Increase in our Ownership in NDeX

On December 31, 2009 and January 4, 2010, we, along with our

wholly-owned subsidiary, Dolan APC, LLC, entered into two separate

common unit purchase agreements with the Trott Sellers, under the terms of

which the Trott Sellers sold an aggregate 7.6% ownership interest in NDeX

to us, for an aggregate purchase price of $13.0 million and 248,000 shares

of our common stock.

Of the $13.0 million cash due to the Trott Sellers, we have paid

$10.8 million through the date of this annual report on Form 10-K. We will

pay the remaining balance to the Trott Sellers in equal monthly installments

of approximately $0.1 million, in the aggregate, which includes interest

accruing on the unpaid principal balance at a rate of 4.25%.

David A. Trott and the other Trott Sellers are partners in the law firm,

Trott & Trott, P.C., which is a customer of NDeX. Trott is the managing

partner of Trott & Trott, P.C. and we also employ him as the chairman and

chief executive officer of NDeX, where he is one of our executive officers.

Under the common units purchase agreements described above where we

purchased an aggregate 7.6% ownership interest in NDeX, Trott sold us his
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5.1% ownership interest in NDeX for which we will pay him an aggregate

of $8.8 million (exclusive of interest) and for which we issued to him

168,644 shares of our common stock. See also “Related Party Transactions

and Policies — David A. Trott” in our proxy statement, which is expected to

be filed with the SEC in early April 2011, for a description of certain other

relationships between Trott, his law firm or his other affiliated entities and

us.
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Each Trott Seller had the right, until February 7, 2010, to require NDeX

to repurchase their respective membership interest in NDeX at a price based

on 6.25 times NDeX’s trailing twelve month earnings before interest, taxes,

depreciation and amortization less the aggregate amount of any interest

bearing indebtedness outstanding for NDeX as of the repurchase date. The

present value of the total consideration paid to the Trott Sellers in

connection with the sale of their respective NDeX interests to us

approximated the price we would have paid to the Trott Sellers had they

elected to exercise, in full, their put right set forth in the NDeX operating

agreement.

On February 28, 2010, NDeX redeemed 23,560 common units,

representing a 1.7% interest in NDeX, from Feiwell & Hannoy, in

connection with Feiwell & Hannoy’s exercise of its put right as set forth in

the NDeX operating agreement. NDeX redeemed these common units for

$3.5 million, which was determined pursuant to the formula set forth in

NDeX’s operating agreement. The redemption price is payable to Feiwell &

Hannoy over a period of three years, in quarterly installments, with interest

accruing at a rate of 5.25%. We have paid $1.4 million on this note through

the date of this annual report on Form 10-K. Feiwell & Hannoy is a law firm

customer of NDeX.

After the closing of the transactions described above, our ownership

interest in NDeX increased from 84.7% to 93.8%.

New Line of Business in Professional Services Division

On November 2, 2009, we entered a new line of business in our

Professional Services Division with the acquisition of an 85.0% interest in

DiscoverReady LLC. DiscoverReady is a leading provider of outsourced

discovery management and document review services to major United

States and global companies and their counsel. DiscoverReady is

headquartered in New York City, with an office in Charlotte, North

Carolina. In accordance with the terms of the DiscoverReady operating
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agreement, we repurchased a 0.3% equity interest in DiscoverReady from

DR Holdco in connection with the expiration of the employment agreement

of DiscoverReady’s former chief financial officer in April 2010, thereby

increasing our ownership percentage in DiscoverReady to 85.3%.

Discovery is the process by which parties use the legal system to obtain

relevant information, primarily in litigation and regulatory matters. This

process can be expensive and time-consuming for companies depending

upon the volume of emails, electronic files and paper documents a company

must review to respond to a document request. DiscoverReady assists these

companies and their counsel in document reviews and helping these

companies manage the discovery process. DiscoverReady also provides

related technology management services.

None of our key employees or executive officers has any previous

experience in operating a discovery management and document review

services company. In connection with the acquisition, we entered into

three-year employment agreements with DiscoverReady co-founders James

K. Wagner, Jr. and Steven R. Harber to continue to serve as

DiscoverReady’s chief executive officer and president, respectively, as well

as other key employees of DiscoverReady, and will rely on them to assist

our executive officers in operating this business. Messrs. Wagner and

Harber, along with other employees of DiscoverReady, indirectly own the

remaining 14.7% equity interest in DiscoverReady.

DiscoverReady is part of our Professional Services division and litigation

support services segment. Our litigation support services segment was a

new reportable segment in 2009 and includes the operations of

DiscoverReady and Counsel Press (which was previously part of our

professional services segment with NDeX). The operations of NDeX are

now called our mortgage default processing services segment. Both our

mortgage default processing services and litigation support services

segments are part of our Professional Services division.

Regulatory Environment
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Beginning in 2008, federal, state and local governmental entities and

leaders have increasingly focused attention on foreclosures and have

proposed, and in some cases, enacted legislation or taken other action that

may have, and some of which has had, an adverse impact on the number of

mortgage default case files NDeX is asked to process, the length of time it

takes to process such files, the time over which we recognize revenue

associated with the processing of those files, and the number of foreclosure

public notices placed in our Business Information products and DLNP (our

minority investment) for publication. This legislation includes the Hope for

Homeowners
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Act of 2008, the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act, the Streamlined

Modification Program, and the Homeowner Affordability and Stability Plan

(including the Making Home Affordable Program, the Home Affordable

Modification Program (HAMP), and the Home Affordable Foreclosure

Alternatives Program (HAFA)), the Protecting Tenants at Foreclosure Act,

and laws passed to mitigate foreclosures in California, Maryland, Michigan,

Indiana, and Florida. There also have been voluntary foreclosure relief

programs developed by lenders, loan servicers and the Hope New Alliance

(a consortium that includes loan servicers). We have described these

programs in our previous annual and quarterly reports in each of the

previous few years.

Overall, 2010 included some additional legislation aimed at mitigating

foreclosures, additional scrutiny on mortgage foreclosures, and voluntary

stoppages of foreclosures by servicers and lenders.

In February 2010, the President announced a new $1.5 billion funding

initiative, called the FHA Hardest-Hit Fund, to provide money for housing

finance agencies or FHAs in Nevada, Michigan, California, Florida and

Arizona. The Hardest-Hit Fund was created to offer what the President’s

Administration called “relief in direct proportion to the scale of each state’s

housing challenges.” The FHA Hardest-Hit program gives lenders in these

five states more flexibility to create programs designed to prevent a

mortgage from going into default or foreclosure including loan

modification, mortgage forbearance, and principal reduction for borrowers

who are over-leveraged or have “severe negative equity.”

In June 2010, new federal government directives concerning certain

aspects of the federal Home Affordable Modification Program (HAMP)

became effective. Among other things, the supplemental directives included

clarification of the requirement to solicit all borrowers whose first mortgage

loans are potentially eligible for HAMP, a prohibition against referral to

foreclosure until either a borrower has been determined to be ineligible for

HAMP or reasonable solicitation efforts have failed, and a requirement that

a servicer provide a certification to the foreclosure attorney or trustee stating
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that a borrower is not HAMP-eligible before a foreclosure sale may be

conducted.

In July 2010, a foreclosure mediation bill took effect in Maryland. This

bill required the opportunity for court mediation for every owner-occupied

residential foreclosure within 60 days of an owner’s request. We believe this

bill contributed to a slowdown of foreclosure notices in Maryland during the

latter part of 2010.

In late 2010, a change to the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (SCRA)

increased the number of months before a servicer can foreclose on a loan

where the debtor is in the Military. Previously the Servicemembers Civil

Relief Act (SCRA) had a 3-month delay from the time a servicemember was

released from active duty before a foreclosure action could start. The

mandatory delay has been increased to 9 months.

Beginning in September 2010, mortgage foreclosures received additional

scrutiny due to widespread national media coverage of reported procedural

and documentation error and lapses by other parties in the industry. The

state attorneys general coordinated to review the foreclosure process. In

most states the attorney general requested additional information about the

foreclosure process, while in some states the attorney general requested a

temporary freeze on foreclosure sales.

Certain servicers reacted to the attention being paid to the foreclosure

process by various other government officials and constituencies, with

self-imposed foreclosure sale and eviction moratoria in the fall of 2010

while these servicers verified their internal policies and procedures. Certain

servicers also reacted to this environment of increased scrutiny in 2010 by

requesting additional information and process verification from law firms

and vendors to which they refer their mortgage foreclosures.

In the fall of 2010, numerous servicers halted foreclosures in the 23

judicial states. (In judicial states, the court system approves the foreclosures

based on evidence such as affidavits, whereas in non-judicial states the

foreclosure occurs outside the court system with different types of
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documents.) Some servicers have lifted these moratoria, and others have

not. The halt on foreclosure sales has caused a slowdown of foreclosure

referrals as servicers and creditors have appeared to focus on processes and

other internal and external issues. NDeX operates in only two judicial states,

Indiana and Florida. The halt on foreclosures and the slowdown of referrals

negatively impacted our 2010 revenue in Indiana, but NDeX revenue in

Florida remained strong due to opportunities presented there for market

share increases due to circumstances and investigations experienced by law

firms in Florida unrelated to Albertelli or NDeX.
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In February 2011, the Department of the Treasury submitted a report to

Congress entitled “Reforming America’s Housing Finance Market” which

included a plan to responsibly reduce the role of the Federal National

Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae) and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage

Corporation (Freddie Mac) in the mortgage market and expressed a goal of

ultimately winding down both institutions. Many of the files we process are

supported by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, therefore any change to these

institutions, or broader changes to the mortgage market as a whole, may

adversely impact the number of mortgage default files received by our law

firm customers from their clients (and therefore the number directed they

direct to us to process) and received by us for processing in California and

Nevada by our mortgage lender and loan servicer customers.

These and other laws, proposed legislation, investigations, directives,

voluntary programs, actions, plans, and court orders, have delayed, and may

delay in the future, the referral of files to our law firm customers, or in the

case of foreclosures on properties located in California and Nevada, the

referral of files directly to us for processing. In addition, they may continue

to increase the processing time for the foreclosure files between the referral

to the attorney or trustee and the foreclosure sale and may affect margins. In

some instances they may continue to increase the time over which we

recognize revenue associated with the processing of such files, and may

continue to decrease the number of foreclosure public notices placed in our

Business Information products and DLNP (our minority investment) for

publication.

Recent Acquisitions

We consummated the following acquisitions in 2010:

DataStream Content Solutions, LLC:  On December 1, 2010, we

acquired DataStream Content Solutions, LLC (“DataStream”). In

connection with this acquisition, we paid the sellers $15.0 million in cash at

closing, held back $1.5 million payable 18 months after closing to secure
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indemnification claims, and are obligated to pay up to an additional

$4.0 million in earnouts in two annual installments. The amount of the two

annual earnout payments is based upon the acquired business achieving

certain EBITDA targets during the calendar years ending December 31,

2011 and 2012.

Federal News Service, Inc.:  On August 9, 2010, we acquired certain

assets of Federal News Service, Inc. (“Federal News”) for approximately

$1.7 million in cash.

For more information on the products and services these companies

provide, see “Our Products and Services — Business Information” earlier in

this annual report.

Revenues

We derive revenues from our two operating divisions, our Professional

Services Division and our Business Information Division, operating as three

reportable segments: (1) mortgage default processing services; (2) litigation

support services; and (3) business information. For the year ended

December 31, 2010, our total revenues were $311.3 million, and the

percentage of our total revenues attributed to each of our divisions and

segments was as follows:

• 72% from our Professional Services Division (53% from mortgage

default processing services and 19% from litigation support

services); and

• 28% from our Business Information Division.

Professional Service Division.  Our Professional Services Division

generates revenues primarily by providing mortgage default processing,

outsourced discovery management and document review, and appellate

services through fee-based arrangements. We further break down our

Professional Services Division into two reportable segments, mortgage

default processing services and litigation support services.
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Mortgage Default Processing Services.  Through NDeX, we assist eight

law firms in processing foreclosure, bankruptcy, eviction and to a lesser

extent, litigation and other mortgage default processing case files for

residential mortgages that are in default. We also provide foreclosure

processing services directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers for

properties located in California and Nevada. In addition, NDeX provides

loan modification and loss mitigation support on mortgage default files to

its customers and related real estate title work to the Barrett Law
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Firm. Shareholders and/or principal attorneys of our law firm customers,

including David A. Trott, chairman and chief executive officer of NDeX,

are executive management employees of NDeX.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, we received approximately

378,800 mortgage default case files for processing. Our mortgage default

processing service revenues accounted for 53% of our total revenues and

74% of our Professional Services Division’s revenues during 2010. We

recognize mortgage default processing services revenues over the period

during which the services are provided. We consolidate the operations,

including revenues, of NDeX and record a noncontrolling interest

adjustment for the percentage of earnings that we do not own. See

“Noncontrolling Interest” below for a description of the impact of the

noncontrolling interest in NDeX on our operating results. With the

exception of foreclosure files we process for our law firm customer,

Feiwell & Hannoy, and California and Nevada foreclosure files, we bill our

customers upon receipt of the file and record amounts billed for services not

yet performed as deferred revenue. For foreclosure files we process for

Feiwell & Hannoy, we bill Feiwell & Hannoy in two installments and

record amounts for services performed but not yet billed as unbilled services

and amounts billed for services not yet performed as deferred revenue. For

California and Nevada foreclosure files processed by us, we bill our

customers for services at the time the file is complete and record amounts

related to services performed, but not yet billed, as unbilled services. In

California and Nevada, because we provide mortgage default processing

services directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers, we incur certain

costs on behalf of our customers, such as trustee sale guarantees, title

policies, and post and publication charges. We pass these costs directly

through to our mortgage lender and loan servicers customers, and bill them

at the time the file is complete. We have determined that these expenses

should be recorded at net and, accordingly, do not record any revenue for

these pass-through costs. We also provide title services primarily to the

Barrett Law Firm, and we bill for these services when the title matter is

completed and recognize revenue as we perform the services.
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NDeX’s revenues are primarily driven by the number of residential

mortgage defaults in each of the states for which it processes files as well as

the quantity and mix of the files we process (e.g., foreclosures, evictions,

bankruptcies or litigation) because each has a different pricing structure. We

have entered into long-term services agreements with each of our law firm

customers. These agreements provide for the exclusive referral of files from

the law firms to NDeX for servicing, except that the Barrett Law Firm and

Trott & Trott may refer files elsewhere if they are otherwise directed by

clients. During 2010, each of the Barrett Law Firm and Trott & Trott

accounted for more than 10% of our mortgage default processing services

revenues, with the Barrett Law Firm accounting for 44% of these revenues

and Trott & Trott accounting for 26% of these revenues. Our services

agreements with Trott & Trott and the Barrett Law Firm have initial terms

that expire in 2021 and 2033, respectively. However, these terms may be

automatically extended for up to two successive ten year periods, in the case

of our agreement with Trott & Trott, or successive five year periods, in the

case of our agreement with the Barrett Law Firm, unless either party elects

to terminate the term then-in-effect with prior notice. The initial terms of

our services agreements with our other law firm customers expire between

2022 to 2030, which terms may be automatically extended for up to two

successive five or ten-year periods depending upon the law firm customer

unless either party elects to terminate the term then-in-effect with prior

notice.

Under each services agreement, we are paid a fixed fee for each

residential mortgage default file the law firm sends to us for processing,

with the amount of such fixed fee being based upon the type of file. We

receive this fixed fee upon receipt of a default case file, which consists of

any mortgage default case file sent to us for processing, regardless of

whether the case actually proceeds to foreclosure. If such file leads to a

bankruptcy, eviction or litigation proceeding, we are entitled to an additional

fixed fee in connection with handling a file for such proceedings. We also

receive a fixed fee for handling files in eviction, litigation and bankruptcy

matters that do not originate from mortgage foreclosure files. The Barrett

Law Firm also pays us a monthly trustee foreclosure administration fee.

Although the services agreements with our law firm customers contemplate

the review and possible revision of the fees for the services we provide,
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price increases have not historically affected our mortgage default

processing services revenues materially. In some cases, our services

agreements adjust the fee paid to us for the files we process on an annual

basis pursuant to an agreed-upon consumer price index. In other cases, our

services agreements require us to agree with our law firm customer

regarding the terms and amount of any fee increase.

Deferred revenue includes revenues billed for mortgage default

processing services that we expect to recognize in future periods due to the

extended period of time it takes to process certain files. At December 31,

2010, we had such deferred revenue on our balance sheet in the amount of

$14.4 million.
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Litigation Support Services.  Our litigation support services segment

generates revenues by providing discovery management and document

review services through DiscoverReady and appellate services through

Counsel Press. For the year ended December 31, 2010, our litigation support

services revenues accounted for 19% of our total revenues and 26% of our

Professional Services Division’s revenues. DiscoverReady provides its

services to major United States and global companies and their counsel and

assists them in document reviews and helping them manage the discovery

process. Discovery is the process by which parties use the legal system to

obtain relevant information, primarily in litigation and regulatory matters.

This process can be expensive and time-consuming for companies

depending upon the volume of emails, electronic files and paper documents

a company must review to respond to a document request. DiscoverReady

also provides related technology management services. DiscoverReady bills

its customers primarily based upon the number of documents reviewed and

the amount of data or other information it processes in connection with

those reviews. Accordingly, our discovery management and document

review services revenue are largely determined by the volume of data we

review. Our discovery management and document review services revenue

accounted for 14% of our total revenues, 74% of our litigation support

services segment revenues, and 20% of our total Professional Services

Division revenues for the year ended December 31, 2010. During 2010,

DiscoverReady’s top two customers, both of whom are in the financial

services industry, accounted for 78%, in the aggregate, of DiscoverReady’s

total revenues.

Counsel Press assists law firms and attorneys throughout the United

States in organizing, preparing and filing appellate briefs, records and

appendices, in paper and electronic formats, that comply with the applicable

rules of the U.S. Supreme Court, any of the 13 federal courts of appeals and

any state appellate court or appellate division. Counsel Press charges its

customers primarily on a per-page basis based on the final appellate product

that is filed with the court clerk. Accordingly, our appellate service revenues

are largely determined by the volume of appellate cases we handle and the

number of pages in the appellate cases we file. For the year-ended

December 31, 2010, our appellate services revenues accounted for 5% of
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our total revenues, 26% of our litigation support services revenues, and 7%

of our total Professional Services Division revenues.

We recognize litigation support services revenues during the month in

which the services are provided. In the case of Counsel Press, this is when

our final appellate product is filed with the court.

We consolidate the operations of DiscoverReady and record an

adjustment for noncontrolling interest for the percentage of DiscoverReady

that we do not own. Because the redeemable feature of this noncontrolling

interest is based on fair value (unlike the noncontrolling interest in NDeX),

we are not required to record this adjustment as an item affecting net income

attributable to The Dolan Company common stockholders. See

“Noncontrolling Interest” below.

Business Information.  Our Business Information Division generates

revenues primarily from display and classified advertising, public notices

and subscriptions. We sell commercial advertising, which consists of display

and classified advertising in our print products and web sites. We include

within our display and classified advertising revenue those revenues

generated by sponsorships, advertising and ticket sales generated by our

local events. Our display and classified advertising revenues accounted for

9% of our total revenues and 30% of our Business Information Division

revenues for the year ended December 31, 2010. We recognize display and

classified advertising revenues upon placement of an advertisement in one

of our publications or on one of our web sites. We recognize display and

classified advertising revenues generated by sponsorships, advertising and

ticket sales from local events when those events are held. Advertising

revenues are driven primarily by the volume, price and mix of

advertisements published, as well as how many local events are held.

We publish more than 300 different types of public notices in our court

and commercial newspapers, including foreclosure notices, probate notices,

notices of fictitious business names, limited liability company and other

entity notices, unclaimed property notices, notices of governmental hearings

and trustee sale notices. Our public notice revenues accounted for 15% of
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our total revenues and 52% of our Business Information Division revenues

for the year ended December 31, 2010. We recognize public notice revenues

upon placement of a public notice in one of our court and commercial

newspapers. Public notice revenues are driven by the volume and mix of

public notices published. This is primarily affected by the number of

residential mortgage foreclosures in the 14 markets where we are qualified

to publish public notices and the rules governing publication of public

notices in such states. In six of
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the states in which we publish public notices, the price for public notices is

statutorily regulated, with market forces determining the pricing for the

remaining states.

We sell our business information products, including our DataStream and

Federal News products and services, primarily through subscriptions. For

the year ended December 31, 2010, our subscription and other revenues,

which consist primarily of subscriptions, single-copy sales, transcriptions

and access to state and federal legislative information, accounted for 5% of

our total revenues and 18% of our Business Information Division’s

revenues. We recognize subscription revenues ratably over the subscription

periods, which range from three months to multiple years, with the average

subscription period being twelve months. Deferred revenue includes

payment for subscriptions collected in advance that we expect to recognize

in future periods. At December 31, 2010, we had such deferred revenue on

our balance sheet in the amount of $8.8 million. Subscription and other

revenues are primarily driven by the number of copies sold and the

subscription rates charged to customers.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of the following:

• Direct operating expenses, which consist primarily of the cost of

compensation and employee benefits for the operational staff at NDeX,

DiscoverReady, and Counsel Press and our editorial personnel in our

Business Information Division, production and distribution expenses,

such as compensation (including stock-based compensation expense)

and employee benefits for personnel involved in the production and

distribution of our business information products, the cost of newsprint

and delivery of our business information products, and packaging and

data service fees in connection with our California and Nevada

foreclosure files;
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• Selling, general and administrative expenses, which consist primarily of

the cost of compensation (including stock-based compensation

expense) and employee benefits for our sales, human resources,

accounting and information technology personnel, publishers and other

members of management, rent, other sales and marketing related

expenses and other office-related payments;

• Depreciation expense, which represents the cost of fixed assets and

software allocated over the estimated useful lives of these assets, with

such useful lives ranging from one to thirty years; and

• Amortization expense, which represents the cost of finite-life

intangibles acquired through business combinations allocated over the

estimated useful lives of these intangibles, with such useful lives

ranging from two to thirty years.

Total operating expenses as a percentage of revenues were 81% in 2010,

and depend upon our mix of business from Professional Services, which is

our higher margin revenue, and Business Information. This mix may

continue to shift between fiscal periods and over time as Professional

Services revenues continue to grow at a faster pace that Business

Information revenues.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates

The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC.  We own 35% of the

membership interests in The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC (DLNP),

the publisher of The Detroit Legal News and ten other publications. We

account for our investment in DLNP using the equity method. For the years

ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, our percentage share of DLNP’s

earnings was $4.7 million, $4.9 million and $5.6 million, respectively,

which we recognized as operating income. NDeX handles all public notices

required to be published in connection with files it processes for Trott &

Trott pursuant to our services agreement with Trott & Trott and places a

significant amount of these notices in The Detroit Legal News. Trott & Trott

pays DLNP for these public notices. See “Liquidity and Capital

Resources — Cash Flow Provided by Operating Activities” below for
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information regarding distributions paid to us by DLNP.

Under the terms of the amended and restated operating agreement for

DLNP, on a date that is within 60 days prior to November 30, 2011, and

each November 30th after that, each member of DLNP has the right, but not

the obligation, to deliver a notice to the other members, declaring the value

of all of the membership interests of DLNP. Upon receipt of this notice,

each other member has up to 60 days to elect to either purchase his, her or

its pro rata
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share of the initiating member’s membership interests or sell to the initiating

member a pro rata portion of the membership interest of DLNP owned by

the non-initiating member. Depending on the election of the other members,

the member that delivered the initial notice of value to the other members

will be required to either sell his or her membership interests, or purchase

the membership interests of other members. The purchase price payable for

the membership interests of DLNP will be based on the value set forth in the

initial notice delivered by the initiating member.

Other.  Other than DLNP, as of December 31, 2010, we have one

additional equity method investment. In 2010, we invested in 19.5% of the

membership interests in BringMetheNews, LLC (BMTN). The net

investment balance in BMTN at December 31, 2010 is $0.7 million. Please

refer to “Recent Developments — New Investments” above for further

information about our investment in BMTN.

On December 31, 2009, we sold our investment in GovDelivery in

connection with its merger with Internet Capital Group. We received

$3.6 million in cash upon the consummation of the sale, with an additional

$0.6 million held back for the payment of indemnification claims pursuant

to the terms of the merger agreement. Accordingly, we recorded a gain on

our sale of this investment in 2009 in the amount of $2.4 million, which was

included in other income in our consolidated statement of operations for the

year ending December 31, 2009. In 2010, we received $0.2 million of the

amount held back, and have included this in other income for the year ended

December 31, 2010.

Noncontrolling Interest

From January 1, 2009, through November 1, 2009, the noncontrolling

interest consisted of an aggregate 15.3% interest in NDeX held by APC

Investments, LLC (7.6%), Feiwell & Hannoy (1.7%) and the sellers of

Barrett-NDEx or their transferees (as a group) (6.1%). APC Investments

was a limited liability company owned by NDeX chairman and chief
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executive officer, David A. Trott, and the other shareholders of Trott &

Trott, an NDeX customer. Beginning on November 2, 2009, the

noncontrolling interest also included a 15.0% interest in DiscoverReady

LLC held by DR Holdco LLC, which was reduced to 14.7% as a result of

our repurchase of the 0.3% equity interest in DiscoverReady from DR

Holdco in connection with the expiration of the employment agreement of

the former CFO of DiscoverReady in April 2010. .

At December 31, 2009, the noncontrolling interest in NDeX changed to

an aggregate 10.2% interest as a result of our acquisition of a 5.1% interest

in NDeX from the Trott Sellers (who were the members of APC

Investments). In the first quarter of 2010, we acquired the remaining interest

in NDeX held by the Trott Sellers, as well as redeemed Feiwell & Hannoy’s

interest in NDeX, all of which reduced the noncontrolling interest in NDeX

to 6.2% (which is held by the sellers of Barrett-NDEx or their transferees).

You should refer to “Recent Developments — Increase in our Ownership in

NDeX” earlier in this annual report for information about the change in our

ownership in NDeX during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

In the fourth quarter of 2010, we formed Legislative Services of America

(LISA), and consolidate this entity. We record noncontrolling interest for the

50% we do not own. You should refer to “Recent Developments — New

Investments” earlier in this annual report for more information.

Under the terms of the NDeX operating agreement, each month, we are

required to distribute the excess of NDeX’s earnings before interest,

depreciation and amortization less debt service with respect to any interest-

bearing indebtedness of NDeX, capital expenditures and working capital

reserves to NDeX’s members on the basis of common equity interest owned.

We paid the following distributions during the years ended December 31,

2010, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

APC Investments $113 $1,607 $1,098
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Feiwell & Hannoy 48 363 253

Sellers of Barrett-NDEx (as a group) 480 1,270 —

Total $641 $3,240 $1,351
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The sellers of Barrett-NDEx or their transferees, each as members of

NDeX, have the right, for a period of six months following September 2,

2012, to require NDeX to repurchase all or any portion of their respective

membership interest in NDeX. To the extent any seller of Barrett-NDEx

timely exercises this right, the purchase price of such membership interest

will be based on 6.25 times NDeX’s trailing twelve month earnings before

interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization less the aggregate amount of

any interest bearing indebtedness outstanding for NDeX as of the date the

repurchase occurs. The aggregate purchase price would be payable by

NDeX in the form of a three-year unsecured note bearing interest at a rate

equal to prime plus 2%.

Under the terms of the DiscoverReady limited liability agreement, DR

Holdco (who holds the noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady) has the

right, for a period of ninety days following November 2, 2012, to require

DiscoverReady to repurchase all or any portion of its equity interest in

DiscoverReady. To the extent that DR Holdco timely exercises this right, the

purchase price of such equity interest will be based on the fair market value

of such interest. During that same period, we also have the right to require

DR Holdco to sell its entire equity interest in DiscoverReady to us. If we

timely exercise our right, we would pay DR Holdco an amount based on the

fair market value of the equity interest. These rights may be exercised

earlier under the following circumstances: An individual seller of

DiscoverReady may require DiscoverReady to repurchase the portion of DR

Holdco’s interest in DiscoverReady that he beneficially owns if he is

terminated without cause or quits for good reason prior to the expiration of

his employment agreement. If we terminate any individual seller of

DiscoverReady for cause or if such seller quits without good reason, we can

require DR Holdco to sell to us the portion of its interest in DiscoverReady

that reflects such seller’s beneficial interest in us. The purchase price for

that portion of the equity interest repurchased or sold if these rights are

exercised based on the interest’s fair market value. With respect to the

former CFO of DiscoverReady, in 2010 we repurchased that portion of DR

Holdco’s interest in DiscoverReady which he beneficially owned, upon the

expiration of his employment agreement. As a result, our ownership interest

in DiscoverReady increased to 85.3%, and the noncontrolling interest in
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DiscoverReady was reduced to 14.7%. The DiscoverReady operating

agreement does not require us to pay any monthly cash distributions to DR

Holdco; however, we are obligated to make distributions to DR Holdco to

pay its tax liabilities. During the year ended December 31, 2010, we made

such distributions of $1.0 million to DR Holdco. No such distributions were

made in 2009.

DiscoverReady may engage an independent third party valuation firm to

assist it in determining the fair market value of the equity interest being

repurchased by DiscoverReady or sold to us if any of the above-described

rights are exercised. The purchase price for any equity interests repurchased

or sold pursuant to these rights, if exercised, will be paid in cash to the

extent allowed by the terms of our then-existing credit agreement, or

pursuant to a three-year unsecured promissory note, bearing interest at a rate

equal to prime plus 1%.

We are required to record the redeemable noncontrolling interests

(“NCI”) in NDeX and DiscoverReady to their redemption amounts at each

reporting period. The NDeX NCI is adjusted to the estimated redemption

amount at each reporting period based on the formula as discussed above.

The DiscoverReady NCI is adjusted to fair value each period. During the

year ended December 31, 2010, the adjustments recorded to the NCI for

NDeX were $(0.2) million net of tax, and the adjustments recorded to the

NCI for DiscoverReady were $4.6 million net of tax. Please see our audited

consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income,

as well as Note 1 to our audited consolidated financial statements, included

in this annual report on Form 10-K for further information regarding

accounting for noncontrolling interests and its implications to our financial

statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). The preparation of

these financial statements requires management to make estimates,

assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
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liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets

and liabilities.

We continually evaluate the policies and estimates we use to prepare our

consolidated financial statements. In general, management’s estimates and

assumptions are based on historical experience, information provided by

third-party professionals and assumptions that management believes to be

reasonable under the facts and circumstances at the time these estimates and

assumptions are made. Because of the uncertainty inherent in these
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matters, actual results could differ significantly from the estimates,

assumptions and judgments we use in applying these critical accounting

policies.

We believe the critical accounting policies that require the most

significant estimates, assumptions and judgments to be used in the

preparation of our consolidated financial statements are business

combinations, revenue recognition in connection with mortgage default

processing services, impairment of intangible assets and other long-lived

assets, fair value of DiscoverReady’s noncontrolling interest, share-based

compensation expense, income taxes, and accounts receivable allowances.

Business Combinations

We have acquired a number of businesses during the last several years,

and we expect to acquire additional businesses in the future. In a business

combination, we determine the fair value of all acquired assets, including

identifiable intangible assets, and all assumed liabilities. The fair value of

the acquired business is allocated to the acquired assets and assumed

liabilities in amounts equal to the fair value of each asset and liability, and

any remaining fair value of the acquired business is classified as goodwill.

This allocation process requires extensive use of estimates and assumptions,

including estimates of future cash flows to be generated by the acquired

assets. Certain identifiable, finite-life intangible assets, such as mastheads,

trade names and advertising, subscriber and other customer lists, are

amortized over the intangible asset’s future cash flows. The estimated useful

life of amortizable identifiable intangible assets ranges from two to thirty

years. Goodwill, as well as other intangible assets determined to have

indefinite lives, is not amortized. Accordingly, the accounting for

acquisitions has had, and will continue to have, a significant impact on our

operating results.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we applied business

combination accounting to the following acquisitions: (1) the assets of

Federal News on August 9, 2010, and (2) the equity interests of DataStream
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on December 1, 2010. See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements

included in this annual report on Form 10-K for more information about the

application of business combination accounting to these acquisitions.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize mortgage default processing service revenues on a

proportional performance basis over the period during which the services

are provided, the calculation of which requires management to make

significant estimates as to the appropriate length of the revenue recognition

period and allocation of revenues within those periods. We base these

estimates primarily upon our historical experience and our knowledge of

processing cycles in each of the states in which we do business, as well as

recent legislative changes which impact the processing period. Our revenue

recognition periods for mortgage default processing services revenues

ranges from one to 17 months. Because of the extended time over which we

may recognize these revenues, we carry a balance of deferred revenues on

our balance sheet, representing revenues billed but not yet earned. As of

December 31, 2010 and 2009, we recorded an aggregate $14.4 million and

$10.9 million, respectively, as deferred revenues related to mortgage default

processing services on our balance sheet.

We record revenues recognized for services performed, but not yet billed,

to our customers as unbilled services. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009,

we recorded an aggregate $13.9 million and $17.0 million, respectively, as

unbilled services and included these amounts in accounts receivable on our

balance sheet.

Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets

We test our indefinite-lived intangible assets (which primarily includes

goodwill) annually for impairment using a November 30 measurement date.

We test all finite-life intangible assets and other long-lived assets, such as

fixed assets, for impairment whenever circumstances or events indicate that

it is more likely than not that the fair value of one of these assets is below its
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carrying value. Circumstances that could represent triggering events and

therefore require an interim impairment test of goodwill or evaluation of our

finite-life intangible assets or other long lived assets include the following:

loss of key personnel, unanticipated competition, higher or earlier than

expected customer attrition, deterioration of operating performance,

significant adverse industry, economic or regulatory changes or a significant

decline in market capitalization. We have determined that there was no
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impairment of our goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets during

2010, nor any triggering events which would require an impairment of our

finite-life intangible assets.

We periodically evaluate the estimated economic lives and related

amortization expense for our finite-life intangible assets. To the extent

actual useful lives are less than our previously estimated lives, we will

increase our amortization expense on a prospective basis. We estimate

useful lives of our intangible assets by reference to both contractual

arrangements, and current and projected cash flows. The determination of

useful lives and whether long-lived assets are impaired includes the use of

accounting estimates and assumptions, changes in which could materially

impact our financial condition and operating performance if actual results

differ from such estimates and assumptions. During the year ended

December 31, 2010, we did not revise any of the existing lives of our

finite-life intangible assets.

At December 31, 2010, we had total indefinite-lived intangible assets of

$225.4 million, including goodwill of $217.2 million. Goodwill was

attributed to our four reporting units as follows: business information

segment ($61.8 million); mortgage default processing services segment

($131.7 million) and from the two subsidiaries in our litigation support

services segment, DiscoverReady ($15.8 million) and Counsel Press

($7.9 million).

The first step of our test for impairment of goodwill requires us to

estimate the fair value of each reporting unit and compare the fair value to

the reporting unit’s carrying value. We determined the fair value of our

reporting units using both a discounted cash flow approach and a

comparative market approach. The discounted cash flow approach

calculates the present value of projected future cash flows using appropriate

discount rates. The market approach provides indications of value based on

market multiples for public companies involved in similar lines of business.

The fair values derived from these valuation methods are then weighted to

determine an estimated fair value for each reporting unit, which is compared
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to the carrying value of each reporting unit to determine whether

impairment exists. We then compared the total fair values for all reporting

units to our overall market capitalization as a test of the reasonableness of

this approach.

To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, an

indication exists that the reporting unit’s goodwill may be impaired, and we

must perform the second step of the impairment test. The second step

involves allocating the reporting unit’s fair value to all of its recognized and

unrecognized assets and liabilities in order to determine the implied fair

value of the reporting unit’s goodwill as of the testing date. The implied fair

value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is then compared to the carrying

amount of goodwill to quantify an impairment charge as of the assessment

date. Because the carrying value for each of our reporting units did not

exceed their respective fair values, we did not need to perform this second

step.

In determining the fair values of our reporting units using the discounted

cash flow approach, we considered our projected operating results and then

made a number of assumptions. These assumptions included those of

market participants regarding future business plans, economic projections

and market data as well as management estimates regarding future cash

flows and operating results. The key assumptions we used in preparing our

discounted cash flow analysis are (1) projected cash flows, (2) risk adjusted

discount rate, and (3) expected long term growth rate.

We based our comparative market approach on the valuation multiples

(enterprise value divided by EBITDA) of a selected group of peer

companies. We then used an average of these multiples to estimate the fair

value of each of our reporting units.

The assumptions we used in estimating our reporting units’ fair values

are sensitive and variances in these assumptions could have a significant

effect on the determination of impairment of our indefinite-lived intangible

assets. Further, we cannot predict what future events may occur that could

adversely affect the reported value of our indefinite-lived intangible assets.
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These events include, but are not limited to, any strategic decisions we may

make in response to economic or competitive conditions affecting our

reporting units and the effect of the economic and regulatory environment

on our business. If we are required to take an impairment charge in the

future, it could have a material effect on our consolidated financial

statements. However, any such charge, if taken, will not have any impact on

our ability to comply with the covenants contained in our current credit

agreement because goodwill impairment charges are excluded from the

calculation of adjusted EBITDA for purposes of meeting the total cash flow

leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios in that agreement and because

there is no net worth minimum
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covenant. Future credit agreements may, however, contain covenants that

may be impacted by such non-cash impairment charges.

Using an equal weighting of the discounted cash flow and comparative

market approaches, which is consistent with prior years, each of our

reporting units passed step one of the impairment test, as their estimated fair

values were in excess of their carrying values. In our discounted cash flow

approach, we have assumed that any foreclosure-related state or federal

government and/or lender based programs would not have a material effect

on our results of operations. If such legislative programs are enacted or

lender based programs are expanded, there may be a delay or reduction in

the number of mortgage default files that our customers send to us for

processing and therefore a decline in cash flows. Such future reductions or

delays in mortgage default file processing could have an impact on the

estimated fair value under both approaches we used.

As a test of the reasonableness of the estimated fair values for our

reporting units, as determined under both the discounted cash flow analysis

and comparative market approach described above, we compared the

aggregate weighted fair value for our reporting units under these approaches

to the fair value of the company, as a whole. We computed the company’s

fair value, as of November 30, 2010, by (1) multiplying: (a) the closing

price for a share of our common stock as reported by the New York Stock

Exchange ($13.70) by (b) the number of outstanding shares of our common

stock, and (2) adding a control premium of 12%; and (3) adding the amount

of outstanding long-term debt, which was the only asset or liability that we

did not allocate to a reporting unit. We refer to this calculation as the

“market capitalization approach.” We have applied a control premium to our

market capitalization analysis because such premiums are typically paid in

acquisitions of publicly traded companies. These control premiums

represent the ability of an acquirer to control the operations of the business.

Using the market capitalization approach described above, our company had

an estimated fair value of $588.2 million, which exceeds the aggregate

carrying value of our individual reporting units of $418.2 million, which we

calculated using an equal weighting of the discounted cash flow and market
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approaches described above. This confirmed the conclusion from our

discounted cash flow and comparative market approaches discussed above

that our indefinite-lived intangible assets were not impaired as of our

measurement date.

After evaluating the results of each of these analyses, we believe that the

discounted cash flow and comparative market approaches provide

reasonable estimates of the fair value of our reporting units. We will

continue to evaluate whether circumstances and events have changed,

thereby requiring us to conduct an interim test of our indefinite-lived

intangible assets (including goodwill) and other finite-life assets.

See Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements included in this

annual report on Form 10-K for more information about our intangible

assets.

Fair Value of DiscoverReady’s Noncontrolling Interest

Because DiscoverReady’s noncontrolling interest is redeemable outside

of our control, we are required to adjust it to fair value at each reporting

period. In 2010, we increased the value of the noncontrolling interest in

DiscoverReady by $7.4 million ($4.6 million net of tax) as a result of this

adjustment.

Share-Based Compensation Expense

Under our incentive compensation plan, we have reserved for issuance

4.8 million shares of common stock (which was increased in 2010 from

2.7 million shares), of which approximately 2.3 million shares were

available for grant as of December 31, 2010. Our incentive compensation

plan provides for awards in the form of incentive stock options,

nonqualified stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights,

restricted stock units, deferred shares, performance units and other

stock-based awards. We recognize all share-based payments to employees

and non-employee directors, including grants of stock options and shares of
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restricted stock, based on the estimated fair value of the equity or liability

instruments issued. We estimate the fair value of share-based awards using

the Black-Scholes option pricing model at the grant date, with compensation

expense recognized as the requisite service is rendered. We have not issued

any market/performance based awards.

We have used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair

value on the date of grant of the stock option awards that we issued, using

the closing share price of our common stock on the grant date for all options

issued subsequent to our initial public offering. In connection with our

Black-Scholes option pricing model, we
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calculated the expected term of stock option awards by using the period

over which we expect the option holder will hold the stock options. We

estimate forfeitures of share-based awards at the time of grant and revise

such estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from

projections. For stock options issued, we have assumed a six percent

forfeiture rate for all awards issued to non-executive management and other

employees and non-employee directors, and a zero percent forfeiture rate for

all awards issued to executive management employees. We also made

assumptions with respect to expected stock price volatility based on the

average historical volatility of a select peer group of similar companies, or

on a mix of the volatility of the price of our own common stock and that of

these peer companies as we develop more trading history and therefore can

begin to place more reliance on our stock price volatility. In addition, we

chose to use the risk free interest rate for the U.S. Treasury zero coupon

yield curve in effect at the time of grant for a bond with a maturity similar to

the expected life of the options.

Our incentive compensation plan allows for the issuance of restricted

stock awards that may not be sold or otherwise transferred until certain

restrictions have lapsed. We determine the share-based expense for

restricted stock awards based on the market price of our stock on the date of

grant applied to the total number of shares that are anticipated to fully vest.

For restricted stock issued, we have assumed a seven percent forfeiture rate

on all restricted stock awards issued to non-management employees, a six

percent forfeiture rate on all restricted stock awards issued to non-executive

management employees, and a zero percent forfeiture rate on restricted

stock awards issued to a limited number of executive employees.

Compensation expense is amortized over the vesting period.

See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included in this

annual report on Form 10-K for more information about our share-based

compensation expense.

Income Taxes
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Income taxes are recognized for the following: (1) amount of taxes

payable for the current year and (2) deferred tax assets and liabilities for the

future tax consequence of events that have been recognized differently in

the financial statements than for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are established using statutory tax rates and are adjusted for tax

rate changes. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it

is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will

not be realized.

We consider accounting for income taxes critical to our operations

because management is required to make significant subjective judgments

in developing our provision for income taxes, including the determination of

deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowances that may be

required against deferred tax assets. In addition, we operate within multiple

taxing jurisdictions and are subject to audit in these jurisdictions. These

audits can involve complex issues, which could require an extended period

of time to resolve. The completion of these audits could result in an increase

to amounts previously paid to the taxing jurisdictions.

The extent of our operations involves dealing with uncertainties and

judgments in the application of complex tax regulations in a multitude of

jurisdictions. We recognize potential liabilities and record tax liabilities for

anticipated tax audit issues in various tax jurisdictions based on our estimate

of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. We adjust

these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances. If our estimate

of tax liabilities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, an additional

charge to expense would result. If payment of these amounts ultimately

proves to be less than the recorded amounts, the reversal of the liabilities

would result in tax benefits being recognized in the period when we

determine the liabilities are no longer necessary.

See Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements included in this

annual report on Form 10-K for more information pertaining to income

taxes.

Accounts Receivable Allowances
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We extend credit to our customers, including advertisers, public notice

publishers, professional service customers and others, based upon an

evaluation of each customer’s financial condition, and collateral is generally

not required. We establish allowances for doubtful accounts based on

estimates of losses related to customer receivable balances. Specifically, we

use prior credit losses as a percentage of credit sales, the aging of accounts

receivable and specific identification of potential losses to establish reserves

for credit losses on accounts receivable.
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We consider accounting for our allowance for doubtful accounts critical

to our operating segments because of the significance of accounts receivable

to our current assets and operating cash flows. If the financial condition of

our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability

to make payments, additional allowances might be required, which could

have a material effect on our financial statements. See “Liquidity and

Capital Resources” below for information regarding our receivables,

allowance for doubtful accounts and day sales outstanding.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 of our audited consolidated financial statements included in

this annual report on Form 10-K for information about new accounting

pronouncements that we have adopted.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth selected operating results, including as a

percentage of total revenues, for the periods indicated below (in thousands,

except per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 % of Revenues 2009 % of Revenues 2008 % of Revenues

Revenues:

Professional

Services

Division $223,069 71.7% $172,535 65.6% $ 99,496 52.4%

Business

Information

Division 88,240 28.3% 90,382 34.4% 90,450 47.6%

Total revenues 311,309 100.0% 262,917 100.0% 189,946 100.0%
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Operating expenses:

Professional

Services

Division 169,664 54.5% 130,281 49.6% 75,255 39.6%

Business

Information

Division 72,078 23.2% 69,056 26.3% 74,453 39.2%

Unallocated

corporate

operating

expenses 11,266 3.6% 12,803 4.9% 11,667 6.1%

Total operating

expenses 253,008 81.3% 212,140 80.7% 161,375 85.0%

Equity in earnings

of affiliates 4,580 1.5% 4,615 1.8% 5,646 3.0%

Operating income 62,881 20.2% 55,392 21.1% 34,217 18.0%

Interest expense,

net (7,543) (2.4)% (7,206) (2.7)% (7,085) (3.7)%

Non-cash interest

expense (income)

related to interest

rate swaps 1,185 0.4% 1,134 0.4% (1,388) (0.7)%

Other income, net 197 0.1% 3,847 1.5% 33 —

Income before

income taxes 56,720 18.2% 53,167 20.2% 25,777 13.6%

Income tax expense (21,479) (6.9)% (18,570) (7.1)% (9,209) (4.8)%

Net income before

noncontrolling

interest 35,241 11.3% 34,597 13.2% 16,568 8.7%
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Less: Net income

attributable to

redeemable

noncontrolling

interests 2,886 0.9% 3,784 1.4% 2,265 1.2%

Net income

attributable to

The Dolan

Company $ 32,355 10.4% $ 30,813 11.7% $ 14,303 7.5%

Net income

attributable to

The Dolan

Company per

share — basic

and diluted $ 1.07 $ 1.03 $ 0.53

(Increase) decrease

in redeemable

noncontrolling

interest in NDeX 0.01 (0.31) —

Net income

attributable to

The Dolan

Company

common

stockholders per

share — basic

and diluted $ 1.08 $ 0.72 $ 0.53

Weighted average

shares

outstanding —

basic 30,151 29,832 26,985
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Weighted average

shares

outstanding —

diluted 30,314 29,916 27,113
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Year Ended December 31, 2010

Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009

Revenues

For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Increase

($’s in millions)

Total revenues $311.3 $262.9 $48.4 18.4%

Our total revenues increased primarily as a result of increased revenues

in our litigation support services segment, driven by our DiscoverReady

business which we acquired in November 2009. DiscoverReady’s revenues

grew $37.3 million in 2010 compared to 2009 when we only owned them

for two months. These operations generated $43.4 million in revenues

during 2010 (the DiscoverReady operations generated $25.9 million in

2009, of which $19.8 million was generated under previous ownership and

thus not included in our operating results for 2009). The increase in

mortgage default processing services revenues of $12.8 million was

primarily driven by a $10.3 million increase in revenues from our NDeX

Florida operations acquired in 2009. In 2010, these operations received

36,200 files for processing, compared to 15,600 files received in 2009

(which includes 11,400 files received in the first nine months of 2009 when

we did not own them). NDeX’s total file volume increased by 29,300 files,

from 349,500 in 2009 to 378,800 in 2010. Refer to the revenue discussion

below in “Professional Services Division Results” for more discussion on

NDeX’s file volume. Revenues in our Business Information Division

declined $2.1 million in 2010. You should refer to the more detailed

discussions in “Professional Services Division Results” and “Business

Information Division Results” below for more information regarding the

causes of these changes.
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We derived 71.7% and 65.6% of our total revenues from our Professional

Services Division and 28.3% and 34.4% of our total revenues from our

Business Information Division for the years ended December 31, 2010 and

2009, respectively. In our Professional Services Division, revenues from our

mortgage default processing services segment accounted for 52.8% and

57.6% of our total revenues in each of 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Revenues from our litigation support services segment (also part of our

Professional Services Division) accounted for 18.9% and 8.0% of our total

revenues in each of 2010 and 2009. This change in mix resulted primarily

from the DiscoverReady acquisition in 2009, as well as general economic

conditions in the markets our business information products serve. We

expect that, in 2011, total revenues in our Professional Services division will

continue to increase year-over-year and as a percentage of our total

revenues, particularly those revenues in our litigation support services

segment.

Operating Expenses

For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Increase (decrease)

($’s in millions)

Total operating expenses $253.0 $212.1 $40.9 19.3%

Direct operating expense 121.5 95.9 25.6 26.7%

Selling, general and administrative

expenses 105.7 89.7 16.0 17.8%

Depreciation expense 9.8 9.4 0.4 4.3%

Amortization expense 16.0 17.1 (1.1) (6.6)%

Total operating expenses as a percentage of revenues increased slightly

to 81.3% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 80.7% for the year

ended December 31, 2009.
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Direct Operating Expenses.  The increase in direct operating expenses

consisted of a $24.8 million increase in our Professional Services Division

and a $0.8 million increase in our Business Information Division. You

should refer to the more detailed discussions in “Professional Services

Division Results” and “Business Information
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Division Results” below for more information regarding the causes of these

increases. Direct operating expenses as a percentage of total revenues

increased to 39.0% for 2010, from 36.5% for 2009.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.  The increase in our

selling, general and administrative expenses consisted of a $14.9 million

increase in our Professional Services Division and a $2.4 million increase in

our Business Information Division. You should refer to the more detailed

discussions in “Professional Services Division Results” and “Business

Information Division Results” below for more information regarding the

causes of these increases.

Partially offsetting these increases in our operating divisions was a

$1.4 million year-over-year decrease in unallocated costs in our corporate

operations. The primary reason for this decrease is that in 2009, we incurred

a number of large medical claims, and our medical insurance allocations to

our divisions were not sufficient to cover such costs. In 2010, we increased

our allocations in order to cover anticipated claims, thus resulting in lower

costs that remained in corporate. This change resulted in a $1.1 million

year-over-year decrease in unallocated medical insurance costs in corporate.

For the total company, our medical costs increased $0.4 million. Also

contributing to the decrease in unallocated costs in our corporate operations

was a $0.3 million severance expense recorded in 2009 in connection with

the elimination of an executive officer position, for which we had no similar

expense in 2010.

Selling, general and administrative expense as a percentage of revenue

was relatively constant at 33.9% for 2010 compared to 34.1% for 2009.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense.  Our depreciation expense

increased primarily as a result of the finalization of the purchase price

accounting late in the third quarter of 2009 recorded in connection with the

Barrett-NDEx acquisition, which resulted in a higher allocation to

depreciable software. Our amortization expense decreased primarily

because of the additional $0.9 million of amortization expense recorded in
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2009 associated with the non-compete intangible asset attributable to

Michael Barrett, a senior officer at Barrett-NDEx, which was fully

amortized in 2009 as a result of his death in January 2009. Additionally, the

finalization of the purchase price allocation in 2009 of the intangible assets

associated with the Barrett-NDEx acquisition resulted in a reduction to

amortizable intangible assets, and, therefore, a reduction in amortization

expense. Partially offsetting these decreases was an increase in amortization

expense of $1.7 million as a result of the DiscoverReady acquisition.

Interest Expense, Net

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Increase (decrease)

($’s in millions)

Total interest expense, net $ 7.5 $ 7.2 $ 0.3 4.7%

Interest on bank credit facility 3.9 5.1 (1.1) (21.8)%

Cash interest expense on interest

rate swaps 2.5 1.7 0.8 49.2%

Amortization of deferred financing

fees 0.9 0.3 0.6 237.2%

Other 0.3 0.2 0.1 8.0%

Interest expense related to our bank credit facility decreased $1.1 million

in 2010. For 2010, our average outstanding borrowings on our credit facility

were $140.9 million compared to $151.9 million for 2009. Additionally, the

weighted average interest rate on those borrowings ranged from 2.3% —

2.5% in 2010, compared to 2.4% — 3.8% in 2009, therefore resulting in

lower interest expense. Cash interest incurred on our interest rate swaps

increased primarily as a result of the increase in the notional amount of our

swaps, and, to a lesser extent, interest rate changes. Amortization of

deferred financing fees increased as a result of the write-off in 2010 of

certain financing fees related to our previous credit facility.
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Non-Cash Interest Income Related to Interest Rate Swaps

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Increase

($’s in millions)

Non-cash interest income related to

interest rate swaps $ 1.2 $ 1.1 $0.1 4.5%

Non-cash interest income related to interest rate swaps, for which we do

not apply hedge accounting, increased $0.1 million. The estimated fair value

of all our fixed rate interest rate swaps, including those for which we apply

hedge accounting, recorded on our balance sheet changed by $0.9 million,

to a $2.4 million liability at December 31, 2010, from a $1.5 million

liability at December 31, 2009.

Other Income

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Decrease

($’s in millions)

Other income $ 0.2 $ 3.8 $(3.7) (94.9)%

The $0.2 million other income in 2010 relates to the receipt of escrow

funds related to the 2009 sale of our investment in GovDelivery, Inc. In

2009, we recorded a $2.4 million gain on the sale of our investment in

GovDelivery in 2009, as well as the $1.4 million net gain recorded related

to the receipt of insurance proceeds on the company-owned life insurance of

Michael Barrett, a senior officer of Barrett-NDEx, who passed away in

January 2009.
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Income Tax Expense

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Increase

($’s in millions)

Income tax expense $21.5 $18.6 $2.9 15.6%

Effective tax rate 37.9% 34.9%

Income tax expense increased in 2010 over 2009 primarily as a result of

higher income recorded in 2010, and an increase in our state income tax

expense. Income tax expense for 2010, as a percentage of income before

income taxes, was 37.9% compared to 34.9% for 2009. Income tax expense

for 2009 was favorably impacted by the receipt of non-taxable life insurance

proceeds which accounts for 1.1% of the rate differential year over year.

Professional Services Division Results

Revenues

For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Increase

($’s in millions)

Total Professional Services Division

revenues $223.1 $172.5 $50.5 29.3%

Mortgage default processing

service segment revenues 164.3 151.5 12.8 8.4%

Litigation support services segment

revenues 58.8 21.1 37.7 179.2%
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Our Professional Services revenues increased primarily as a result of

increased revenues in our litigation support services segment, driven by our

DiscoverReady business which we acquired in November 2009.

DiscoverReady’s revenues grew $37.2 million in 2010 compared to 2009

when we only owned them for two months. These operations generated

$43.4 million in revenues during 2010 (the DiscoverReady operations
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generated $25.9 million in 2009, of which $19.8 million was generated

under previous ownership and thus not included in our operating results for

2009). The increase in DiscoverReady’s revenues resulted primarily from

increased volume from two major customers, both of whom are in the

financial services industry. Counsel Press’ revenues, another component of

the litigation support services segment, grew 2.6% year-over-year on higher

case volumes. The increase in mortgage default processing services

revenues of $12.8 was primarily driven by a $10.3 million increase in

revenues from our NDeX operation in Florida which we acquired in

October 2009. These operations generated $12.6 million in revenues during

2010 (the NDeX Florida operations generated $2.3 million during the period

we owned them in 2009), having received approximately 36,200 files for

processing during 2010 (compared to 15,600 files in 2009, of which 11,400

were received for processing under previous ownership).

For the year ended December 31, 2010, we received for processing

approximately 378,800 mortgage default case files compared to

approximately 349,500 mortgage default case files that we received for

processing for the year ended December 31, 2009. Excluding the 36,200

files received by our operations in Florida, the file volume from our existing

NDeX business was relatively flat year-over-year (less than 0.8% decrease),

with some of our geographic locations experiencing growth, while other

saw volume decreases. We believe these flat volumes are due, in part, to the

various regulatory and marketplace dynamics experienced in 2010 as

described more fully in “Recent Developments — Regulatory Environment”

earlier in this annual report. We continue to believe that these programs will

not be effective in permanently modifying the large number of delinquent

loans, which constitute the pipeline for foreclosure referrals.

The Barrett Law Firm and Trott & Trott each accounted for more than

10%, and together accounted for approximately 70.5% of our mortgage

default processing services segment and 51.9% of our Professional Services

Division revenues in 2010. For the same period in 2009, Trott & Trott and

the Barrett Law Firm each accounted for more than 10% of our mortgage

default processing services segment and Professional Services Division
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revenues. The top two customers in our litigation support services segment

together accounted for nearly 58% of our litigation support services

revenues and 15.2% of Professional Services Division revenues.

Operating Expenses — Mortgage Default Processing Services

For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Increase (decrease)

($’s in millions)

Total operating expenses $125.0 $114.0 $11.0 9.6%

Direct operating expense 68.2 60.3 7.9 13.0%

Selling, general and administrative

expenses 40.2 34.9 5.4 15.4%

Depreciation expense 6.5 6.3 0.2 2.9%

Amortization expense 10.0 12.5 (2.4) (19.4)%

Total operating expenses in this segment increased largely as a result of

the operating costs of our NDeX operations in Florida acquired in October

2009. These operations accounted for $5.9 million of the increase in direct

operating expenses, and $3.8 million of the increase in selling, general, and

administrative expenses. A portion of the increase in Florida’s direct

operating expenses is due to investments being made to prepare for

anticipated volume increases. These investments include personnel,

facilities, and systems. Of the $3.8 million of selling, general and

administrative expenses from the Florida operations, $1.1 million is

attributable to the fair value adjustment related to the earnout liability

recorded in connection with this acquisition. Direct operating expenses in

our existing businesses increased $2.0 million, resulting from increased

personnel and other processing costs incurred. These increases are due in

part to legislation imposed in certain states that have added steps to the

foreclosure process and thus increased our processing costs. Selling, general

and administrative expenses in our existing businesses increased due to an

increase of $1.1 million in personnel costs and health insurance costs.
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Amortization expense decreased primarily because of the additional

$0.9 million of amortization expense recorded in 2009 associated with the

non-compete intangible asset attributable to Michael Barrett, a senior officer

at Barrett-NDEx, which was fully amortized in 2009 as a result of his death

in January 2009. Additionally, the finalization of the purchase price

allocation made in 2009 of the intangible assets associated with the

Barrett-NDEx
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acquisition resulted in a reduction to amortizable intangible assets, and

therefore a reduction in amortization expense. Partially offsetting these

decreases was an increase in amortization expense of $0.5 million as a result

of the amortizable intangible assets from our Florida operations acquired in

October 2009. Depreciation expense increased as a result of the finalization

of the purchase price allocation of Barrett-NDEx (as discussed above),

which resulted in a higher amount of depreciable software.

Total operating expenses attributable to our mortgage default processing

services segment as a percentage of segment revenues increased slightly to

76.1% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 75.3% for the year

ended December 31, 2009.

Operating Expenses — Litigation Support Services

For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Increase

($’s in millions)

Total operating expenses $44.7 $16.3 $28.4 Not meaningful

Direct operating expense 23.3 6.3 16.9 Not meaningful

Selling, general and

administrative 17.9 8.3 9.6 Not meaningful

Depreciation expense 0.7 0.2 0.5 Not meaningful

Amortization expense 2.8 1.4 1.4 Not meaningful

Total operating expenses in our litigation support services segment

increased primarily as a result of the operating costs of DiscoverReady,

which we acquired in November 2009. Total operating expenses attributable

to our litigation support services segment as a percentage of segment

revenues decreased to 76.0% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from

77.3% for the year ended December 31, 2009.
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Business Information Division Results

Revenues

For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2010 2009

Increase

(decrease)

($’s in millions)

Total Business Information

Division Revenues $88.2 $90.4 $(2.1) (2.4)%

Display and classified advertising

revenues 26.4 27.4 (1.0) (3.8)%

Public notice revenues 46.0 48.4 (2.4) (5.0)%

Subscription and other revenues 15.8 14.5 1.3 9.1%

Our display and classified advertising revenues decreased primarily due

to a decrease in the number of ads placed in our publications, as well as a

decrease in the average price paid per classified and display ad across our

publications, which we believe was driven by the continued struggling

economy in several of the markets we serve, and continued apprehension on

the part of our customers to return their marketing spending to previous

levels. A decrease in the number and frequency of specialty publications

and magazines published also contributed to the revenue decline. Partially

offsetting these decreases was an increase in revenue from our events, due

to an increase in the number of events held.

Our public notice revenues decreased due to an overall decrease in the

total number of public notice ads placed in our publications, most of which

are foreclosure notices. Approximately 61% of this revenue decrease was

driven by the decreased number of foreclosure notices placed in our

Maryland, Missouri, and Minnesota publications. These decreases were

largely due to slowdowns of public notice placements in the fourth quarter.
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These revenues declined sharply in the fourth quarter as increased scrutiny

made lenders more defensive about their foreclosure practices. Mounting

challenges to the integrity of the industry’s underlying paperwork, including

the so-called Robo-Signer scandal, prompted the major banks to declare a

series of voluntary foreclosure moratoriums in both
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judicial and non-judicial foreclosure states. Foreclosure advertising is our

predominant source of public notice revenue, and the temporary advertising

halts were felt across nearly all of our public notice markets, including our

three largest, Minnesota, Missouri and Maryland. Throughout this time

regulators were encouraging lenders to engage in more loan modifications

to stave off foreclosure. We believe these efforts have resulted in merely a

delay in foreclosure notices, rather than an elimination of them.

Subscription and other revenues increased as a result of the Federal

News Service and DataStream acquisitions in August 2010 and December

2010, respectively.

The business information products we target to the Missouri, Minnesota,

and Maryland markets each accounted for just over 10% of our Business

Information Division’s revenues for the years ended December 31, 2010 and

2009.

Operating Expenses

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 Increase (decrease)

($’s in millions)

Total direct and selling, general and

administrative expenses $ 72.1 $ 69.1 $ 3.0 4.4%

Direct operating expense 30.0 29.2 0.8 2.8%

Selling, general and administrative

expenses 37.0 34.6 2.4 7.0%

Depreciation expense 2.0 2.0 (0.1) (3.4)%

Amortization expense 3.1 3.2 (0.1) (4.6)%

Direct operating expenses increased primarily as a result of the Federal

News Service and DataStream acquisitions. Marketing and promotion,
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relating to venue, catering, and other event expenses also increased, due to

an increase in the number of events held in 2010. Production and

distribution costs decreased, primarily due to a reduction in the pages in our

print publications, as well as the printing of fewer specialty publications and

magazines and related postage expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased over the prior

year, most notably due to an increase in personnel expenses of $1.3 million,

in part due to the operating costs of the newly-acquired Federal News

Service and DataStream operations. Other increases included marketing

expenses to promote our newspapers and circulation efforts as well as new

product initiatives begun in the first quarter of 2010.

Total operating expenses attributable to our Business Information

Division as a percentage of Business Information Division revenue

increased to 81.7% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 76.4% for

the year ended December 31, 2009, largely as a result of a decrease in

public notice revenues, which are higher margin revenues.

Year Ended December 31, 2009

Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2008

Revenues

For The Years

Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Increase

($’s in millions)

Total revenues $262.9 $189.9 $73.0 38.4%

Our mortgage default processing services revenues accounted for the

majority of the increase in our revenues, all of which came from acquired
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businesses, primarily the $64.2 million in revenues from Barrett-NDEx. An

increase in public notice revenues of $7.0 million, along with $8.4 million

in revenues from our 2009 fourth quarter acquisitions of DiscoverReady and

Albertelli also contributed to our total increase in revenues for the period.

These
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increased revenues were offset by a $6.1 million decline in display and

classified advertising revenues in our Business Information Division as a

result of the local economic conditions in the markets we serve. Organic

revenues at NDeX were relatively flat year-over-year, which was primarily

caused by mortgage lender and loan servicer responses to 2009 legislation

in Michigan and Indiana.

We derived 65.6% and 52.4% of our total revenues from our Professional

Services Division and 34.4% and 47.6% of our total revenues from our

Business Information Division for the years ended December 31, 2009 and

2008, respectively. In our Professional Services Division, revenues from our

mortgage default processing services segment accounted for 57.6% and

44.5% of our total revenues in each of 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Revenues from our litigation support services segment (also part of our

Professional Services Division) accounted for 8.0% and 7.9% of our total

revenues in each of 2009 and 2008. This change in mix resulted primarily

from the Barrett-NDEx acquisition in September 2008 and the Albertelli

and DiscoverReady acquisitions in 2009, as well as general economic

conditions in the markets our business information products serve.

Operating Expenses

For the Years

Ended

December 31, Increase

2009 2008 (decrease)

($’s in millions)

Total operating expenses $212.1 $161.4 $50.8 31.5%

Direct operating expense 95.9 68.0 27.8 40.9%

Selling, general and

administrative expenses 89.7 74.3 15.5 20.8%

Break-up fee — 1.5 (1.5) Not meaningful

Depreciation expense 9.4 5.8 3.7 63.4%

Amortization expense 17.1 11.8 5.3 44.9%
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Total operating expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased to 80.7%

for the year ended December 31, 2009 from 85.0% for the year ended

December 31, 2008.

Direct Operating Expenses.  The increase in direct operating expenses

consisted of a $29.8 million increase in our Professional Services Division

and a $1.9 million decrease in our Business Information Division. You

should refer to the more detailed discussions in “Professional Services

Division Results” and “Business Information Division Results” below for

more information regarding the causes of this increase. Direct operating

expenses as a percentage of total revenues increased to 36.5% for 2009,

from 35.8% for 2008.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.  The increase in our

selling, general and administrative expenses consisted of a $16.6 million

increase in our Professional Services Division, a $3.8 million decrease in

our Business Information Division and a $2.6 million increase in costs

associated with our corporate operations as discussed below. The increase in

operating expenses attributable to our corporate operations was primarily

due to an increase in unallocated corporate insurance costs ($1.7 million),

$0.5 million of which is attributable to a change we made in 2008 related to

our medical self-insurance reserve to more closely reflect past claims

history. In addition, in 2009, performance-based pay for our executive

officers was $0.5 million higher than 2008 as a result of improved operating

performance. Selling, general and administrative expense as a percentage of

revenue decreased to 34.1% for 2009, from 39.1% for 2008. This is largely

due to expense control efforts that were put in place in our various

businesses, as well as the significant increase in revenues recorded in our

Professional Services Division in 2009 as a result of our acquisition of

Barrett-NDEx.

Break-up Fee.  There was no break-up fee paid in 2009. In 2008, we paid

$1.5 million to the sellers of a business we intended to acquire, but did not.

We made this payment pursuant to our agreement with such sellers because

we were unable to obtain debt financing on terms and timing that were
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satisfactory to us to close the acquisition. We have not entered into such

break-up or termination agreements with other sellers of acquisition targets.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense.  Our depreciation expense

increased due to increased levels of property and equipment in 2009,

primarily as a result of the acquisitions of Barrett-NDEx and

DiscoverReady, as
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well as other capital spending as discussed in “Liquidity and Capital

Resources — Cash from Financing Activities” below. Our amortization

expense increased primarily due to the amortization of finite-life intangible

assets acquired in the acquisition of Barrett-NDEx as well as the

DiscoverReady acquisition. Additionally, in 2009, we fully amortized that

portion of the non-compete intangible asset attributable to Michael Barrett,

a senior officer at Barrett-NDEx, as a result of his death in January 2009.

This resulted in an additional $0.9 million of amortization expense.

Interest Expense, Net

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Increase (decrease)

($’s in millions)

Total interest expense, net $ 7.2 $ 7.1 $ 0.1 1.7%

Interest on bank credit facility 5.1 6.1 (1.0) (17.0)%

Cash interest expense on interest

rate swaps 1.7 0.7 1.0 150.0%

Amortization of deferred financing

fees 0.3 0.2 — 18.1%

Other 0.2 0.1 0.1 107.4%

Interest expense related to our bank credit facility decreased $1.0 million

in 2009. For 2009, our average outstanding borrowings on our credit facility

were $151.9 million compared to $101.8 million for 2008. However, our

weighted average interest rate on those borrowings was significantly lower

(2.8% at December 31, 2009 as compared to 4.3% at December 31, 2008),

therefore resulting in lower interest expense. Cash interest incurred on our

interest rate swaps increased as a result of interest rate changes.

Non-Cash Interest Income (Expense) Related to Interest Rate Swaps
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For the Years Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Decrease

($’s in millions)

Non-cash interest income

(expense) related to

interest rate swaps $ (1.1) $ 1.4 $(2.5) Not meaningful

Non-cash interest expense related to interest rate swaps increased as a

result of a change in the estimated fair value of our interest rate swaps

driven by interest rate changes in 2009. The estimated fair value of our fixed

rate interest rate swaps recorded on our balance sheet changed by

$1.1 million, to a $1.5 million liability at December 31, 2009, from a

$2.6 million liability at December 31, 2008.

Other Income (Expense), net

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Increase

($’s in millions)

Other income (expense), net $ 3.8 $ — $3.8 Not meaningful

Other income (expense) net increased as a result of the $2.4 million gain

recorded on the sale of our investment in GovDelivery in 2009, as well as

the $1.4 million net gain recorded related to the receipt of insurance

proceeds on the company-owned life insurance of Michael C. Barrett, a

senior officer of Barrett-NDEx, who passed away in January 2009.
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Income Tax Expense

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Increase

($’s in millions)

Income tax expense $ 18.6 $ 9.2 $9.4 101.7%

Income tax expense increased in 2009 over 2008 primarily as a result of

significantly higher income recorded in 2009, primarily as a result of the

acquisition of Barrett-NDEx. Income tax expense for 2009, as a percentage

of income before income taxes, was 34.9% compared to 35.7% for 2008.

This was calculated including the income attributable to the noncontrolling

interests in NDeX and DiscoverReady. The decrease in the effective tax rate

from 2008 resulted primarily from the receipt of non-taxable life insurance

proceeds paid in 2009 on the death of Michael Barrett, a senior officer at

NDeX.

Because NDeX and DiscoverReady (our subsidiaries with a

noncontrolling interest) operate as partnerships, their respective income

before income taxes is not subject to federal taxation at the entity level. This

results in an effective tax rate for 2009 that is lower than the effective tax

rate that we would compute for The Dolan Company, excluding income

attributable to the noncontrolling interest. For year over year comparison

purposes, we have provided the effective tax rate computed for The Dolan

Company, excluding income attributable to the noncontrolling interest,

which was 37.3% for 2009 and 39.2% for 2008.

Professional Services Division Results

Revenues
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For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Increase

($’s in millions)

Total Professional Services Division

revenues $172.5 $99.5 $73.0 73.4%

Mortgage default processing service

segment revenues 151.5 84.6 66.9 79.2%

Litigation support services segment

revenues 21.1 14.9 6.1 40.9%

Professional Services Division revenues increased primarily due to the

increase in mortgage default processing service segment revenues.

Barrett-NDEx and the Albertelli acquisition added $64.2 million and

$2.3 million in revenues, respectively, in 2009. This increase was partially

offset by a decline in mortgage default processing service segment revenues

resulting from new legislation in Michigan and Indiana that took effect in

July 2009. While the Michigan legislation did not adversely impact the

number of files sent to us for processing during the year (when compared to

2008), it did lengthen the time over which we recognize revenue from these

files because it added steps to the foreclosure process. The Indiana

legislation negatively impacted the files we processed for our Indiana law

firm customer and corresponding revenue (when compared to 2008),

because it delays the start of a foreclosure action, and thus the time when a

file is sent to us for processing for a period of at least 30 days. For the year

ended December 31, 2009, we processed approximately 349,400 mortgage

default case files compared to approximately 204,100 mortgage default case

files that we processed for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Barrett-NDEx accounted for approximately 199,400, or 57.1%, of the files

we processed in 2009. Barrett-NDEx’s total file volume for 2008 was

172,500, which includes 58,000 files processed during the months that we

owned them.

The Barrett Law Firm and Trott & Trott each accounted for more than

10%, and together accounted for approximately 72.4% and 63.5% of our
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mortgage default processing services segment and Professional Services

Division revenues in 2009, respectively. For the same period in 2008,

Trott & Trott, Feiwell & Hannoy, and the Barrett Law Firm each accounted

for more than 10% of our mortgage default processing services segment and

Professional Services Division revenues.
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Litigation support services revenues increased $6.1 million in 2009,

resulting from the acquisition of DiscoverReady in November 2009 and our

entry into the discovery management and document review services line of

business.

Operating Expenses — Mortgage Default Processing Services

For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Increase

($’s in millions)

Total operating expenses $114.0 $63.4 $50.6 79.8%

Direct operating expense 60.3 33.4 27.0 80.9%

Selling, general and administrative

expenses 34.9 19.5 15.3 78.5%

Depreciation expense 6.3 2.9 3.4 115.1%

Amortization expense 12.5 7.6 4.9 64.3%

Total operating expenses in this segment increased primarily as a result

of the operating costs of Barrett-NDEx, which we acquired in September

2008. This added $46.3 million in operating expenses and accounted for

$24.8 million of the increase in direct operating expenses, and $13.5 million

of the increase in selling, general, and administrative expenses. Segment

operating expenses (exclusive of the effects of the Barrett-NDEx

acquisition) increased slightly over the prior year period due primarily to

increased personnel and health insurance costs.

Amortization expense increased from the amortization of finite-life

intangible assets associated with the acquisition of Barrett-NDEx, which

added $4.5 million in amortization expense. Depreciation expense also

increased as a result of the addition of the Barrett-NDEx assets.
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Total operating expenses attributable to our mortgage default processing

services segment as a percentage of segment revenues increased slightly to

75.3% for the year ended December 31, 2009 from 75.0% for the year

ended December 31, 2008.

Operating Expenses — Litigation Support Services

For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Increase

($’s in millions)

Total operating expenses $16.3 $11.8 $4.4 37.5%

Direct operating expense 6.3 3.6 2.8 77.7%

Selling, general and administrative 8.3 7.0 1.3 18.3%

Depreciation expense 0.2 0.1 0.1 44.0%

Amortization expense 1.4 1.1 0.3 29.3%

Total operating expenses in our litigation support services segment

increased primarily as a result of the operating costs of DiscoverReady,

which we acquired in November 2009. Counsel Press’ direct and selling,

general and administrative expenses were relatively flat in 2009 as

compared to 2008. Amortization expense increased from the amortization of

finite-life intangible assets associated with the acquisition of

DiscoverReady. Total operating expenses attributable to our litigation

support services segment as a percentage of segment revenues decreased to

77.3% for the year ended December 31, 2009 from 79.2% for the year

ended December 31, 2008.
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Business Information Division Results

Revenues

For the Years

Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Increase (decrease)

($’s in millions)

Total Business Information

Division Revenues $90.4 $90.5 $(0.1) (0.1)%

Display and classified advertising

revenues 27.4 33.5 (6.1) (18.2)%

Public notice revenues 48.4 41.5 7.0 16.8%

Subscription and other revenues 14.5 15.4 (1.0) (5.9)%

Our display and classified advertising revenues (which include revenues

from events) decreased primarily due to an approximate 17% decrease in

the number of ads placed in our publications, which we believe was driven

by the sluggish economy, as well as a decrease in the average price paid per

classified and display ad across our publications. A decrease in the number

and frequency of specialty publications and magazines published also

contributed to the revenue decline.

Our public notice revenues increased due to an approximate 9% increase

in the total number of public notice ads placed in our publications, most of

which are foreclosure notices. Foreclosure notices tend to be larger ads,

which we are generally required to publish multiple times and thus they

generate more revenue than other types of public notice. Approximately

36% of this revenue increase was driven by the increased number of

foreclosure notices placed in our Maryland publication. In 2009, a change in

public notice laws in Maryland delayed the timing of when foreclosure

notices were placed in this publication.
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Subscription and other revenues decreased due primarily to a decline in

the number of paid subscribers between December 31, 2008 and

December 31, 2009. As of December 31, 2009, our paid publications had

approximately 61,600 subscribers, a decrease of approximately 5,200, or

7.8%, from total paid subscribers of approximately 66,800 as of

December 31, 2008. The majority of this decrease in paid subscriptions over

these periods resulted from fewer responses to new subscription campaigns

and non-renewals of discounted bulk subscriptions at several law firms,

which we believe is a result of a sluggish economy. We believe reader

preference for online and web site access to our business journals, some of

which we have offered at discounted rates or no fee, has also contributed to

a decline in circulation and other revenues. Revenues lost from this decline

in paid subscriptions were partially offset by an increase in the average price

per paid subscription.

The business information products we target to the Missouri, Minnesota,

and Maryland markets each accounted for just over 10% of our Business

Information Division’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2009 and

2008. For the same period in 2008, the business information products we

target to the Missouri and Minnesota markets each accounted for just over

10% of our Business Information Division’s revenues.

Operating Expenses

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2009 2008 Increase (decrease)

($’s in millions)

Total direct and selling, general and

administrative expenses $ 69.1 $ 74.5 $(5.4) (7.2)%

Direct operating expense 29.2 31.1 (1.9) (6.2)%

Selling, general and administrative

expenses 34.6 38.4 (3.8) (9.8)%

Depreciation expense 2.0 1.8 0.2 10.8%
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Amortization expense 3.2 3.1 0.1 3.2%

Direct operating expenses decreased primarily as a result of decreased

production and distribution costs. These costs declined by $1.5 million

primarily due to a reduction in the pages in our print publications, as well as

the printing of fewer specialty publications and magazines and negotiating

contract price reductions with our primary
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printing vendors. Business units also reduced their contract labor and

freelance expenses as they relied more on in-house staff, thereby reducing

direct operating expenses by $0.2 million. In addition, decreased headcount

and lower commissions and performance-based pay, which resulted from

lower display and classified advertising revenue, accounted for another

$0.7 million of the decrease.

Selling, general and administrative expenses declined primarily as a

result of a reduction in personnel expenses, relating to a reduced headcount

and lower commission and performance-based payments ($1.5 million). A

$0.9 million reduction in bad debt expense as a result of more focused

collection efforts also contributed to this decrease. Partially offsetting these

decreases was an increase in promotional spending as we maintain and build

our brands in several of the markets we serve.

Total operating expenses attributable to our Business Information

Division as a percentage of Business Information Division revenue

decreased to 76.4% for the year ended December 31, 2009 from 82.3% for

the year ended December 31, 2008, largely as a result of an increase in

public notice revenues, which are higher margin revenues, and cost control

efforts we implemented during 2009.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have not entered into any off balance sheet arrangements.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations,

available capacity under our credit facility, distributions received from

DLNP, and available cash reserves. The following table summarizes our

cash and cash equivalents, working capital (deficit) and long-term debt, less

current portion as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, as well as cash flows for
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the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2010 2009

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,862 $ 2,894

Working capital (deficit) 2,156 (21,067)

Long-term debt, less current portion 131,568 137,960

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Net cash provided by operating

activities $ 64,423 $ 61,249 $ 34,451

Net cash used in investing activities:

Acquisitions and investments (17,808) (56,878) (182,423)

Capital expenditures (9,156) (3,050) (6,601)

Net cash (used) provided by

financing activities (35,688) (4,549) 155,583

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

The most significant inflows of cash are cash receipts from our

customers. Operating cash outflows include payments to employees,

payments to vendors for services and supplies and payments of interest and

income taxes.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended

December 31, 2010 increased $3.2 million, or 5.2%, to $64.4 million from

$61.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. This was primarily a

result of an increase in distributions from DLNP of $1.4 million and a

decrease in distributions paid to holders of noncontrolling interest of

$1.7 million. Distributions paid to holders of noncontrolling interest

decreased largely because of the reduction of the noncontrolling interest
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percentage in NDeX as discussed above in “Noncontrolling Interest.”

Changes in cash flows from our various operating assets and liabilities were

relatively consistent, in the aggregate, with 2009, with the exception being

the prepayment of federal and state income taxes as of December 31, 2010.

At December 31, 2010, we had prepaid $4.2 million of federal and state

income taxes. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended

December 31, 2009 increased $26.8 million, or 77.8%, to $61.2 million

from
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$34.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. This increase was

primarily the result of improved net income, largely as a result of the

acquired business of Barrett-NDEx in September 2008.

Working capital increased $23.2 million, to $2.2 million at December 31,

2010, from a deficit of $21.1 million at December 31, 2009, resulting

primarily from decreases in the current portion of our long-term debt, due to

a modification of our long-term debt agreement on December 6, 2010,

which caused a $14.4 million increase in working capital. Also contributing

to the increase in working capital, at December 31, 2010, we had

$4.2 million of prepaid income taxes on our balance sheet compared to a

payable balance of $1.1 million a year ago. We also had a $4.3 million

positive impact on working capital pertaining to the net change in accounts

receivable, unbilled pass-through costs, and accrued pass-through liabilities

resulting from improved cash collections and the timing of the payment of

pass-through liabilities and the subsequent billing of those costs to our

customers.

Our allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of gross receivables

and days sales outstanding, or DSO, as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and

2008 is set forth in the table below:

December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage

of gross accounts receivable 2.6% 1.9% 3.5%

Days sales outstanding 73.5 68.5 62.6

Our allowance for doubtful accounts as a percentage of gross accounts

receivable increased slightly in 2010. The decrease in allowance for

doubtful accounts in 2009 as a percentage of gross accounts receivable was

primarily a result of the addition of receivables from the Barrett Law Firm

for which no allowance for doubtful accounts is carried. No allowance is

carried on this account because, to date, we have not experienced any
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problems with respect to collecting payment from the Barrett Law Firm.

Additionally, focused collection efforts across our Business Information

operating units resulted in a decrease in the estimated reserves.

We calculate DSO by dividing net receivables by average daily revenue

excluding circulation. Average daily revenue is computed by dividing total

revenue by the total number of days in the period. Our DSO’s increased in

2010 due in part to longer collection cycles at DiscoverReady and also due

to DiscoverReady’s overall growth as a larger part of our company. In

calculating our DSO for the year ended December 31, 2009, we excluded

the effect that the Albertelli and DiscoverReady acquisitions had on our

total days sales outstanding as the inclusion of the DSOs attributable to

these businesses make comparison to prior year periods not meaningful. Our

DSO increased significantly from December 31, 2008 to December 31,

2009, primarily because the number of billed files from our Texas and

California operations as well as the number of unbilled pass-through costs

related to our California operations grew, increasing accounts receivable

from that operation.

We own 35.0% of the membership interests in Detroit Legal Publishing,

LLC, or DLNP, the publisher of Detroit Legal News, and received

distributions of $7.0 million, $5.6 million and $7.0 million for the years

ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The operating

agreement for DLNP provides for us to receive quarterly distribution

payments based on our ownership percentage, which are a significant source

of operating cash flow.

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Net cash used by investing activities decreased $29.5 million, to

$26.8 million in 2010 from $56.3 million in 2009. Uses of cash in both

periods pertained to acquisitions, capital expenditures and purchases of

software. Cash paid for acquisitions totaled $17.8 million for the year ended

December 31, 2010, and $56.9 million for the year ended December 31,

2009. Acquisition spending in 2010 related primarily to the acquisitions of

DataStream and Federal News. Capital expenditures and purchases of
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software were approximately $9.2 million in 2010. About 16% of our

capital spending in 2010 related to office moves, renovations and related

expenditures, and another 50% related to spending on various specific

technology enhancements. The remainder of our capital expenditure

spending in 2010 was used to acquire various equipment, software and

furniture for our operating units. We expect our capital expenditures to

account for approximately 2.5% — 3% of our total revenues in 2011,

including capital expenditures to improve and expand our data centers.
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Net cash used by investing activities decreased $132.7 million, to

$56.3 million in 2009 from $188.9 million in 2008. Uses of cash in both

periods pertained to acquisitions, capital expenditures and purchases of

software. Cash paid for acquisitions totaled $56.9 million for the year ended

December 31, 2009, and $182.4 million for the year ended December 31,

2008. Acquisition spending in 2009 related to earnouts paid in connection

with businesses we acquired in 2008, including $13.0 million related to

Barrett-NDEx, an additional investment made in GovDelivery, and, most

notably, the Albertelli and DiscoverReady acquisitions. Cash flows used by

investing activities were offset by $3.6 million in proceeds we received on

the sale of our investment in GovDelivery in December 2009. Capital

expenditures and purchases of software were approximately $3.1 million in

2009. About 27% of our capital spending in 2009 related to office moves

and related expenditures and a building restoration project at one of our

facilities, as well as upgrading our press equipment at our printing facilities,

and another 26% related to spending on various technology enhancements.

The remainder of our capital expenditure spending in 2009 was used to

acquire various equipment, software and furniture for our operating units.

Finite-life intangible assets increased $2.3 million, or 1.2%, to

$196.0 million at December 31, 2010 from $193.7 million at December 31,

2009. The change in finite-life intangible assets resulted primarily from the

assets in the Federal News and DataStream acquisitions. See “Recent

Acquisitions,” above for a discussion of these acquisitions.

Finite-life intangible assets decreased $61.2 million, or 24.0%, to

$193.7 million at December 31, 2009 from $254.9 million at December 31,

2008. The change in the finite-life intangible assets resulted primarily from

the completion of the valuation of the assets acquired in the Barrett-NDEx

acquisition and the reclassification of amounts previously recorded as

finite-life intangible assets. These assets, which were originally recorded in

connection with the Barrett-NDEx acquisition, were changed in connection

with the completion of the valuation of the acquired assets in the third

quarter of 2009. Partially offsetting this decrease was an increase in

finite-life intangible assets as a result of the Albertelli and DiscoverReady
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acquisitions, adding $14.3 million and $16.7 million, respectively, in

finite-life intangible assets in 2009.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill, increased

$2.8 million, or 1.3%, to $225.4 million at December 31, 2010 from

$222.6 million at December 31, 2009. This change resulted from the

preliminary valuation of the assets acquired in the DataStream acquisition

(which added $4.2 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets), as well as

the completion of the valuation of the assets acquired in the DiscoverReady

acquisition (which reduced indefinite-lived intangible assets by

$1.4 million) as more fully described in Note 3 to our consolidated financial

statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, including goodwill, increased

$103.6 million, or 87.1%, to $222.6 million at December 31, 2009 from

$119.0 million at December 31, 2008.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities primarily includes borrowings

under our revolving credit agreement, proceeds from the issuance of

long-term debt, and net proceeds from offerings of our stock, including our

private placement offering in 2008. Cash used in financing activities

generally includes the repayment of borrowings under the revolving credit

agreement and long-term debt, payments on unsecured notes, and the

payment of fees associated with the issuance of long-term debt.

Net cash provided (used) by financing activities increased from cash

used of $4.5 million in 2009 to cash used of $35.7 million in 2010. In 2010,

our primary financing activities were our restructuring of our credit facility

in the fourth quarter. Net cash payments included paying off the $8 million

balance on our revolving note that was outstanding as of December 31,

2009, making $9.8 million of scheduled payments on our previous term loan

(compared to $10.3 million in 2009), making payments on our unsecured

notes of $11.6 million, as well as the $5.0 million aggregate amount paid to
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the Albertelli Sellers for the earnout, holdback and deferred payments in

connection with our 2009 acquisition of the mortgage default processing

services business in Florida. Long-term debt, less current portion, decreased

$6.4 million to $131.6 million as of December 31, 2010. The current portion

includes $5.0 million of scheduled payments on our term loan and

$2.4 million on our unsecured notes payable to the Trott Sellers and

Feiwell & Hannoy in connection with our acquisition of their respective

interests in NDeX.

60

(/)



(.navbar-

collapse)



Dolan Co. - FORM 10-K - March 11, 2011 http://www.getfilings.com/sec-filings/110311/Dol...

179 of 335 05/08/2018 07:08 PM



Net cash provided (used) by financing activities changed from cash

provided of $155.6 million in 2008 to cash used of $4.5 million in 2009. In

2009, our financing activities were limited primarily to making scheduled

debt payments on our senior credit facility of $10.3 million and a

$1.8 million payment on an unsecured note payable, and net borrowings

under our revolving credit facility of $8.0 million, primarily used to fund

acquisition spending. Long-term debt, less current portion, decreased

$5.5 million to $138.0 million as of December 31, 2009. The current portion

includes an $8.0 million note payable to the Trott Sellers in connection with

our acquisition of a portion of their respective interest in NDeX.

Credit Agreement.  On December 6, 2010, we entered into a third

amended and restated credit agreement, effective December 6, 2010 (the

“New Credit Agreement”), with a syndicate of bank lenders for a

$205.0 million senior secured credit facility comprised of a term loan

facility in an initial aggregate amount of $50.0 million due and payable in

quarterly installments with a final maturity date of December 6, 2015 and a

revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of up to $155.0 million,

which may be increased pursuant to an “accordion” feature to up to

$200.0 million, with a final maturity date of December 6, 2015. At any time

after December 6, 2012, if the outstanding principal balance of revolving

loans under the revolving credit facility of the New Credit Agreement

exceeds $50.0 million, $50.0 million of such revolving loans shall convert

to an amortizing term loan due and payable in quarterly installments with a

final maturity date of December 6, 2015. The New Credit Agreement

restated our previous credit agreement in its entirety. In connection with this

new credit facility, we paid approximately $1.9 million in bank and legal

fees.

In 2008, we drew an aggregate $101.0 million, net, of revolving loans to

fund the acquisition of businesses we acquired in 2008, including

Barrett-NDEx, and for general working capital purposes. In 2008, we

converted $110 million of these revolving loans, which included the

opening balance of $9.0 million plus net new borrowings of $101.0 million,

to term loans in accordance with the terms of our then existing credit
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facility. In 2009, we drew an aggregate $8.0 million, net, of revolving loans

to fund the acquisition of businesses we acquired in 2009, along with other

payments due to the sellers of businesses we acquired in 2008, and for

general working capital purposes. In the first quarter of 2010, we paid down

the $8.0 million balance on the revolver. In December 2010, we drew

$84.0 million on the revolver under the New Credit Agreement, which we

used in part to pay off the previous term loan.

As of December 31, 2010, we had $50.0 million outstanding under our

term loan, and $84.0 million outstanding under our revolving variable-rate

notes and available capacity of approximately $71.0 million, after taking

into account the senior leverage ratio requirements under the credit

agreement. We expect to use the remaining availability under our credit

facility, if needed, for working capital and other general corporate purposes,

including the financing of other acquisitions.

Our New Credit Agreement permits us to elect whether outstanding

amounts under the term loan facility and the revolving credit facility accrue

interest based on a base rate or a Eurocurrency rate (specifically, LIBOR) as

determined in accordance with the New Credit Agreement, in each case,

plus a margin that fluctuates on the basis of the ratio of our total liabilities to

pro forma EBITDA. The margin on the base rate loans may fluctuate

between 0.5% and 2.0% and the margin on the Eurocurrency rate loans may

fluctuate between 2.0% and 3.5%. If we elect to have interest accrue

(i) based on the base rate, then such interest is due and payable on the first

business day of each month and (ii) based on a Eurocurrency rate, then such

interest is due and payable at the end of the applicable interest period that

we have elected, provided that if the applicable interest period is longer than

three months, interest will be due and payable in three month intervals. At

December 31, 2010, the combined weighted average interest rate on our

senior term note and revolver was 2.5%.

Our obligations are secured by liens on substantially all of the assets of

such entities, including pledges of equity interests in the consolidated

subsidiaries.
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The New Credit Agreement contains provisions for the issuance of letters

of credit under the revolving credit facility. It also permits us to pay cash

dividends to our common stockholders as well as establish a stock

repurchase program pursuant to which we may repurchase shares of our

stock, subject to a debt leverage ratio requirement. In addition, our New

Credit Agreement contains a number of negative covenants that, unless

consents are received, limit us from, among other things and with certain

thresholds and exceptions: incurring indebtedness (including guarantee

obligations) or liens; entering into mergers, consolidations, liquidations or

dissolutions; selling assets;
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entering into certain acquisition transactions; forming or entering into

partnerships and joint ventures; entering into negative pledge agreements;

entering into transactions with affiliates; making investments; entering into

sale and leaseback transactions; and changing our line(s) of business.

The New Credit Agreement requires that, as of the last day of any fiscal

quarter, we and our consolidated subsidiaries not permit: our total cash flow

leverage ratio to be more than 3.00 to 1.00 (or 3.50 to 1.00 following an

acquisition triggering event); fixed charge coverage ratio to be less than

2.00 to 1.00; and adjusted EBITDA for the previous two fiscal quarters to

be less than $27.5 million, which amount may increase up to $35 million

upon increase of the revolving credit facility pursuant to the accordion

feature. This total cash flow leverage ratio represents, for any particular

date, the ratio of our outstanding indebtedness (minus cash and cash

equivalents in excess of $5 million) to our pro forma EBITDA, calculated in

accordance with our New Credit Agreement, for the four fiscal quarters

ended on, or most recently ended before, the applicable date. Our fixed

charge coverage ratio, for any particular date, is equal to the ratio of (1) our

adjusted EBITDA, calculated in accordance with our New Credit

Agreement (less income taxes paid in cash, net capital expenditures paid in

cash, and certain restricted payments paid in cash), to (2) interest expense

plus scheduled principal payments on account of the term loan facility and

our interest bearing liabilities plus all payments made pursuant to

non-competition or consulting fees paid by us in connection with

acquisitions plus dividends paid, for the four fiscal quarters ended on, or

most recently ended before, the applicable date. If we are required to take an

impairment charge to our goodwill in the future, we do not expect that

charge to impact our ability to comply with the covenants contained in our

New Credit Agreement because impairment charges are excluded from the

calculation of EBITDA for purposes of meeting the fixed coverage and

senior leverage ratios and because there is no net worth minimum covenant

in such agreement.

Future Needs
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We expect that cash flow from operations, supplemented by short and

long-term financing and the proceeds from our credit facility, as necessary,

will be adequate to fund day-to-day operations and capital expenditure

requirements, along with our payment obligations to the Trott Sellers in

connection with our purchase of their ownership interest in NDeX and to

Feiwell & Hannoy in connection with the exercise of its put right, both as

described in “Recent Developments — Increase in our Ownership in

NDeX.” However, our ability to generate sufficient cash flow in the future

could be adversely impacted by regulatory, lender and other responses to the

mortgage crisis, including new and proposed legislation and lenders’

voluntary and required loss mitigation efforts and moratoria, including those

described in “Recent Developments — Regulatory Environment” earlier in

this annual report.

A decision to repurchase shares of our common stock as permitted under

our stock repurchase program may impact our cash needs in the future. This

program was approved by our board of directors in December 2010, and in

the first quarter of 2011 we repurchased 137,500 shares under this program

for an aggregate of $1.7 million. See “Recent Developments — Stock

Buy-Back Plan” earlier in this annual report on Form 10-K for a discussion

of this plan.

We plan to continue to develop and evaluate potential acquisitions to

expand our product and service offerings and customer base and enter new

geographic markets. We intend to fund these acquisitions over the next

twelve months with funds generated from operations and borrowings under

our credit facility. We may also need to raise money to fund these

acquisitions, as we did for the acquisition of Barrett-NDEx in 2008, through

the sale of our equity securities or additional debt financing, including

takedowns under our $200 million shelf registration statement declared

effective by the SEC on January 27, 2010.

Our ability to secure short-term and long-term financing in the future

will depend on several factors, including our future profitability and cash

flow from operations, the quality of our short and long-term assets, our

relative levels of debt and equity, the financial condition and operations of
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acquisition targets (in the case of acquisition financing) and the overall

condition of the credit markets.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table represents our obligations and commitments to make

future payments under contracts, such as lease agreements, and other

contingent commitments, as of December 31, 2010. Actual payments in

future periods may vary from those reflected in the table.

Less than After

1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years Total

(In thousands)

Term loan(1) $ 6,424 $18,803 $ 84,093 $ — $109,320

Revolving note(2) 2,520 3,540 36,040 — 42,100

Holdback, deferred cash

payment, and earnouts

payable — Albertelli

Sellers(3) 4,000 3,000 — — 7,000

Capital leases 203 70 — — 273

Operating leases(4) 6,171 8,081 4,630 7,562 26,444

Note payable on purchase

of noncontrolling

interest in NDeX from

Trott Sellers(5) 1,336 1,336 — — 2,672

Note payable on

redemption of

noncontrolling interest

in NDeX from

Feiwell & Hannoy(6) 1,235 1,235 — — 2,470

Noncontrolling interest

put right in NDeX(7) — 6,263 7,283 — 13,546

Noncontrolling interest

put right in

DiscoverReady(8) — 13,652 — — 13,652
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Holdback and earnout

payments —

DataStream(9) — 5,500 — — 5,500

Other 200 — — — 200

$22,089 $61,480 $132,046 $7,562 $223,177

(1) Consists of principal and interest payments due to the syndicate of

lenders who are holders of our term loan, and assumes the amount

outstanding as of December 31, 2010, remains outstanding until

maturity, and assumes $50.0 million is converted to term loan 30 days

following the second anniversary of the closing date of the credit facility

as required by the terms of the credit agreement. Further assumes an

interest rate until the maturity date equal to 3.0% per annum.

(2) Consists of principal and interest payments due to the syndicate of

lenders who are holders of our revolving notes, and assumes the amount

outstanding as of December 31, 2010, remains outstanding for two years

after closing date of the credit facility, 30 days after which $50.0 million

is converted to term loan as discussed above. Further assumes an interest

rate until the maturity date equal to 3.0% per annum.

(3) In connection with our acquisition of the mortgage default processing

and related services business of the Albertelli Sellers on October 1,

2009, we are obligated to pay to the Albertelli Sellers an additional

$1.0 million on October 1, 2011. In addition, we may be obligated to pay

the Albertelli Sellers up to an additional $6.0 million in two annual

installments of up to $3.0 million each. The amount of these annual cash

payments will be based upon the adjusted EBITDA for the acquired

mortgage default processing and related services business during the

twelve calendar months ending on each of September 30, 2011, and

2012. The amount we have disclosed in the table assumes that the

EBITDA targets are met in each measurement period.
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(4) We lease office space and equipment under certain noncancelable

operating leases that expire in various years through 2027. Lease terms

generally range from 5 to 10 years with one to two renewal options for

extended terms. The amounts included in the table above represent

future minimum lease payments for noncancelable operating leases.

(5) Under two common units purchase agreements, we acquired a 7.6%

ownership interest in NDeX from the Trott Sellers (who are the former

members of APC Investments, LLC), and agreed to pay, in part, an

aggregate $13.0 million in cash. The remaining balance due is payable

to the Trott Sellers in monthly installments through December 1, 2012,

at a rate of 4.25%. Amounts in the table above include the actual

payments we are obligated to make in connection with each of the two

common unit purchase agreements we entered with the Trott Sellers.
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(6) Under the terms of a redemption agreement with Feiwell & Hannoy, we

agreed to pay $3.5 million in installments for the redemption of a 1.7%

ownership interest in NDeX from Feiwell & Hannoy. The note is

payable in 12 quarterly installments through December 3, 2012, with

interest accruing at a rate of 5.25% per annum. Amounts in the table

above include the actual payments we are obligated to make in

connection with the redemption agreement with Feiwell & Hannoy.

(7) Each of the minority members of NDeX has the right to require NDeX

to repurchase all or any portion of the NDeX membership interest held

by them. To the extent any minority member of NDeX timely exercises

this right, the purchase price would be based upon 6.25 times NDeX’s

trailing twelve month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and

amortization less the aggregate amount of any interest bearing

indebtedness outstanding for NDeX as of the date the repurchase occurs.

The put right for the sellers of Barrett-NDEx (who hold a 6.2%

membership interest in NDeX, in the aggregate) is exercisable for a

period of six months following September 2, 2012. With respect to this

put right, it is not possible to provide the exact amount NDeX might be

obligated to pay if the sellers of Barrett-NDEx were to exercise this right

at such time. The amount we have disclosed in the table is provided as

an example of the purchase price that would be payable by NDeX in the

form of unsecured notes if (x) all of the sellers of Barrett-NDEx exercise

their right in full to require NDeX to repurchase their membership

interest at the earliest date possible and (y) NDeX’s pro forma EBITDA

for the twelve months ending on the repurchase date and interest-bearing

indebtedness outstanding on the repurchase date were equal to those

amounts as of December 31, 2010, which were $55.8 million and

$145.9 million, respectively. These amounts would be payable over

three years after the exercise date and would accrue interest at a rate

equal to prime plus 2%, which (using the prime rate as of December 31,

2010) is reflected in the amounts set forth in the table. These amounts

are being provided for informational purposes only and may not be

representative of the actual amount NDeX may be obligated to pay in

connection with the put right of the sellers of Barrett-NDEx.
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(8) DR Holdco has the right, for a period of ninety days following

November 2, 2012, to require DiscoverReady to repurchase all of its

equity interest in DiscoverReady. During that same period, we also have

the right to require DR Holdco to sell all or a portion its equity interest

in DiscoverReady to us. If either of these rights are timely exercised, we

would pay DR Holdco an amount based on the fair market value of the

equity interest. These rights may be exercised earlier under the

following circumstances: An individual seller of DiscoverReady may

require DiscoverReady to repurchase the portion of DR Holdco’s

interest in DiscoverReady that he beneficially owns if he is terminated

without cause or quits for good reason prior to the expiration of his

employment agreement. If we terminate any individual seller of

DiscoverReady for cause or if such seller quits without good reason, we

can require DR Holdco to sell to us the portion of its interest in

DiscoverReady that reflects such seller’s beneficial interest in us. The

purchase price for that portion of the equity interest repurchased or sold

if these rights are exercised will be based on fair market value.

It is not possible to provide the exact amount DiscoverReady might be

obligated to pay if DR Holdco or we were to exercise our respective

rights when they are exercisable. The amounts we have disclosed in the

table is provided as an example of the purchase price that would be

payable by DiscoverReady if (x) DR Holdco or we exercise our

respective right in full as described above at the earliest date possible,

and (y) that the fair market value of DR Holdco’s interest in

DiscoverReady is $13.6 million, which is equal to the adjusted book

value of this interest at December 31, 2010. The amount in the table

above assumes we would make this payment in cash to the extent

allowable by the terms and conditions of our then-existing bank credit

agreement. This amount is being provided for informational purposes

only and may not be representative of the actual amount DiscoverReady

may be obligated to pay in connection with the exercise of the rights

described above.
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(9) In connection with our acquisition of the equity interests of DataStream,

we are obligated to pay up to $1.5 million 18 months after closing which

was held back to secure indemnification claims, and may be obligated to

pay earnouts up to an aggregate $4.0 million in two annual installments.

The amount of the two annual earnout payments is based upon the

acquired business achieving certain EBITDA targets during the calendar

years ending December 31, 2011 and 2012. The amount we have

disclosed in the table assumes that the EBITDA targets are met in each

measurement period.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks related to interest rates. Other types of

market risk, such as foreign currency risk, do not arise in the normal course

of our business activities. Our exposure to changes in interest rates is

limited to borrowings under our credit facility. However, as of

December 31, 2010, we had two swap arrangements that convert

$75 million of our variable rate term loan into a fixed rate obligation. The

aggregate notional amount of the swap agreements was $75 million, of

which $25 million will mature on March 31, 2011, and the balance of the

$50 million notional swap will mature on various dates through June 30,

2014. We enter into derivative financial instrument transactions, such as

swaps or interest rate caps, in order to manage or reduce our exposure to

risk from changes in interest rates. We do not enter into derivatives or other

financial instrument transactions for speculative purposes.

We recognize all of our derivative instruments as either assets or

liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. We record the fair

value of our swap agreements in accrued liabilities or other liabilities on our

balance sheet, depending on the timing of the expiration of the swap

agreement. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative

instrument, like our interest rate swap agreements, depends on whether it

has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting. As of December 31,

2010, we have designated only the interest rate swap agreement that

terminates on June 30, 2014, for hedge accounting treatment. Accordingly,

we record changes in the fair value of this swap agreement in other

comprehensive income or loss (net of tax) on our balance sheet for the

period then ended. Conversely, we treat the fair value of the swap agreement

that terminates on March 31, 2011, and does not qualify for hedge

accounting treatment, as a component of interest income (expense) in our

statement of operations for the period then ended.

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, we recognized interest

income of $1.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively, related to the fair
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value of the interest rate swap agreement that does not qualify for hedge

accounting. At December 31, 2010, we have $1.3 million (net of tax)

included in other comprehensive loss related to the change in fair value of

the interest rate swap agreement that terminates on June 30, 2014, and does

qualify for hedge accounting. We did not record other comprehensive

income for the year ended December 31, 2009, because we did not have an

interest rate swap agreement in effect at the end of that period which

qualified, and was designated, for hedge accounting treatment. At

December 31, 2010 and 2009, the estimated fair value of our fixed interest

rate swaps was a liability of $2.4 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

If the future interest yield curve decreases, the fair value of the interest

rate swap agreements will decrease and interest expense will increase. If the

future interest yield curve increases, the fair value of the interest rate swap

agreements will increase and interest expense will decrease.

Based on the variable-rate debt included in our debt portfolio, a 75 basis

point increase in interest rates would have resulted in additional interest

expense of $0.5 million (pre-tax), $0.8 million (pre-tax), and $0.5 million

(pre-tax) in the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,

respectively.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplemental Data
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC

ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

The Dolan Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The

Dolan Company and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,

2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations,

stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31, 2010. These financial statements are the responsibility

of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the

financial statements of The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC, an entity

in which the Company has a 35% ownership interest. Those financial

statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished

to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for The

Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC, is based solely on the report of the

other auditors. The Company has a $13.2, $15.5 and $16.2 million

investment in and has recorded equity in earnings of $4.7, $4.9 and

$5.6 million of The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC as of and for the

years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An

audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing

the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation. We believe that our audits and the report of the other auditors

provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors,

the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all

material respects, the financial position of The Dolan Company and

Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of their

operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted

accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), The Dolan

Company and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control —

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 11,

2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the

Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ McGladrey & Pullen, LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota

March 11, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC

ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Members

The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC

Detroit, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying statements of financial position of

The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC as of December 31, 2010 and

2009, and the related statements of operations, members’ equity, and cash

flows for the three years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. These

financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements

based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An

audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a

basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Accordingly we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a

test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial

statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the

overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly,

in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of

December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash
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flows for years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, in conformity

with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP

Southfield, Michigan

February 6, 2011
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2010 2009

(In thousands, except

share data)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,862 $ 2,894

Accounts receivable, including unbilled services (net of

allowances for doubtful accounts of $1,578 and $1,113

as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively) 59,801 57,205

Unbilled pass-through costs 7,140 13,087

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,186 2,948

Income tax receivable 4,183 —

Total current assets 80,172 76,134

Investments 13,808 15,479

Property and equipment, net 17,333 15,457

Finite-life intangible assets, net 195,959 193,687

Indefinite-lived intangible assets 225,373 222,580

Other assets 3,143 4,953

Total assets $535,788 $528,290

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt $ 7,578 $ 22,005

Accounts payable 15,589 16,030

Accrued pass-through liabilities 18,271 25,929
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Accrued compensation 5,409 4,384

Accrued liabilities 5,537 5,371

Due to sellers of acquired businesses 3,943 4,685

Deferred revenue 21,689 18,797

Total current liabilities 78,016 97,201

Long-term debt, less current portion 131,568 137,960

Deferred income taxes 7,794 8,160

Deferred revenue and other liabilities 12,972 9,506

Total liabilities 230,350 252,827

Redeemable noncontrolling interest 26,580 26,600

Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)

Stockholders’ equity

Common stock, $0.001 par value; authorized:

70,000,000 shares; outstanding: 30,511,408 shares and

30,326,437 as of December 31, 2010 and 2009,

respectively 30 30

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, authorized:

5,000,000 shares; designated: 5,000 shares of Series A

Junior Participating Preferred Stock; no shares

outstanding — —

Other comprehensive loss (net of tax) (1,298) —

Additional paid-in capital 286,148 287,210

Accumulated deficit (6,022) (38,377)

Total stockholders’ equity 278,858 248,863

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $535,788 $528,290

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenues

Professional Services $ 223,069 $ 172,535 $ 99,496

Business Information 88,240 90,382 90,450

Total revenues 311,309 262,917 189,946

Operating expenses

Direct operating: Professional

Services 91,481 66,697 36,932

Direct operating: Business

Information 30,014 29,197 31,116

Selling, general and

administrative 105,717 89,722 74,257

Break-up fee — — 1,500

Amortization 15,954 17,085 11,793

Depreciation 9,842 9,439 5,777

Total operating expenses 253,008 212,140 161,375

Equity in earnings of affiliates 4,580 4,615 5,646

Operating income 62,881 55,392 34,217

Non-operating income (expense)

Interest expense, net of

interest income (7,543) (7,206) (7,085)
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Non-cash interest income

(expense) related to interest

rate swaps 1,185 1,134 (1,388)

Other income 197 3,847 33

Total non-operating expense (6,161) (2,225) (8,440)

Income before income taxes 56,720 53,167 25,777

Income tax expense (21,479) (18,570) (9,209)

Net income 35,241 34,597 16,568

Less: Net income attributable to

redeemable noncontrolling

interests 2,886 3,784 2,265

Net income attributable to

The Dolan Company $ 32,355 $ 30,813 $ 14,303

Earnings per share — basic

and diluted :

Net income attributable to

The Dolan Company $ 1.07 $ 1.03 $ 0.53

(Increase) decrease in

redeemable noncontrolling

interest in NDeX 0.01 (0.31) —

Net income attributable to

The Dolan Company

common stockholders $ 1.08 $ 0.72 $ 0.53

Weighted average shares

outstanding:

Basic 30,150,837 29,831,660 26,985,345

Diluted 30,314,174 29,916,351 27,112,683

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Additional Other

Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Total

(In thousands, except share data)

Balance (deficit) at

December 31,

2007 25,088,718 $ 25 $212,364 $ (83,493) $ — $128,896

Net income

attributable to

The Dolan

Company — — — 14,303 14,303

Private placement

of common

stock, net of

offering costs 4,000,000 4 60,483 — — 60,487

Issuance of

common stock

in a business

acquisition 825,528 1 16,460 — — 16,461

Issuance of

common stock

pursuant to the

exercise of

stock options 8,089 — 21 — — 21
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Share-based

compensation

expense,

including

issuance of

restricted stock

(shares are net

of forfeitures) 32,683 — 1,918 — — 1,918

Tax benefit on

stock options

exercised — — 64 — — 64

Balance (deficit) at

December 31,

2008 29,955,018 $ 30 $291,310 $ (69,190) $ — $222,150

Net income

attributable to

The Dolan

Company — — — 30,813 30,813

Increase in

redeemable

noncontrolling

interest in

NDeX, net of

tax — — (9,262) — — (9,262)

Net income

attributable to

The Dolan

Company

common

stockholders — — — — — 21,551
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Issuance of

common stock

in connection

with a purchase

of

noncontrolling

interest in

NDeX 248,000 — 2,600 — — 2,600

Issuance of

common stock

pursuant to the

exercise of

stock options 9,533 — 16 — — 16

Share-based

compensation

expense,

including

issuance of

restricted stock

(shares are net

of forfeitures) 113,886 — 2,556 — — 2,556

Other — — (10) — — (10)

Balance (deficit) at

December 31,

2009 30,326,437 $ 30 $287,210 $ (38,377) $ — $248,863

Net income

attributable to

The Dolan

Company — — — 32,355 32,355

Decrease in

redeemable

noncontrolling

interest in

NDeX, net of

tax — — 217 — — 217
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Net income

attributable to

The Dolan

Company

common

stockholders 32,572

Unrealized loss on

interest rate

swap, net of tax — — — (1,298) (1,298)

Total

comprehensive

income 31,274

Issuance of

common stock

pursuant to the

exercise of

stock options 13,848 — 26 — — 26

Share-based

compensation

expense,

including

issuance of

restricted stock

(shares are net

of forfeitures) 171,123 — 3,242 — — 3,242

Increase in

redeemable

noncontrolling

interest in

DiscoverReady,

net of tax — — (4,560) — — (4,560)

Other — — 13 — — 13
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Balance (deficit) at

December 31,

2010 30,511,408 $ 30 $286,148 $ (6,022) $ (1,298) $278,858

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income $ 35,241 $ 34,597 $ 16,568

Distributions received from The Detroit Legal News

Publishing, LLC 7,000 5,600 7,000

Distributions paid to holders of noncontrolling interests (1,662) (3,240) (1,351)

Gain on sale of investment (197) (2,359) —

Non-cash operating activities:

Amortization 15,954 17,085 11,793

Depreciation 9,842 9,439 5,777

Equity in earnings of affiliates (4,580) (4,615) (5,646)

Stock-based compensation expense 3,242 2,556 1,918

Deferred income taxes 2,913 2,306 735

Change in value of interest rate swap (1,185) (836) 1,593

Amortization of debt issuance costs 868 257 218

Change in accounting estimate related to self-insured

medical reserve — — (470)

Non-cash fair value adjustment on earnout recorded in

connection with acquisition 1,070 — —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects

of business combinations:

Accounts receivable and unbilled pass-through costs 4,595 (15,951) (2,313)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (5,287) 2,089 (746)

Other assets 398 (451) 226

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (7,256) 9,195 (2,340)

Deferred revenue and other liabilities 3,467 5,577 1,489

Net cash provided by operating activities 64,423 61,249 34,451
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Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisitions and investments (17,808) (56,878) (182,423)

Capital expenditures (9,156) (3,050) (6,601)

Proceeds on the sale of investment — 3,558 —

Other 197 108 100

Net cash used in investing activities (26,767) (56,262) (188,924)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net borrowings (payments) on senior revolving note (7,675) 8,000 (9,000)

Proceeds from borrowings or conversions on senior term

notes — — 110,000

Payments on senior long-term debt (9,775) (10,300) (5,000)

Payments of deferred acquisition costs and earnouts (5,000) — —

Proceeds from private placement of common stock, net of

offering costs — — 60,483

Capital contribution from holder of noncontrolling

interest — — 1,179

Payment on unsecured notes payable (11,565) (1,750) (1,750)

Payments of deferred financing costs (1,491) (466) (407)

Other (182) (33) 78

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (35,688) (4,549) 155,583

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,968 438 1,110

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,894 2,456 1,346

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 4,862 $ 2,894 $ 2,456

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 6,343 $ 6,834 $ 7,340

Income taxes 23,021 13,658 10,607

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and

financing information
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Due to or notes payable to sellers of acquired businesses $ 6,365 $ 4,685 $ 75

Note payable to seller of noncontrolling interest 8,450 8,000 —

Issuance of noncontrolling interest for acquisition — — 11,552

Issuance of common stock for acquisition and purchase of

noncontrolling interest — 2,600 16,461

Non-cash buildout allowances at leased facilities — 55 103

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1.  Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business:  The Dolan Company and its subsidiaries (the

“Company”) is a leading provider of professional services and business

information to legal, financial and real estate sectors in the United States.

The Company operates in three reportable segments. Those segments are

Mortgage Default Processing Services, Litigation Support Services and

Business Information. The Mortgage Default Processing Services and

Litigation Support Services segments comprise the Company’s Professional

Services Division. The Company’s Mortgage Default Processing Services

segment (comprised of NDeX) provides mortgage default processing

services to eight law firm customers in seven states and directly to loan

servicers and lenders on California and Nevada foreclosure files. The

Company’s Litigation Support Services segment (comprised of

DiscoverReady and Counsel Press) provides discovery management and

document review services and appellate services to the legal community.

The Company’s Business Information segment supplies information to the

legal, financial, real estate and governmental affairs sectors through a

variety of subscription-based products and media, including court and

commercial newspapers, business journals, events, the Internet and other

electronic media offerings. Effective May 26, 2010, the Company changed

its name from Dolan Media Company to The Dolan Company.

Basis of Presentation:  The Company operates its majority owned

subsidiary, American Processing Company, LLC, under the trade name

National Default Exchange, or NDeX. Therefore, when the Company refers

to “NDeX” in these notes, it means all of its mortgage default processing

operations in Michigan, Indiana, Minnesota, Florida and at Barrett-NDEx,

which serves the Texas, Nevada, California and Georgia markets, all of

which the Company formerly referred to as APC, as well as the mortgage
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default processing services operations in Florida acquired from the

Albertelli Sellers on October 1, 2009. When the Company refers to

“Barrett-NDEx” in these notes, it means the entities that constitute the

mortgage default processing operations serving the Texas, California and

Georgia markets which NDeX acquired on September 2, 2008, as described

in Note 3 under “National Default Exchange L.P. and related entities.”

When the Company refers to the “Albertelli Sellers” in these notes, it means

James E. Albertelli, P.A., The Albertelli Firm, P.C., Albertelli Title, Inc. and

James E. Albertelli, as a group, from which NDeX acquired its Florida

operations on October 1, 2009.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements:  The

preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses

during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The Company believes the critical accounting policies that require the most

significant assumptions and judgments in the preparation of its consolidated

financial statements include: acquisition accounting; revenue recognition;

accounting for and analysis of potential impairment of goodwill and other

finite-life intangible assets; fair value of DiscoverReady’s noncontrolling

interest; accounting for share-based compensation; income tax accounting;

and allowances for doubtful accounts.

Critical Accounting Policies:  A summary of the Company’s significant

accounting policies follows:

Principles of Consolidation:  The consolidated financial statements

include the accounts of the Company, all wholly-owned subsidiaries and its

majority ownership interests in NDeX and DiscoverReady. The Company

accounts for the percentage interest in NDeX and DiscoverReady that it

does not own as noncontrolling interest. All significant intercompany

accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

(/)



(.navbar-

collapse)



Dolan Co. - FORM 10-K - March 11, 2011 http://www.getfilings.com/sec-filings/110311/Dol...

214 of 335 05/08/2018 07:08 PM



Revenue Recognition:  The Company generates revenue from its

Mortgage Default Processing Services segment, in part, by providing

mortgage default processing services and recognizes this revenue on a

proportional performance basis over the period during which the services

are provided, the calculation of which requires management to make

significant estimates as to the appropriate length of the revenue recognition

period and allocation of revenues within those periods. These estimates are

based primarily upon the Company’s historical experience and its

knowledge of processing cycles in each of the states in which it does

business, as well as recent
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —

(Continued)

legislative changes which impact the processing period. The Company’s

revenue recognition periods for mortgage default processing services

revenues ranges from one to 17 months. As discussed in Note 15, the

Company provides these services to its law firm customers pursuant to

long-term services agreements. In California and Nevada, the Company also

provides these services directly to mortgage lenders and loan servicers. The

Company also provides real estate title and related services to the Barrett

Law Firm, and recognizes revenue associated with these services over the

period in which those services are performed.

In connection with mortgage default processing services provided

directly to mortgage lender and loan servicers on loans secured by

properties located in California and Nevada, the Company incurs

pass-through costs such as trustee sale guarantees, title policies, and post

and publication charges. The Company has determined that such

pass-through items should be recorded at a net amount, rather than as

revenue in the Company’s consolidated financial statements at the gross

amount billed to the customer. The Company has separately shown the

unbilled amount of these pass-through costs and the amount accrued on the

face of the balance sheet. Billed pass-through costs are included in accounts

receivable, net.

The Company generates revenue from its Litigation Support Services

segment by providing discovery management and document review services

and recognizes revenues for these services as they are provided. It also

generates revenue in this segment by providing appellate services to

attorneys that are filing appeals in state or federal courts and recognizes

revenues for appellate services as it provides those services, which is when

the court filings are made.
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Revenue from the Company’s Business Information segment consists of

display and classified advertising (including events), public notices, and

subscriptions and other. The Company recognizes display advertising,

classified advertising and public notice revenue upon placement in one of its

publications or on one of its web sites. The Company recognizes display

and classified advertising revenues generated by sponsorships, advertising

and ticket sales, all related to local events, when those events are held.

Revenue from subscription-based products is recognized ratably over the

related subscription period. The Company recognizes other business

information revenues upon delivery of the printed or electronic product to

its customers. The Company records barter transactions at the fair value of

the goods and services received or provided, which amount is immaterial.

The Company records amounts billed to customers in both its Mortgage

Default Processing Services and Litigation Support Services segments but

not yet recognized as revenues as deferred revenue. The Company records a

liability for deferred revenue in the Business Information segment either

when it bills advertising in advance or customers prepay for subscriptions.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company recorded an aggregate

$23.2 million as deferred revenue.

The Company records revenues recognized for services performed but

not yet billed to its customers as unbilled services. As of December 31,

2010 and 2009, the Company recorded an aggregate $13.9 million and

$17.0 million, respectively, as unbilled services and included these amounts

in accounts receivable on its balance sheet. The majority of these unbilled

services are attributable to our Mortgage Default Processing Services

segment.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:  Cash and cash equivalents may include

money market mutual funds and other highly liquid investments with

original maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition. The

Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times, may

exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any

losses in these accounts. The Company has presented $2.8 million of
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outstanding checks at December 31, 2010, within accounts payable.

Accounts Receivable:  The Company carries accounts receivable at the

original invoice or unbilled services amount less an estimate made for

doubtful accounts. The Company reviews a customer’s credit history before

extending credit and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based

on factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers, historic trends

and other information.
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —

(Continued)

Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows (in

thousands):

Provision

for

Balance Doubtful Net Written Balance

Beginning Acquisitions Accounts Off Ending

2010 $1,113 $ 190 $ 655 $ (380) $1,578

2009 1,398 112 210 (607) 1,113

2008 1,283 349 718 (952) 1,398

Investments:  The Company accounts for investments using the equity

method of accounting if the investment provides the Company the ability to

exercise significant influence, but not control, over an investor. Significant

influence is generally deemed to exist if the Company has an ownership

interest in the voting stock of an investor of between 20 percent and

50 percent, although other factors, such as representation on the investee’s

Board of Directors, are considered in determining whether the equity

method of accounting is appropriate. Under this method, the investment,

originally recorded at cost, is adjusted to recognize the Company’s share of

net income or losses of the affiliate as they occur, limited to the extent of the

Company’s investment in, advances to and commitments for the investee.

The Company considers whether the fair values of its equity method

investments have declined below their carrying value whenever adverse

events or changes in circumstances indicate that recorded values may not be

recoverable. If the Company considered any such decline to be other than

temporary (based on various factors, including historical financial results,

product development activities and the overall health of the affiliate’s
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industry), then the Company would record a write-down to estimated fair

value.

Property and Equipment:  Property and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed on property and

equipment using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of

the assets. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of their

estimated useful lives or the remaining lease terms.

Purchased software and capitalized costs related to internally developed

software for internal use are amortized over their useful lives of two to five

years. Costs are expensed as incurred during the preliminary project stage

and post implementation stage. Costs incurred during the application

development stage related to internally developed software are capitalized.

Once capitalization begins, internal payroll and payroll-related costs for

employees who are directly associated with the internal-use computer

software project (to the extent those employees devoted time directly to the

project), as well as external direct costs incurred for services used in

developing or obtaining internal-use computer software, are capitalized.

Amortization of capitalized costs begins when the software is ready for its

intended use.

Financial Instruments:  The Company accounts for derivative

instruments and other hedging activities by recognizing all derivatives as

either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and then measures those

instruments at fair value. The effect on earnings from recognizing the fair

values of these derivative financial instruments depends on their intended

use, their hedge designation, and their effectiveness in offsetting changes in

the fair values of the exposures they are hedging. For those instruments

designated as hedges, changes in the effective portions of the fair values of

instruments used to reduce or eliminate adverse fluctuations in cash flows of

anticipated or forecasted transactions are reported in equity as a component

of other comprehensive loss. Amounts in other comprehensive loss are

reclassified to earnings when the related hedged items affect earnings or the

anticipated transactions are no longer probable. Changes in the fair values of

derivative instruments that are not designated as hedges or do not qualify for
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hedge accounting treatment are reported currently in earnings. Amounts

reported in earnings are classified consistent with the item being hedged.

For derivative financial instruments accounted for as hedging

instruments, the Company formally designates and documents, at inception,

the financial instrument as a hedge of a specific underlying exposure, the

risk management objective, and the manner in which effectiveness of the

hedge will be assessed. The Company formally assesses, both at inception

and at each reporting period thereafter, whether the derivative financial

instruments used
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —

(Continued)

in hedging transactions are effective in offsetting changes in fair value or

cash flows of the related underlying exposures. Any ineffective portion of

the change in fair value of the instruments is recognized immediately in

earnings.

The Company discontinues the use of hedge accounting prospectively

when (1) the derivative instrument is no longer effective in offsetting

changes in fair value or cash flows of the underlying hedged item; (2) the

derivative instrument expires, is sold, terminated, or exercised; or

(3) designating the derivative instrument as a hedge is no longer

appropriate. See Note 4 for further information on the Company’s derivative

instruments.

Finite-life Intangible Assets:  Finite-life intangible assets include

mastheads, various customer lists, noncompeting agreements, service

agreements, customer relationships, trademarks, domain names and trade

names. These intangible assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis

over their estimated useful lives as described in Note 8.

Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets Impairment:  The Company’s

indefinite-lived intangible assets (including goodwill and tradenames) arose

from acquisitions occurring since the Company’s formation on July 31,

2003. Trade names consist of trademarks and domain names associated with

the Barrett-NDEx and DataStream acquisitions. The Company reviews trade

names annually for impairment by comparing the fair value to the carrying

amount.

Goodwill represents the acquired fair value of a business in excess of the
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fair values of tangible and identified intangible assets acquired. The

Company tests goodwill allocated to each of its reporting units on an annual

basis, and additionally if an event occurs or circumstances change that

would indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. The Company has

four reporting units for purposes of testing its goodwill for impairment.

These reporting units are its Business Information segment, its Mortgage

Default Processing Services segment and the two subsidiaries in its

Litigation Support Services segment: Counsel Press and DiscoverReady.

The Company tests for impairment at the reporting unit level on

November 30 of each year. This test is a two-step process. The first step

used to identify potential impairment, compares the fair value of the

reporting unit with its carrying amount, including indefinite- lived

intangible assets. If the fair value exceeds the carrying amount, the goodwill

is not considered impaired. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value,

the second step must be performed to measure the amount of the impairment

loss, if any. The second step compares the implied fair value of the reporting

unit’s indefinite-lived intangible assets with the carrying amount of those

assets. An impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to the

excess of the carrying amount of a reporting unit over its implied fair value.

The Company determined that no impairment to its indefinite-lived

intangible assets occurred during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009

and 2008.

Other Long-Lived Assets Impairment:  Other long-lived assets, such as

property and equipment and finite-life intangible assets, are evaluated for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the

carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. In evaluating

recoverability, the following factors, among others, are considered: a

significant change in the circumstances used to determine the amortization

period, an adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate, a

transition to a new product or service strategy, a significant change in

customer base and a realization of failed marketing efforts. The

recoverability of an asset is measured by a comparison of the unamortized

balance of the asset to future undiscounted cash flows.
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If the Company believes the unamortized balances were unrecoverable, it

would recognize an impairment charge necessary to reduce the unamortized

balance to the amount of future discounted cash flows expected. The

amount of such impairment would be charged to operations in the current

period. The Company has not identified any indicators of impairment

associated with its other long-lived assets.

Fair Value of DiscoverReady’s Noncontrolling Interest:  Because the

future redemption of DiscoverReady’s noncontrolling interest is outside of

the Company’s control, the Company is required to adjust it to fair value at

each
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —

(Continued)

reporting period. In 2010, the Company increased the value of the

noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady by $7.4 million ($4.6 million net

of tax) as a result of this adjustment.

Income Taxes:  Deferred taxes are provided on an asset and liability

method where deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary

differences and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards, and deferred

tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary

differences are the differences between the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities and their tax basis. Deferred tax assets would be reduced by a

valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely

than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets would not be

realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities would be adjusted for the effects

of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. Realization of

deferred tax assets is dependent upon sufficient future taxable income

during the periods when deductible temporary differences are expected to be

available to reduce taxable income.

The extent of the Company’s operations involves dealing with

uncertainties and judgments in the application of complex tax regulations in

a multitude of jurisdictions. The Company reports a liability for

unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or

expected to be taken in a tax return based on its estimate of whether, and the

extent to which, additional taxes will be due. The Company recognizes

interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income

tax expense. See Note 13 for further information pertaining to income taxes.

Share-Based Compensation:  The Company measures employee

share-based compensation awards using a fair value method and recognizes
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compensation cost in its financial statements. The Company uses the Black-

Scholes option pricing model in deriving the fair value estimates of such

awards. Forfeitures of share-based awards are estimated at the time of grant

and revised in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from initial

estimates. If factors change causing different forfeiture assumptions to be

made in future periods, compensation expense recorded may differ

significantly from that recorded in the current period. See Note 17 for more

information regarding the assumptions used in estimating the fair value of

stock options.

New Accounting Pronouncements:  A summary of new accounting

pronouncements that may affect the Company follows:

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”)

issued new accounting guidance which changes how the Company accounts

for business acquisitions occurring after January 1, 2009. The guidance

requires the acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all the

assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction and establishes the

acquisition-date fair value as the measurement objective for all assets

acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Certain

provisions of this guidance have, among other things, impacted the

determination of acquisition-date fair value of consideration paid in a

business combination (including contingent consideration); required the

Company to exclude transaction costs from acquisition accounting for

acquisitions occurring after January 1, 2009; and changed accounting

practices for acquired contingencies, acquisition-related restructuring costs,

in-process research and development, indemnification assets, and tax

benefits. For the Company, this guidance was effective beginning January 1,

2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued accounting guidance, which

establishes new standards governing the accounting for and reporting of

noncontrolling interest (“NCI”) in partially owned consolidated subsidiaries

and the loss of control of subsidiaries. Certain provisions of this guidance

indicate, among other things, that NCI (previously referred to as minority

interest), in most cases, be treated as a separate component of equity, not as

(/)



(.navbar-

collapse)



Dolan Co. - FORM 10-K - March 11, 2011 http://www.getfilings.com/sec-filings/110311/Dol...

226 of 335 05/08/2018 07:08 PM



a liability; that increases and decreases in the parent’s ownership interest

that leave control intact be treated as equity transactions, rather than as step

acquisitions or dilution gains or losses; and that losses of a partially owned

consolidated subsidiary be allocated to the NCI even when such allocation

might result in a deficit balance. This standard also required the Company to

change certain presentation and disclosures in its financial statements. For

the Company, this guidance was effective beginning January 1, 2009. At

December 31, 2010, the Company’s noncontrolling interest consists of a

6.2% aggregate equity interest in its subsidiary, NDeX, and a 14.7% equity
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interest in DiscoverReady LLC. Each of the holders of the Company’s

noncontrolling interest has the right, for a certain period of time, to require

either NDeX or DiscoverReady, as applicable, to repurchase all or a portion

of the equity interest held by such holder. To the extent any holder of an

equity interest in NDeX timely exercises this right, the purchase price of the

equity interest will be based on 6.25 times NDeX’s trailing twelve month

earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization less the

aggregate amount of any interest bearing indebtedness outstanding for

NDeX as of the date the repurchase occurs. To the extent DR Holdco, the

holder of the noncontrolling interest in DiscoverReady, exercises its right,

the purchase price of its equity interest in DiscoverReady will be based on

the fair market value of the equity interest. Because the NCIs in both NDeX

and DiscoverReady have redemption features outside of the control of the

Company, the Company will continue to show the NCIs in the mezzanine

section of the balance sheet between “Liabilities” and “Stockholders’

Equity,” rather than as a separate component of equity. The Company is also

required to adjust these NCIs to either their fair value or their redemption

amount at each reporting period. Because the redeemable feature of the

NDeX NCI is based upon a formula, the Company adjusts this NCI to its

redemption amount. The Company has chosen to record such adjustment

through “additional paid-in capital” rather than directly as a charge against

earnings, and has therefore employed the two-class method to calculate

earnings per share based on net income attributable to its common

stockholders. Because the redeemable feature of the DiscoverReady NCI is

based on its fair value, such adjustment is also recorded through “additional

paid-in capital”, but it is not an item affecting net income attributable to the

Company’s common stockholders. The Company has recorded an

adjustment of $(0.2) million (net of tax) to record the redeemable

noncontrolling interest in NDeX to its redemption value and $4.6 million

(net of tax) to record the redeemable noncontrolling interest in
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DiscoverReady to its redemption value for the year ended December 31,

2010.

In March 2008, the FASB updated its accounting guidance to require

companies to provide enhanced disclosures regarding derivative instruments

and hedging activities in order to better convey the purpose of derivative use

in terms of the risks that such companies are intending to manage.

Disclosures about (a) how and why an entity uses derivative instruments,

(b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted, and

(c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect a company’s

financial position, financial performance, and cash flows are required. This

guidance was effective beginning January 1, 2009, for the Company.

Accordingly, the Company has included the required disclosures in Note 4

below.

In June of 2009, the FASB updated its accounting guidance for variable

interests by requiring a company to perform an analysis to determine

whether the company’s variable interests give it a controlling financial

interest in a variable interest entity. This updated guidance is effective for

the Company beginning on January 1, 2010. This updated guidance did not

have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations

or financial condition.

In July, 2009 the FASB issued guidance on disclosures of supplementary

pro forma information for business combinations. This guidance requires

that comparative financial statements present and disclose revenue and

earnings of the combined entity as though the business combination(s) that

occurred during the current year had occurred as of the beginning of the

comparable prior annual reporting period only. The amendments also

expand the supplemental pro forma disclosures to include a description of

the nature and amount of material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments

directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro

forma revenue and earnings. This guidance was effective for the Company

beginning on January 1, 2010. The Company currently discloses pro forma

information in accordance with this guidance (see Note 3).
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In August 2009, the FASB issued further guidance on measuring the fair

value of a liability. The guidance establishes the types of valuation

techniques to be used to value a liability when a quoted market price in an

active market for the identical liability is not available, such as the use of an

identical or similar liability when traded as an asset. The guidance also

further clarifies that a quoted price in an active market for the identical

liability at the measurement date and the quoted price for the identical

liability when traded as an asset in an active market when no adjustments to

the quoted price of the asset are required are both Level 1 fair value

measurements. If adjustments are
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(Continued)

required to be applied to the quoted price, it results in a level 2 or 3 fair

value measurement. This additional guidance was effective for the

Company beginning on January 1, 2010. This updated guidance did not

have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations

or financial condition.

In January 2010, the FASB amended guidance to improve disclosures

about fair value measurements. The amended guidance requires entities to

disclose the amounts of significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of

the fair value hierarchy and the reasons for these transfers, the reasons for

any transfers in or out of Level 3, and information in the reconciliation of

recurring Level 3 measurements about purchases, sales, issuances and

settlements on a gross basis. The amended guidance also clarifies the

requirements for entities to disclose information about both the valuation

techniques and inputs used in estimating Level 2 and Level 3 fair value

measurements. This additional guidance is effective for the Company

beginning on January 1, 2011. The Company does not expect this updated

guidance to have a material effect on its financial statements, but will likely

require an increased level of disclosures.

Note 2.  Basic and Diluted Income Per Share

Basic per share amounts are computed, generally, by dividing net income

by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. The

Company has employed the two-class method to calculate its earnings per

share, as it relates to the redeemable noncontrolling interest in NDeX, based

on net income attributable to its common stockholders. At December 31,

2010, 2009 and 2008, there were no shares of preferred stock issued and
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outstanding. Diluted per share amounts assume the conversion, exercise, or

issuance of all potential common stock instruments (see Note 17 for

information on stock options) unless their effect is anti-dilutive, thereby

reducing the loss per share or increasing the income per share.

The following table computes basic and diluted net income attributable

to The Dolan Company common stockholders per share (in thousands,

except per share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Net income attributable to The Dolan

Company $32,355 $30,813 $14,303

(Increase) decrease in redeemable

noncontrolling interest, net of tax 217 (9,262) —

Net income attributable to The Dolan

Company common stockholders 32,572 21,551 14,303

Basic:

Weighted average common shares

outstanding 30,442 30,038 27,073

Weighted average common shares of

unvested restricted stock (291) (206) (88)

Shares used in the computation of basic net

income per share 30,151 29,832 26,985

Net income attributable to The Dolan

Company common stockholders per

share — basic $ 1.08 $ 0.72 $ 0.53

Diluted:

Shares used in the computation of basic net

income per share 30,151 29,832 26,985
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Stock options and restricted stock 163 84 128

Shares used in the computation of dilutive

net income per share 30,314 29,916 27,113

Net income attributable to The Dolan

Company common stockholders per

share — diluted $ 1.08 $ 0.72 $ 0.53
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For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, options to

purchase approximately 1.7 million, 1.4 million and 1.1 million weighted

shares of common stock, respectively, were excluded from the computation

because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 3.  Business Combinations/Acquisitions

Management is responsible for determining the fair value of the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. The fair values of

the assets acquired and liabilities assumed represent management’s estimate

of fair values. Management determines valuations through a combination of

methods which include internal rate of return calculations, discounted cash

flow models, outside valuations and appraisals and consideration of market

conditions. The results of the acquisitions are included in the accompanying

consolidated statement of operations from the respective acquisition dates

forward.

2010 Acquisitions/Equity Transactions:

Acquisition of DataStream Content Solutions, LLC:  On December 1,

2010, the Company acquired DataStream Content Solutions, LLC

(“DataStream”). In connection with this acquisition, the Company paid the

sellers $15.0 million in cash at closing, held back $1.5 million payable

18 months after closing to secure indemnification claims, and is obligated to

pay up to an additional $4.0 million in earnouts in two annual installments.

The amount of the two annual earnout payments is based upon the acquired

business achieving certain EBITDA targets during the calendar years ended

December 31, 2011 and 2012. These assets are part of the Company’s
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Business Information segment. The Company paid approximately

$0.3 million in deal costs associated with this transaction.

Management estimated the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities

assumed and was assisted by a business valuation done by an independent

third-party valuation firm. The fair value of acquired intangible assets is not

yet finalized as management is completing the fair value estimation due to

the timing of the acquisition. Fair value included: $0.2 million to fixed

assets; $0.3 million to various working capital items; $5.6 million to various

technology, including both existing technology and technology in process;

$9.2 million to customer relationships; $0.2 million to a license agreement;

$1.6 million to trademarks; and $2.6 million to goodwill. The amortization

periods for the finite-lived intangible assets will be determined in

accordance with the expected periods over which cash flows from these

various intangible assets will be received, and will be finalized upon

completion of the fair value estimation. In connection with this acquisition,

the Company was required to estimate the fair value of the earnout

payments and determined that the earnouts of $4.0 million, in the aggregate,

were likely to be achieved. As a result, the Company has therefore included

the present value of these payments, or $3.2 million, in its determination of

consideration transferred. The Company has determined that this earnout

liability is a Level 3 fair value measurement within the Financial

Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) fair value hierarchy, and such

liability is adjusted to fair value at each reporting date, with the adjustment

reflected in selling, general and administrative expenses.

The Company paid a premium over the fair value of the net tangible and

identified intangible assets acquired in the acquisition (i.e., goodwill)

because the Company anticipates revenue synergies and operational

efficiencies through combined general and administrative and corporate

functions. Such goodwill is deductible for tax purposes, and has been

allocated to the Business Information segment.

Acquisition of Federal News Service, Inc.:  On August 9, 2010, the

Company acquired certain assets of Federal News Service, Inc. (“Federal

News”) for $1.7 million in cash. Of the $1.7 million fair value purchase
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price, $0.4 million was allocated to various working capital items and the

remaining $1.3 million was allocated to customer lists to be amortized over

10 years. These assets are part of the Company’s Business Information

segment. Deal costs incurred with respect to this transaction were

immaterial.
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Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest in NDeX:  On January 4, 2010,

the Company, along with its wholly-owned subsidiary, Dolan APC, LLC,

entered into a common unit purchase agreement with the Trott Sellers,

including one of the Company’s executive officers, David A. Trott, under

the terms of which the Trott Sellers sold their remaining aggregate 2.4%

ownership interest in NDeX, for an aggregate $5.0 million. The Company

paid $2.4 million of the aggregate purchase price during 2010, with the

remaining $2.6 million payable in equal monthly installments through

December 1, 2012, with interest accruing at a rate of 4.25% per annum. The

Company accounted for this acquisition as an equity transaction by reducing

redeemable noncontrolling interest on the Company’s balance sheet by

$5.0 million. No deal costs were incurred with respect to this transaction.

Redemption of Noncontrolling Interest of Feiwell & Hannoy in

NDeX:  On February 28, 2010, NDeX redeemed a 1.7% ownership interest

in NDeX from Feiwell & Hannoy, which exercised its put right pursuant to

the NDeX operating agreement. NDeX redeemed these common units for

$3.5 million, which is payable to Feiwell & Hannoy in equal quarterly

installments through December 3, 2012, with interest accruing at a rate of

5.25% per annum. The Company paid $1.1 million of this note in 2010. The

Company accounted for this acquisition as an equity transaction by reducing

redeemable noncontrolling interest on the Company’s balance sheet by

$3.5 million. No deal costs were incurred with respect to this transaction.

The following table provides information on the fair value of the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed for the DataStream and Federal News

acquisitions. The allocations of the purchase price are as follows (in

thousands):
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DataStream Federal News Total

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

at their fair values:

Working capital $ 341 $ 404 $ 745

Property and equipment 209 — 209

Technology 5,607 — 5,607

Trademark/domain names 1,643 — 1,643

Customer relationships 9,154 1,244 10,398

License agreements 226 — 226

Goodwill 2,601 — 2,601

Total consideration $ 19,781 $ 1,648 $21,429

2009 Acquisitions/Equity Transactions:

Albertelli:  On October 1, 2009, NDeX acquired the mortgage default

processing services and certain title assets of the Albertelli Sellers for a total

maximum cash purchase price of $19.0 million as follows: $7.0 million paid

at closing; an additional $1.0 million held back for one year to secure the

Albertelli Sellers’ obligations under the asset purchase agreement, which

was paid in full on October 1, 2010; an additional $2.0 million in equal

installments of $1.0 million each, with $1.0 million paid on October 1,

2010, and $1.0 million to be paid on October 1, 2011; and earnouts payable

of up to an additional $9.0 million in three annual installments of up to

$3.0 million each. The amount of these three annual earnout payments is

based upon the adjusted EBITDA for the acquired mortgage default

processing services and related title business during the twelve calendar

months ending on each of September 30, 2010, 2011, and 2012. On

October 1, 2010, the Company paid $3.0 million for the first of the three

annual earnout payments. These assets are part of the Company’s Mortgage

Default Processing Services segment.

In addition, NDeX also entered into a twenty-year services agreement
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with James E. Albertelli, P.A. (one of the Albertelli Sellers), which provides

for the exclusive referral of residential mortgage default and related files

from the law firm to NDeX for processing in Florida.
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The fair value of the acquired business was determined by management

through a business valuation done by management with the assistance of an

independent third-party valuation firm. The total fair value of $16.7 million

was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis (income approach)

using a 16.5% discount rate estimated on October 1, 2009 and a 2.5%

long-term growth rate. The fair value was allocated as follows: $0.2 million

to fixed assets; $14.3 million to the long-term service agreement to be

amortized over 20 years, representing the initial term of the services

agreement and the expected life over which cash flows will be provided;

and $2.2 million to goodwill. In connection with this acquisition, the

Company was required to estimate the fair value of the earnout payments

and determined that the earnouts of $9.0 million, in the aggregate, were

likely to be achieved. As a result, the Company has therefore included the

present value of these payments in its determination of fair value. The

Company has determined that this earnout liability is a Level 3 fair value

measurement within the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB)

fair value hierarchy, and such liability is adjusted to fair value at each

reporting date, with the adjustment reflected in selling, general and

administrative expenses. See Note 5 for information pertaining to changes

in the fair value of this liability during the year ended December 31, 2010.

Deal costs associated with this acquisition were immaterial.

The Company paid a premium over the fair value of the net tangible and

identified intangible assets acquired in the acquisition (i.e., goodwill)

because the acquired business is a complement to NDeX and the Company

anticipates cost savings and revenue synergies through combined general

and administrative and corporate functions. Such goodwill is deductible for

tax purposes, and has been allocated to the Mortgage Default Processing

Services segment.
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DiscoverReady:  On November 2, 2009, the Company acquired an 85%

equity interest in DiscoverReady LLC. The Company paid the sellers

$28.9 million in cash at closing and placed an additional $3.0 million in

escrow. The total purchase price included a target for net working capital of

$2.4 million. The actual amount for net working capital at the closing date

was $5.1 million, and, as such, the Company paid an additional $2.7 million

to the sellers during 2009. DiscoverReady is part of the Company’s

Litigation Support Services segment.

In accordance with the terms of the DiscoverReady operating agreement,

the Company repurchased a 0.3% equity interest in DiscoverReady from

DR Holdco in connection with the expiration of the employment agreement

of DiscoverReady’s former chief financial officer in April 2010. The

Company paid $0.1 million for this equity interest in DiscoverReady, and as

a result of this transaction, its interest in DiscoverReady was increased to

85.3%.

Due to a put feature exercisable at the discretion of the noncontrolling

interest holder, the Company records on its balance sheet an adjustment for

that portion of DiscoverReady which it does not own as redeemable

noncontrolling interest, which is adjusted to fair value at each balance sheet

date. The Company has determined that this redeemable noncontrolling

interest is a Level 3 fair value measurement within the FASB’s fair value

hierarchy. See Note 5 for information pertaining to changes in the fair value

of this noncontrolling interest during the year ended December 31, 2010.

Management determined the fair value of the acquired business and

related redeemable noncontrolling interest at the date of acquisition through

a business valuation done by management with the assistance of an

independent third-party valuation firm. The total fair value of $37.5 million

was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis (income approach)

using a discount rate of 23.6% for this acquisition. The fair value was

allocated as follows: $2.4 million to net working capital/capital lease

liability; $1.1 million to fixed assets; $1.3 million to non-compete

agreements, to be amortized over four years; $1.6 million to trademarks and
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domain names, to be amortized over ten years; $5.9 million to trade names,

to be amortized over 15 years; $9.3 million to customer lists (preliminary

allocation at December 31, 2009 was $7.9 million), to be amortized over ten

to 12 years; and $15.8 million to goodwill (preliminary allocation at

December 31, 2009 was $17.3 million). The December 31, 2009 balance

sheet and statement of operations were not retroactively adjusted for this

measurement period adjustment as the amount of the change was not

material to the 2009 financial statements.
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The Company paid a premium over the fair value of the net tangible and

identified intangible assets acquired in the acquisition (i.e., goodwill)

because the Company anticipates revenue synergies and operational

efficiencies through combined general and administrative and corporate

functions. Such goodwill is deductible for tax purposes, and has been

allocated to the Litigation Support Services segment.

Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interest in NDeX.  On December 31,

2009, the Company entered into a common unit purchase agreement with

the Trott Sellers, including one of the Company’s executive officers, David

A. Trott, under the terms of which the Trott Sellers sold an aggregate 5.1%

membership interest in NDeX to the Company, for a purchase price of

$10.6 million, consisting of $8.0 million paid in cash and 248,000 shares of

the Company’s common stock with a fair market value of $2.6 million. The

Company accounted for this acquisition as an equity transaction by reducing

noncontrolling interest on the Company’s balance sheet by $10.6 million.

Deal costs associated with this transaction were immaterial.

The following table provides information on the fair value of the assets

acquired and liabilities assumed for the Albertelli and DiscoverReady

acquisitions. The allocations of the purchase price are as follows (in

thousands):

Albertelli DiscoverReady Total

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed

at their fair values:

Working capital $ — $ 2,400 $ 2,400

Property and equipment 198 955 1,153
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Software 2 117 119

Other asset — 24 24

Long-term service contract 14,290 — 14,290

Trade name — 5,917 5,917

Trademark/domain names — 1,625 1,625

Customer list — 9,302 9,302

Noncompete agreements — 1,354 1,354

Goodwill 2,215 15,806 18,021

Redeemable noncontrolling interest — (5,625) (5,625)

Total consideration $16,705 $ 31,875 $48,580

2008 Acquisitions:

Legal and Business Publishers, Inc.:  On February 13, 2008, the

Company acquired the assets of Legal and Business Publishers, Inc., which

include The Mecklenburg Times, an 84-year old court and commercial

publication located in Charlotte, North Carolina, and electronic products,

including www.mecktimes.com and www.mecklenburgtimes.com. For these

assets, the Company paid $2.8 million, plus acquisition costs of $95,000, in

cash on the closing date and an additional $500,000 in the second quarter of

2008. During 2008, the Company paid an additional $497,500 in connection

with the business achieving the revenue targets set forth in the purchase

agreement. The Company has accounted for these payments as additional

purchase price. These assets are part of the Company’s Business

Information segment.

Of the $3.8 million of acquired intangibles, the Company allocated

$0.7 million to newspaper mastheads, which is being amortized over

30 years, and $3.1 million to advertising customer lists, which is being

amortized over 10 years. The Company engaged an independent third-party

valuation firm to assist it in estimating the fair value of the finite-life

intangible assets. The value of these intangibles was estimated using a

discounted cash flow analysis (income approach) assuming a 17% weighted

average cost of capital.
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Wilford & Geske:  On February 22, 2008, NDeX, a majority owned

subsidiary of the Company, acquired the mortgage default processing

services business of Wilford & Geske, a Minnesota law firm, for

$13.5 million in cash.
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In addition, the Company incurred acquisition costs of approximately

$0.2 million. Under the purchase agreement, NDeX was obligated to pay up

to an additional $2.0 million in purchase price depending upon the adjusted

EBITDA for this business during the twelve months ended March 31, 2009.

In connection with the partial achievement of this performance target,

NDeX paid an additional $1.3 million in purchase price to the sellers in

2009. In connection with the acquisition of the mortgage default processing

services business of Wilford & Geske, NDeX appointed the managing

attorneys of Wilford & Geske as executive vice presidents of NDeX. These

assets are part of the Company’s Mortgage Default Processing Services

segment.

In connection with this acquisition, NDeX entered into a services

agreement with Wilford & Geske that provides for the exclusive referral of

files from the law firm to NDeX for processing for an initial term of fifteen

years.

The Company allocated $14.8 million to the long-term service

agreement, which is being amortized over 15 years, representing its initial

contractual term. The Company engaged an independent third-party

valuation firm to assist it in estimating the fair value of the service

agreement. The value of the service agreement was estimated using a

discounted cash flow analysis (income approach) assuming a 3% revenue

growth and an 18% discount rate.

Minnesota Political Press:  On March 14, 2008, the Company acquired

the assets of Minnesota Political Press, Inc. and Quadriga Communications,

LLC, which includes the publication, Politics in Minnesota, for a purchase

price of $285,000 plus acquisition costs of approximately $49,000. The
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Company has allocated the entire purchase price to a customer list, which is

being amortized over two years. These assets are part of the Company’s

Business Information segment.

Midwest Law Printing Co., Inc.:   On June 30, 2008, the Company

acquired the assets of Midwest Law Printing Co., Inc., which provides

printing and appellate services in Chicago, Illinois. The Company paid

$600,000 in cash for the assets at closing. Acquisition costs associated with

this purchase were immaterial. The Company paid an additional $75,000 in

2009, which was held back to secure indemnification claims. Under the

purchase agreement, the Company is also obligated to pay the seller up to an

additional $225,000 in three annual installments of up to $75,000 each

based upon the revenues it earns from the assets in each of the three years

following closing. In connection with the satisfaction of the first and second

revenue targets, the Company paid the seller $75,000 in additional purchase

price in both 2010 and 2009. The purchase price has been allocated to a

customer list, which is being amortized over seven years, and working

capital in the amount of $10,000. These assets are part of the Company’s

Litigation Support Services segment.

National Default Exchange, L.P. and related entities:  On September 2,

2008, NDeX acquired all of the outstanding equity interests in

Barrett-NDEx for a total of $167.5 million in cash, of which $151.0 million

was paid to or on behalf of the sellers of Barrett-NDEx, or their designees,

$15.0 million was placed in escrow to secure payment of indemnification

claims and an additional $1.5 million was held back pending working

capital adjustments. In addition to the cash payments, NDeX also issued to

the sellers of Barrett-NDEx an aggregate 6.1% interest in NDeX, which had

an estimated fair market value of approximately $11.6 million on July 28,

2008, the date the parties signed the equity purchase agreement. The

Company also issued to the sellers of Barrett-NDEx, or their designees,

825,528 shares of its common stock, which had a fair market value of

$16.5 million based upon the average of the daily last reported closing price

for a share of the Company’s common stock on the five consecutive trading

days beginning on and including July 24, 2008, two trading days prior to the

date the Company announced this acquisition. The Company incurred

transaction costs of approximately $1.3 million in connection with the
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acquisition. In addition to the payments and issuance of NDeX interests and

common stock described above, the Company paid to the sellers of

Barrett-NDEx an additional $13.0 million in 2009 in connection with the

business achieving the adjusted EBITDA target of $28.0 million for the four

complete calendar quarters following the closing of the acquisition.

Barrett-NDEx did not satisfy the $2.0 million working capital target set

forth in the equity purchase agreement as there was an actual working

capital (deficit) of $(1.4) million as of the measurement date. As a result, the

Company recovered the $3.4 million shortfall by having the sellers of

Barrett-NDEx release the
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$1.5 million holdback payable to them and by taking receipt of $1.9 million

out of the escrow. Barrett-NDEx is included in the Company’s Mortgage

Default Processing Services segment.

The table below (amounts in thousands) shows the Company’s

preliminary allocation of purchase price, along with the final purchase price

allocation completed in the third quarter of 2009. The final allocation also

includes adjustments to goodwill for the achievement of the earnout

($13.0 million) as well as the adjustment to deferred income taxes recorded

as a result of the adjustments to the fair value of the intangible assets

acquired in this acquisition. See Note 13 for additional information relating

to the deferred income taxes adjustment.

Amortization Preliminary Final

Period Allocation Allocation

Long-term service agreement 25 years $ 154,000 $ 59,728

Customer list 15 years — 19,565

Non-compete agreements 5 years 5,000 3,198

Finite-life intangible assets 159,000 82,491

Trade names — — 6,537

Goodwill — 37,827 116,927

Indefinite-lived intangible asset 37,827 123,464

Software 2 years 6,949 5,542

Total $ 203,776 $211,497
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The Company’s preliminary purchase price allocation combined the

services agreement with the Barrett Law Firm and customer list related to

California foreclosure files as a single intangible asset. In completing the

final allocation, the Company determined that the California customer list is

a separate identifiable asset from the services agreement because the

services agreement requires NDeX to provide mortgage default processing

services only to the Barrett Law Firm whereas NDeX provides these

services directly to lenders and mortgage servicers on loans secured by

properties in California under no specific services agreement. The

Company’s initial assumptions regarding Barrett-NDEx’s California

operations also included obtaining new customers in the California market,

the value of which the Company preliminarily allocated to the services

agreement and later determined was goodwill.

The values of the intangible assets and software acquired were estimated

by management with the assistance of an independent third-party valuation

firm. The primary assets acquired were the services agreement and the

customer list. To estimate the fair value of these assets, the Company used a

discounted cash flow analysis (income approach) using an average annual

growth rate of approximately 3% and a discount rate of 15.4%, all of which

were estimated on September 2, 2008.

The Company paid a premium over the fair value of the net tangible and

identified intangible assets acquired in connection with this acquisition (i.e.

goodwill) because the acquired business is a complement to NDeX and the

Company anticipated cost savings and revenue synergies through combined

general and administrative functions. This goodwill is deductible for tax

purposes.

The Company recorded working capital for cash ($3.1 million), accounts

receivable, net and unbilled pass-through costs ($22.9 million), accounts

payable and accrued pass-through liabilities ($24.3 million) and other items

of working capital that existed on September 2, 2008 (the closing date of the

acquisition) in accordance with the terms of the equity purchase agreement.
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The following table provides information on the Company’s purchase

price allocations for the aforementioned 2008 acquisitions. The allocations

of the purchase price are as follows (in thousands):

Midwest

Legal and MN Law

Business Wilford & Political Printing Barrett-

Publishers Geske Press Co., Inc. NDEx Total

Assets acquired

and liabilities

assumed at their

fair values:

Working capital

(deficit) $ — $ — $ — $ 10 $ (1,395) $ (1,385)

Property and

equipment 50 122 — — 3,090 3,262

Software — — — — 6,217 6,217

Long-term

service

contract — 14,829 — — 59,728 74,557

Customer list 3,125 — 334 725 19,565 23,749

Other finite-life

intangible

assets 667 — — — 9,735 10,402

Goodwill — — — — 116,927 116,927

Deferred tax

liability — — — — (7,216) (7,216)
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Total

consideration,

including direct

expenses $ 3,842 $14,951 $ 334 $ 735 $206,651 $226,513

Break-up fee:  Pursuant to its agreement with the sellers of a business

that the Company intended to acquire in 2008, the Company paid

$1.5 million to the sellers because the Company was unable to obtain debt

financing on terms and timing satisfactory to the Company to close the

acquisition.

Pro Forma Information (unaudited):  Actual results of operations of the

equity interests and assets acquired in 2010, 2009 and 2008 are included in

the consolidated financial statements from the dates of acquisition. The

unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations of the

Company, set forth below, gives effect to these acquisitions using the

purchase method as if the acquisitions occurred on January 1, 2008. These

amounts are not necessarily indicative of the consolidated results of

operations for future years or actual results that would have been realized

had the acquisitions occurred as of the beginning of each such year (in

thousands, except per share data):

Pro Forma

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Total revenues $319,082 $299,523 $220,525

Net income (loss) attributable to The

Dolan Company 31,541 35,625 16,827

Net income (loss) attributable to The

Dolan Company per share:

Basic $ 1.05 $ 1.18 $ 0.61

Diluted $ 1.04 $ 1.18 $ 0.60
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Pro forma weighted average shares

outstanding:

Basic 30,151 30,079 27,786

Diluted 30,314 30,164 27,911
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Note 4.  Derivative Instruments

On January 4, 2010, the Company entered into an interest rate swap

agreement to manage the risk associated with a portion of its floating-rate

long-term debt, and to replace and expand that portion of the current swap

agreement that matured on February 22, 2010. The Company does not

utilize derivative instruments for speculative purposes. The interest rate

swap involves the exchange of fixed-rate and variable-rate payments

without the exchange of the underlying notional amount on which the

interest payments are calculated. The notional amount of the new swap

agreement is $50 million through December 30, 2012, $35 million from

December 31, 2012 through December 30, 2013, and $25 million from

December 31, 2013 through June 30, 2014. The Company has designated

this swap as a cash flow hedge and has determined that it qualifies for hedge

accounting treatment. Changes in fair value of the cash flow hedge are

recorded in other comprehensive loss (net of tax) until income or loss from

the cash flows of the hedged item is realized.

As December 31, 2010, the Company had $1.3 million in other

comprehensive loss related to unrealized losses (net of tax) on the cash flow

hedge. There was no other comprehensive loss as of December 31, 2009.

Unrealized gains and losses are reflected in net income attributable to The

Dolan Company when the related cash flows or hedged transactions occur

and offset the related performance of the hedged item.

This cash flow hedge was highly effective for the year ended

December 31, 2010. The Company does not expect to reclassify any

amounts from other comprehensive income to net income attributable to

The Dolan Company during 2011. The occurrence of these related cash
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flows and hedged transaction remains probable.

The Company had liabilities of $2.4 million and $1.5 million resulting

from interest rate swaps at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively,

which are included in accrued liabilities or other liabilities on the balance

sheet, depending upon the timing of the expiration of the swap agreement.

As of December 31, 2010, the aggregate notional amount of the swap

agreements was $75 million, of which $25 million will mature on March 31,

2011, and the balance of the $50 million notional swap will mature on

various dates through June 30, 2014, as discussed above. The swap

agreement maturing on March 31, 2011, does not qualify for hedge

accounting. Total floating-rate borrowings not offset by the swap

agreements at December 31, 2010, totaled $59.0 million.

By their nature, derivative instruments are subject to market risk.

Derivative instruments are also subject to credit risk associated with

counterparties to the derivative contracts. Credit risk associated with

derivatives is measured based on the replacement cost should the

counterparty with a contract in a gain position to the Company fail to

perform under the terms of the contract. The Company does not anticipate

nonperformance by the counterparty.

Note 5.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value

as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the

measurement date (exit price). The Company classifies the inputs used to

measure fair value into the following hierarchy:

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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Level 2 Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities,

or quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in

markets that are not active, or inputs other than quoted prices

that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market

data for the asset or liability.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability that are supported

by little or no market activity. These fair values are determined

using pricing models for which the assumptions utilize

management’s estimates or market participant assumptions.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring

Basis.  The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market data

when available. In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall

into different
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levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement has been

determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement in its entirety. The Company’s assessment of the

significance of a particular item to the fair value measurement in its entirety

requires judgment, including the consideration of inputs specific to the asset

or liability.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined by the respective

counterparties based on interest rate changes. Interest rate swaps are valued

based on observable interest rate yield curves for similar instruments. The

fair value of the earnout liability recorded in connection with the NDeX

Florida operations acquired from the Albertelli Sellers and the earnout

liability recorded in connection with the DataStream acquisition are

determined by management based on projected financial performance and

an estimated discount rate. The fair value of the redeemable noncontrolling

interest in DiscoverReady is determined by management using a market

approach.

The following table summarizes the balances of liabilities measured at

fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in

thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

December 31, 2010

Interest rate swaps $ — $2,400 $ — $ 2,400
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Earnout liability recorded in

connection with the NDeX Florida

operations acquired from the

Albertelli Sellers — — 5,069 5,069

Earnout liability recorded in

connection with the DataStream

acquisition — — 3,171 3,171

Redeemable noncontrolling interest

in DiscoverReady — — 13,652 13,652

Total $ — $2,400 $21,892 $24,292

December 31, 2009

Interest rate swaps $ — $1,471 $ — $ 1,471

Earnout liability recorded in

connection with the NDeX Florida

operations acquired from the

Albertelli Sellers — — 6,999 6,999

Redeemable noncontrolling interest

in DiscoverReady — — 5,902 5,902

Total $ — $1,471 $12,901 $14,372

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value for all

liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant

unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended December 31, 2010 (in

thousands):

Fair Value

Fair Value Adjustment

Adjustment Distributions Included in

Included in to Minority Additional

Net Income Minority Partners / Paid-in

Beginning Attributable Partners’ Redemptions/ Capital and End of
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of Period to the Dolan Share of Earnout Deferred Period

Balance Company Earnings Payments Taxes Balance

Earnout liability

recorded in

connection

with the NDeX

Florida

operations

acquired from

the Albertelli

Sellers $ 6,999 $ 1,070 $ — $ (3,000) $ — $ 5,069

Earnout liability

recorded in

connection

with the

DataStream

acquisition — 3,171 — — — 3,171

Redeemable

noncontrolling

interest in

DiscoverReady 5,902 — 1,457 (1,135) 7,428 13,652

Total $12,901 $ 4,241 $1,457 $ (4,135) $ 7,418 $21,892
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The changes in fair value for all liabilities measured at fair value on a

recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) table is not

included for the year ended December 31, 2009 as the earnout liability

recorded in connection with the NDeX Florida operations acquired from the

Albertelli Sellers and the redeemable noncontrolling interest in

DiscoverReady were both acquired in the fourth quarter of 2009 and their

respective balances as of January 1, 2010, represent the amounts recorded

when they were initially recorded.

As mentioned in Note 3 above, the Company repurchased a 0.3% equity

interest in DiscoverReady from DR Holdco in connection with the

expiration of the employment agreement of DiscoverReady’s former chief

financial officer in April 2010. The Company paid $0.1 million for this

equity interest in DiscoverReady, which is included in Distributions to

Minority Partners/Redemptions in the table above along with $1.0 million

in distributions to minority partners.

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a

Non-Recurring Basis.  Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair

value on a nonrecurring basis and are subject to fair value adjustments in

certain circumstances (e.g., when there is evidence of impairment). No such

fair value adjustments were required during the years ended December 31,

2010, 2009 or 2008.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments:  The carrying value of cash

equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses

approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these

instruments. The carrying value of the Company’s debt is the remaining

amount due to its debtors under borrowing arrangements. On December 6,
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2010, the Company refinanced its debt. The Company noted no significant

changes in interest rates between December 6, 2010 and December 31,

2010, and as such, the carrying value of variable-rate debt under the

Company’s senior credit facility of $134.0 million approximates its

estimated fair value.

Note 6.  Investments

Investments consisted of the following at December 31, 2010 and 2009

(in thousands):

Accounting Percent December 31,

Method Ownership 2010 2009

The Detroit Legal News

Publishing, LLC Equity 35 $13,154 $15,479

Other Equity 19.5 654 —

Total $13,808 $15,479

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the equity in earnings

(loss) is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 2008

The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC $4,676 $4,853 $5,646

Other (96) (238) —

Total $4,580 $4,615 $5,646
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The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC:  The Company owns a 35%

membership interest in The Detroit Legal News Publishing, LLC

(“DLNP”). DLNP publishes ten weekly legal newspapers, along with one

quarterly magazine, all located in southern Michigan. The Company

accounts for this investment using the equity method. The membership

operating agreement provides for the Company to receive quarterly

distributions based on its ownership percentage.

The difference between the Company’s carrying value and its 35% share

of the members equity of DLNP relates principally to an underlying

customer list at DLNP that is being amortized over its estimated economic

life through 2015.
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The following table summarizes certain key information relative to the

Company’s investment in DLNP as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and for

the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2010 2009

Carrying value of investment $13,154 $15,479

Underlying finite-life customer list, net of

amortization 7,413 8,921

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Equity in earnings of DLNP, net of

amortization of customer list $4,676 $4,853 $5,646

Distributions received 7,000 5,600 7,000

Amortization expense 1,508 1,508 1,508

According to the terms of the membership operating agreement, any

DLNP member may, at any time after November 30, 2011, exercise a

“buy-sell” provision, as defined, by declaring a value for DLNP as a whole.

If this were to occur, each of the remaining members must decide whether it

is a buyer of that member’s interest or a seller of its own interest at the

declared stated value.

Summarized financial information for DLNP for the years ended

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 is as follows (in thousands):
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For the Years Ended

December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Revenues $38,016 $39,258 $42,504

Cost of revenues 12,193 13,082 13,849

Gross profit 25,823 26,176 28,655

Selling, general and administrative expenses 6,713 6,504 6,482

Operating income 19,110 19,672 22,173

Interest income, net — 1 24

Local income tax (1,442) (1,500) (1,756)

Net income $17,668 $18,173 $20,441

Company’s 35% share of net income $ 6,184 $ 6,361 $ 7,154

Less amortization of intangible assets 1,508 1,508 1,508

Equity in earnings of DLNP, LLC $ 4,676 $ 4,853 $ 5,646

Estimated future intangible asset amortization expense in connection

with the DLNP membership interest as of December 31, 2010, is as follows

(in thousands):

For the year ending December 31,

2011 1,508

2012 1,508

2013 1,508

2014 1,508

2015 1,381

Thereafter —
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Total $7,413
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Note 7.  Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

Estimated

Useful December 31,

Lives (Years) 2010 2009

Land N/A $ 305 305

Buildings 10 2,604 2,601

Computers 2 - 5 12,742 9,624

Machinery and equipment 3 - 10 2,164 2,088

Leasehold improvements 3 - 11 4,791 4,548

Furniture and fixtures 3 - 5 7,007 5,779

Vehicles 3 110 43

Software 2 - 5 11,812 10,205

Construction in process N/A 2,812 220

44,347 35,413

Accumulated depreciation and

amortization (27,014) (19,956)

$ 17,333 $ 15,457

Note 8.  Intangible Assets

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets:  Indefinite-lived intangible assets
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consist of trade names and goodwill. The Company has determined that

these assets have an indefinite list and therefore will not be amortized. The

Company reviews indefinite-lived intangible assets annually on November

30 for impairment.
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The following table represents the balances of indefinite-lived intangible

assets as of December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, and changes in goodwill

by segment for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in

thousands):

Mortgage

Default Litigation

Processing Support Business

Services Services Information Total

Total indefinite-lived

intangible assets as of

December 31, 2008 (all

goodwill) $ 51,906 $ 7,845 $ 59,232 $118,983

Changes in goodwill during

2009:

Barrett-NDEx 77,588 — — 77,588

NDeX Florida 2,215 — — 2,215

DiscoverReady — 17,257 — 17,257

Total goodwill as of

December 31, 2009 131,709 25,102 59,232 216,043

Trade names as of

December 31, 2009 6,537 — — 6,537

Total indefinite-lived

intangible assets as of

December 31, 2009 $138,246 $ 25,102 $ 59,232 $222,580
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Goodwill as of December 31,

2009 $131,709 $ 25,102 $ 59,232 $216,043

Changes in goodwill during

2010:

DiscoverReady — (1,451) — (1,451)

DataStream — — 2,601 2,601

Total goodwill as of

December 31, 2010 131,709 23,651 61,833 217,193

Total trade names as of

December 31, 2010 6,537 — 1,643 8,180

Total indefinite-lived

intangible assets as of

December 31, 2010 $138,246 $ 23,651 $ 63,476 $225,373

The change in goodwill in the Litigation Support Services segment

resulted from the completion, in 2010, of the valuation of the assets

acquired in the 2009 DiscoverReady acquisition. The change in goodwill in

the Business Information segment resulted from the preliminary valuation

of the assets acquired through the purchase of DataStream. See Note 3 for

more information about these acquisitions.

The Company tests its indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment

on an annual basis using a November 30 measurement date. For purposes of

this testing, the Company has four reporting units: its Business Information

segment, its Mortgage Default Processing Services segment, and the two

subsidiaries in its Litigation Support Services segment: Counsel Press and

DiscoverReady. The Company tests all finite-life intangible assets and other

long-lived assets, such as fixed assets, for impairment only if circumstances

indicate that possible impairment exists. It conducts interim impairment

tests of its indefinite-lived intangible assets whenever circumstances or

events indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of one of its

reporting units is below its carrying value. Circumstances that could

represent triggering events and therefore require an interim impairment test
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of indefinite-lived intangible assets or evaluation of our finite-life intangible

assets or other long lived assets include the following: loss of key personnel,

unanticipated competition, higher or earlier than expected customer

attrition, deterioration of operating performance, significant adverse

industry, economic or regulatory changes or a significant decline in market

capitalization. The Company has completed its annual test for impairment

of goodwill and has determined that there is no impairment of its goodwill

for the year ended December 31, 2010.
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Finite-Life Intangible Assets:  The following table summarizes the

components of finite-life intangible assets as of December 31, 20010 and

2009 (in thousands except amortization periods):

As of December 31, 2010 As of December 31, 2009

Amortization Gross Accumulated Gross Accumulated

Period Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net

Mastheads 30 $ 11,965 $ (2,594) $ 9,371 $ 11,965 $ (2,196) $ 9,769

Customer lists/relationships 2-15 91,799 (27,968) 63,831 79,206 (20,826) 58,380

Noncompete agreements 4-5 5,302 (3,317) 1,985 5,302 (2,488) 2,814

Long-term service

contracts 15-25 135,146 (26,899) 108,247 135,146 (19,872) 115,274

Trademark/domain names 10 1,651 (191) 1,460 1,625 (27) 1,598

Trade names 15 5,918 (460) 5,458 5,918 (66) 5,852

Technology 5-20 5,607 — 5,607 — — —

Total intangibles $257,388 $ (61,429) $195,959 $239,162 $ (45,475) $193,687

Total amortization expense for finite-life intangible assets for the years

ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was approximately $16.0 million,

$17.1 million and $11.8 million, respectively.

Estimated annual future intangible asset amortization expense as of

December 31, 2010, is as follows (in thousands):
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2011 17,110

2012 15,912

2013 15,677

2014 14,222

2015 13,528

Thereafter 119,510

Total $195,959

Note 9.  Long-Term Debt, Capital Lease Obligation

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, long-term debt consisted of the

following (in thousands):

December 31,

2010 2009

Senior secured debt (see below):

Senior variable-rate term note $ 50,000 $143,450

Senior variable-rate revolving note 84,000 8,000

Total senior secured debt 134,000 151,450

Unsecured notes payable 4,886 8,000

Capital lease obligations 260 515

139,146 159,965

Less current portion 7,578 22,005

Long-term debt, less current portion $131,568 $137,960

Senior Secured Debt:  The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries

have a credit agreement with a syndicate of banks for a $205.0 million

senior secured credit facility comprised of a term loan facility in an initial
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aggregate amount of $50.0 million due and payable in quarterly installments

with a final maturity date of

93
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December 6, 2015, and a revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount of

up to $155.0 million, which may be increased pursuant to an “accordion”

feature to up to $200.0 million, with a final maturity date of December 6,

2015. At any time after December 6, 2012, if the outstanding principal

balance of revolving loans under the revolving credit facility exceeds

$50.0 million, $50.0 million of such revolving loans shall convert to an

amortizing term loan due and payable in quarterly installments with a final

maturity date of December 6, 2015. The credit facility is governed by the

terms and conditions of a Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

dated December 6, 2010. Prior to December 6, 2010, the Company and its

consolidated subsidiaries had a credit facility with a syndicate of lenders for

$200.0 million that consisted of a term loan facility and a revolving credit

facility.

At December 31, 2010, the Company had net unused available capacity

of approximately $71.0 million on its revolving credit facility, after taking

into account the senior leverage ratio requirements under the credit facility.

The Company expects to use the remaining availability under this credit

facility, if needed, for working capital, potential acquisitions, and other

general corporate purposes.

The existing credit facility is secured by a first priority security interest

in substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company and its

subsidiaries, including a pledge of all of the stock of such subsidiaries

except for the noncontrolling interest in NDeX and DiscoverReady.

Borrowings under the credit facility accrue interest, at the Company’s

option, based on a base prime rate or a Eurocurrency rate, specifically

LIBOR, plus a margin that fluctuates on the basis of the ratio of the

Company’s total liabilities to the Company’s pro forma EBITDA. The
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margin on the base rate loans may fluctuate between 0.5% and 2.0% and the

margin on the LIBOR loans may fluctuate between 2.0% and 3.5%. If the

Company has elected to have interest accrue (i) based on the base rate, then

such interest is due and payable on the first business day of each month and

(ii) based on LIBOR, then such interest is due and payable at the end of the

applicable interest period that the Company elected, provided that if the

applicable interest period is longer than three months interest will be due

and payable in three month intervals. At December 31, 2010, the combined

weighted-average interest rate on the senior term note and revolver was

2.5%. The Company is also required to pay customary fees with respect to

the credit facility, including an up-front arrangement fee, annual

administrative agency fees and commitment fees on the unused portion of

the revolving portion of its credit facility. The arrangement fee of

$1.7 million was paid in 2010, of which $1.3 million was recorded as

deferred financing fees to be expensed over the term of the credit facility,

and the balance of which was expensed in 2010.

The credit facility includes negative covenants, including restrictions on

the Company’s and its consolidated subsidiaries’ ability to incur debt, grant

liens, consummate certain acquisitions, mergers, consolidations and sales of

all or substantially all of its assets. The credit facility permits the Company

to pay dividends to its common shareholders as well as establish a stock

repurchase program pursuant to which the Company may repurchase shares

of its stock, subject to a debt leverage ratio requirement. The credit facility

contains customary events of default, including nonpayment,

misrepresentation, breach of covenants and bankruptcy. The credit facility

also requires that, as of the last day of any fiscal quarter, the Company and

its consolidated subsidiaries not permit: their total cash flow leverage ratio

to be more than 3.00 to 1.00 (or 3.50 to 1.00 following an acquisition

triggering event); fixed charge coverage ratio to be less than 2.00 to 1.00;

and adjusted EBITDA for the previous two fiscal quarters to be less than

$27.5 million, which amount may increase up to $35 million upon increase

of the Revolving Credit Facility pursuant to the accordion feature.

Unsecured Notes Payable:  Under the terms of common unit purchase

agreements with the Trott Sellers dated December 31, 2009 and January 4,

2010, the Company agreed to pay an aggregate $13.0 million in installments
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for the purchase of an aggregate 7.6% ownership interest in NDeX. Of this

amount, $10.4 million was paid in 2010, with the balance payable in equal

monthly installments through December 1, 2012, at an interest rate of 4.25%

per annum. The aggregate balance on these notes at December 31, 2010 was

$2.6 million.

Under the terms of a redemption agreement with Feiwell & Hannoy, the

Company agreed to pay $3.5 million in installments for the redemption of a

1.7% ownership interest in NDeX from Feiwell & Hannoy. The $3.5 million

note is payable in 12 quarterly installments through December 3, 2012, with

interest accruing at a rate of 5.25% per

94
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annum. The Company paid $1.1 million on this note in 2010. The balance

on this note at December 31, 2010 was $2.3 million.

See Note 3 for further information related to these three transactions.

Approximate future maturities of total debt are as follows (in thousands):

2011 $ 7,578

2012 7,568

2013 10,000

2014 10,000

2015 and thereafter 104,000

Total $139,146

Note 10.  Common and Preferred Stock

Common Stock.  At December 31, 2010, the Company had

70,000,000 shares of common stock authorized and 30,511,408 shares of

common stock outstanding.

In December 2010, the Company’s board of directors approved a stock

buy-back plan effective upon the closing of its New Credit Agreement. This

plan allows the Company to repurchase shares of issued and outstanding

common stock at prevailing market prices or negotiated prices at any time
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through December 31, 2013. The number of shares and the timing of the

purchases will be determined at the discretion of management. Between

February 25, 2011 and March 9, 2011, the Company repurchased

137,500 shares under this plan.

Preferred Stock.  The Company has 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock

authorized and no shares outstanding. On January 29, 2009, the Company’s

board of directors designated 5,000 shares of Series A Junior Participating

Preferred Stock, which are issuable upon the exercise of rights as described

in the Stockholder Rights Plan adopted by the Company on the same date.

The rights to purchase 1/10,000 of a share of the Series A Junior

Participating Preferred Stock were issued to the Company’s stockholders of

record as of February 9, 2009.

Note 11.  Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan for substantially all

employees. Company contributions to the plan are based on a percentage of

employee contributions. The Company’s cost of the plan was approximately

$1.9 million, $1.5 million and $1.1 million, in each of 2010, 2009 and 2008,

respectively.

Note 12.  Leases

The Company leases office space and equipment under certain

noncancelable operating leases that expire in various years through 2027.

Rent expense under operating leases in 2010, 2009 and 2008 was

approximately $7.6 million, $6.5 million and $5.2 million, respectively.

NDeX subleases office space from Trott & Trott, in a building owned by a

partnership, NW13 LLC, a majority of which is owned by David A. Trott,

one of our executive officers (See Note 15 for a description of other

relationships between David A. Trott and the Company).
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Approximate future minimum lease payments under noncancelable

operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

NW13 Other Total

Year ending December 31:

2011 $ 295 $ 5,876 $ 6,171

2012 49 4,420 4,469

2013 — 3,612 3,612

2014 — 2,429 2,429

2015 — 2,201 2,201

Thereafter — 7,562 7,562

$ 344 $26,100 $26,444

Note 13.  Income Taxes

Components of the provision for income taxes at December 31, 2010,

2009 and 2008 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Current federal income tax expense $15,055 $14,795 $6,859

Current state and local income tax expense 3,494 1,469 1,615

Deferred income tax 2,930 2,306 735
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$21,479 $18,570 $9,209

The total income tax expense differs from the expected tax expense

(benefit) from continuing operations, computed by applying the federal

statutory rate to the Company’s income before income taxes, as follows (in

thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Tax benefit at statutory federal income tax

rate $19,889 $18,608 $9,022

State income tax benefit, net of federal effect 2,391 1,556 799

Nontaxable life insurance proceeds — (590) —

Other permanent items 231 251 181

Noncontrolling interest not subject to federal

tax (1,032) (1,255) (793)

$21,479 $18,570 $9,209
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Deferred income taxes reflect the expected future tax consequences of

temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amount of

the Company’s assets and liabilities. The significant components of deferred

income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2010 2009

Amortization and depreciation $ (3,139) $ (3,362)

Partnership interests (11,753) (10,276)

Redeemable noncontrolling interests 2,694 2,557

Stock compensation 1,793 1,042

Interest rate swap qualifying for hedge accounting 927 561

Other, net 1,684 1,318

Net deferred tax liability $ (7,794) $ (8,160)

The Company recognizes the tax effects of an uncertain tax position only

if it is more-likely-than-not to be sustained based solely upon its technical

merits at the reporting date. The Company refers to the difference between

the tax benefit recognized in its financial statements and the tax benefit

claimed in the income tax return as an “unrecognized tax benefit.” The

change in gross unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31,

2010 and 2009 are as follows: (in thousands)
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Years Ended

December 31,

2010 2009

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at January 1 $ 657 $ 277

Increase for tax positions taken in a prior year 531 440

Increase for tax positions taken in the current year 238 52

Settlements with taxing authorities — —

Lapse of the statue of limitations (114) (112)

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31 $1,312 $ 657

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the

Company’s effective tax rate, if recognized, is $1.1 million as of

December 31, 2010.

The Company’s policy for recording interest and penalties associated

with uncertain tax positions is to record such items as a component of

income tax expense in its consolidated statement of operations. As of

December 31, 2010 the Company had $0.2 million of accrued interest

related to uncertain tax positions. The Company does not anticipate any

significant increases or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits within the

next twelve months.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income tax, as well as income

tax in multiple state jurisdictions. With limited exceptions, tax years prior to

2007 are no longer open to federal, state and local examination by taxing

authorities. The Company is currently under examination by New York and

New York City for years 2006 through 2008. The company does not

anticipate any adjustments related to these audits that would result in a

material change to our financial position.

Note 14.  Other Income

Other income in 2010 relates to the receipt of escrow funds related to the
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2009 sale of our investment in GovDelivery, which had been accounted for

under the equity method of accounting. Included in other income in 2009 is

a gain on the Company’s sale of its investment in GovDelivery in the

amount of $2.4 million, as well as a net gain of $1.4 million on a

company-owned life insurance policy on the life of Michael Barrett, a senior

officer of
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Barrett-NDEx, who passed away in January 2009. This net gain includes a

reduction for a $0.5 million contribution the Company made to Southern

Methodist University Dedman School of Law from the life insurance

proceeds, to establish a scholarship fund in Mr. Barrett’s name.

Note 15.  Major Customers and Related Parties

NDeX.  NDeX has eight law firm customers and, of those customers,

Trott & Trott and the Barrett Law Firm together comprised 70.5%, 73.4%

and 70.4% of NDeX’s total revenues and 37.2%, 41.7% and 31.3% of the

Company’s total revenues in each of 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

NDeX has entered into long term services agreements with its law firm

customers that provide for the exclusive referral of mortgage default and

other files for processing. NDeX’s services agreement with Trott & Trott

expires in 2021, but automatically renews for up to two successive ten year

periods unless either party elects to terminate the term then-in-effect upon

prior written notice. NDeX’s services agreements with the Barrett Law Firm

expire in 2033, but automatically renew for successive five year periods

unless either party elects to terminate the term then-in-effect upon prior

notice. Both Trott & Trott and the Barrett Law Firm, along with NDeX’s

other law firm customers, pay NDeX monthly for its services.

Revenues and accounts receivables from services provided to Trott &

Trott and the Barrett Law Firm were as follows (in thousands):

Barrett Law

Firm
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Trott & Trott (and Affiliates)

As of and for the year ended December 31,

2010

Revenues $42,808 $ 72,966

Accounts receivable* $ 3,327 $ 9,867

As of and for the year ended December 31,

2009

Revenues $43,534 $ 66,101

Accounts receivable* $ 4,380 $ 13,373

Revenues for the year ended December 31,

2008 $41,266 $ 18,269

* Includes billed and unbilled services

David A. Trott, chairman and chief executive officer of NDeX, is also

the managing attorney and majority shareholder of Trott & Trott. Until

February 2008, Trott & Trott also owned a 9.1% interest in NDeX, when it

assigned its interest in NDeX to APC Investments, LLC, a limited liability

company owned by the shareholders of Trott & Trott, including Mr. Trott

and NDeX’s two executive vice presidents in Michigan. Together, these

three individuals owned approximately 98.0% of APC Investments. APC

Investments’ interest in NDeX was diluted to 7.6% in connection with the

acquisition of Barrett-NDEx on September 2, 2008. On December 1, 2009,

APC Investments distributed all of its ownership interest in NDeX to each

of its members, which resulted in Mr. Trott having an aggregate 5.1% direct

ownership interest in NDeX and NDeX’s two vice presidents in Michigan,

having an aggregate 2.3% ownership interest in NDeX, together. On

December 31, 2009, the Company acquired a portion of the NDeX

ownership interest that was formerly held by APC Investments from its

members, including Mr. Trott, for an aggregate $8.0 million and

248,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. As a result of this

transaction, Mr. Trott sold the Company 48,348 common units in NDeX,

representing a 3.5% ownership interest and the Company issued to Mr. Trott

168,644 shares of its common stock, having an aggregate fair market value

of $1.8 million on December 31, 2009, using the reported closing sales price
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on that date. On January 4, 2010, the Company acquired the remaining

aggregate 2.4% ownership interest in NDeX that was formerly held by APC

Investments from its members, including Mr. Trott for an aggregate

$5.0 million. As a result of this transaction, Mr. Trott sold the Company his

remaining ownership in NDeX. In connection with these two common unit

purchase agreements, the Company has paid Mr. Trott an aggregate

$7.1 million (net of interest) in 2010 pursuant to the terms of the two

common unit purchase agreements.
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NDeX also pays Net Director, LLC and American Servicing Corporation

for services provided to NDeX. Mr. Trott has an 11.1% ownership interest in

Net Director and, until June 1, 2010, had a 50% ownership interest in

American Servicing Corporation. In 2010, NDeX paid Net Director and

American Servicing Corporation approximately $0.1 million and

$0.4 million, respectively. Mr. Trott and his family members own 80.0% of

Legal Press, LLC, which owns 10.0% of the outstanding membership

interests of DLNP, in which the Company owns a 35.0% interest. In

addition, Mr. Trott serves as a consultant to DLNP under a consulting

agreement and Trott & Trott has an agreement with DLNP to publish its

foreclosure notices in DLNP’s publications.

The sellers of Barrett-NDEx or their designees, a number of who are key

attorneys or shareholders of the Barrett Law Firm and also employees of

NDeX, hold, together, an aggregate 6.2% noncontrolling interest in NDeX.

The Barrett Law Firm owns a 5.0% interest in Net Director.

During 2010, the Company paid distributions to the Sellers of

Barrett-NDeX of $0.5 million pursuant to the terms of the operating

agreement.

DiscoverReady LLC.  The 14.7% noncontrolling interest in

DiscoverReady is held by DR Holdco LLC, which is owned by key

employees, including its Chief Executive Officer and President, of

DiscoverReady. During 2010, the Company paid distributions to DR Holdco

of $1.0 million pursuant to the terms of the operating agreement.

During the second quarter of 2010, the Company repurchased a 0.3%
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equity interest in DiscoverReady from DR Holdco for $0.1 million in

connection with the expiration of the employment agreement of

DiscoverReady’s former chief financial officer. See Note 5 for more

information on this transaction.

DiscoverReady’s top two customers, both of whom are financial services

companies, accounted for 78%, in the aggregate, of DiscoverReady’s total

revenues for 2010.

Note 16.  Reportable Segments

The Company has two operating divisions: Professional Services and

Business Information and three reportable segments: (1) Mortgage Default

Processing Services; (2) Litigation Support Services; and (3) Business

Information. The Mortgage Default Processing Services and Litigation

Support Services segments are part of the Professional Services Division as

these segments provide professional services supporting, primarily,

attorneys and/or their clients. The Business Information segment is part of

the Business Information Division. The Company determined its reportable

segments based on the types of products sold and services performed. The

Mortgage Default Processing Services segment generates revenue from

NDeX, which provides mortgage default processing and related services to

its customers. The Litigation Support Services segment generates revenue

by providing discovery management and document review services through

DiscoverReady LLC and appellate services through Counsel Press, LLC.

Both of these operating segments generate revenues through fee-based

arrangements. The Business Information segment provides products, data

and certain services through subscription-based products and a variety of

media, including court and commercial newspapers, weekly business

journals and the Internet. The Business Information segment generates

revenues primarily from display and classified advertising (including

events), public notices, and subscriptions and other.

Information as to the operations of the Company’s three segments as

presented to and reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, who is its

chief executive officer, is set forth below. Segment assets or other balance
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sheet information is not presented to the Company’s chief operating

decision maker. Accordingly, the Company has not presented information

relating to segment assets. Furthermore, all of the Company’s revenues are

generated in the United States. Unallocated corporate level expenses, which

include costs related to the administrative functions performed in a

centralized manner and not attributable to particular segments (e.g.,

executive compensation expense, accounting, human resources and

information technology support), are reported in the reconciliation of the

segment totals to related consolidated totals as “Corporate” items. There

have been no significant intersegment transactions for the periods reported.
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These segments reflect the manner in which the Company sells its

products and services to the marketplace and the manner in which it

manages its operations and makes business decisions. The tables below

reflect summarized financial information concerning the Company’s

reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and

2008.

Reportable Segments

Professional Services

Mortgage Litigation

Default Support Business

Processing Services Information Corporate Total

(In thousands)

2010

Revenues $164,276 $ 58,793 $ 88,240 $ — $311,309

Direct operating

expenses 68,208 23,273 30,014 — 121,495

Selling, general and

administrative

expenses 40,225 17,913 37,016 10,563 105,717

Amortization and

depreciation 16,564 3,481 5,048 703 25,796

Equity in earnings of

affiliates — — 4,580 — 4,580

Operating income

(loss) $ 39,279 $ 14,126 $ 20,742 $(11,266) $ 62,881
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2009

Revenues $151,479 $ 21,056 $ 90,382 $ — $262,917

Direct operating

expenses 60,349 6,348 29,197 — 95,894

Selling, general and

administrative

expenses 34,866 8,323 34,594 11,939 89,722

Amortization and

depreciation 18,790 1,605 5,265 864 26,524

Equity in earnings of

affiliates — — 4,615 — 4,615

Operating income

(loss) $ 37,474 $ 4,780 $ 25,941 $(12,803) $ 55,392

2008

Revenues $ 84,553 $ 14,943 $ 90,450 $ — $189,946

Direct operating

expenses 33,360 3,572 31,116 — 68,048

Selling, general and

administrative

expenses 19,535 7,036 38,372 9,314 74,257

Break-up fee — — — 1,500 1,500

Amortization and

depreciation 10,527 1,225 4,965 853 17,570

Equity in earnings of

affiliates — — 5,646 — 5,646

Operating income

(loss) $ 21,131 $ 3,110 $ 21,643 $(11,667) $ 34,217

Note 17.  Share-Based Compensation

The Company currently has in place the 2007 Incentive Compensation

(/)



(.navbar-

collapse)



Dolan Co. - FORM 10-K - March 11, 2011 http://www.getfilings.com/sec-filings/110311/Dol...

293 of 335 05/08/2018 07:08 PM



Plan, adopted by the Board of Directors on June 22, 2007. In May 2010, the

Company amended and restated its 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan,

increasing the number of shares reserved for issuance from 2.7 million

shares to 4.8 million shares. Of the 4.8 million shares reserved for issuance

under this plan, there were 2.3 million shares available for issuance at

December 31, 2010. Under this plan, the Company may grant incentive

stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock

units, stock appreciation rights, performance units, substitute awards and

dividend awards to employees of the Company, non-employee directors of

the Company or consultants engaged by the Company.
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —

(Continued)

Also on June 22, 2007, the Board adopted The Dolan Company

Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which was approved by the stockholders

holding the required number of shares of the Company’s capital stock

entitled to vote on July 9, 2007. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan allows

the employees of the Company and its subsidiary corporations to purchase

shares of the Company’s common stock through payroll deductions. The

Company has not yet determined when it will make the benefits under this

plan available to employees. The Company has reserved 900,000 shares of

its common stock for issuance under this plan and there are no shares issued

and outstanding under this plan.

The Company recognizes compensation cost relating to share-based

payment transactions in the financial statements based on the estimated fair

value of the equity or liability instrument issued. The Company uses the

Black-Scholes option pricing model in deriving the fair value estimates of

share-based awards. All inputs into the Black-Scholes model are estimates

made at the time of grant. The Company estimates the expected life of

options based on the expected holding period of the option holder to

determine the expected life of options it had granted. The risk-free interest

rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield for a term equal to the expected life

of the options at the time of grant. The Company also makes assumptions

with respect to expected stock price volatility based upon a mix of the

volatility of the price of its own common stock and the average historical

volatility of a select peer group of similar companies. Stock-based

compensation expense related to restricted stock is based on the grant date

price and is amortized over the vesting period. Forfeitures of share-based

awards are estimated at time of grant and revised in subsequent periods if

actual forfeitures differ from initial estimates. Forfeitures are estimated

based on the percentage of awards expected to vest, taking into
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consideration the seniority level of the award recipients. For stock options

issued, the Company has assumed a six percent forfeiture rate for all awards

issued to management and other employees and non-employee directors,

and a zero percent forfeiture rate for all awards issued to executive

management employees. For restricted stock issued, the Company has

assumed a seven percent forfeiture rate on all restricted stock awards issued

to non-management employees, a six percent forfeiture rate on all restricted

stock awards issued to non-executive management employees, and a zero

percent forfeiture rate on restricted stock awards issued to a limited number

of executive employees.

Total share-based compensation expense for years ended December 31,

2010, 2009 and 2008, was approximately $3.2 million, $2.6 million and

$1.9 million, respectively, before income taxes.

Stock Options.  The Company issued incentive stock options in 2006

which are all fully vested and expire ten years from the date of grant. At

December 31, 2010, there were 81,455 incentive stock options vested. The

non-qualified stock options issued in 2010, 2009 and 2008 were issued to

executive management, non-executive management and other employees

and non-employee directors under the 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan.

The options issued under this plan vest in four equal annual installments

commencing on the first anniversary of the grant date. The options expire

seven years after the grant date. At December 31, 2010, there were 799,129

non-qualified stock options vested.

The Company receives a tax deduction for certain stock option exercises

and disqualifying stock dispositions during the period the options are

exercised or the stock is sold, generally for the excess of the price at which

the options are sold over the exercise prices of the options.

For the year ended December 31, 2010, net cash proceeds from the

exercise of stock options was immaterial.

The following weighted average assumptions were used to estimate the

fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31,
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2010, 2009 and 2008:

2010 2009 2008

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Expected volatility 47.0 - 48.0% 48.0% 28.0%

Risk free interest rate 1.5 - 2.3% 2.0% 3.0 - 3.3%

Expected term of

options 4.75 years 4.75 years 4.75 years

Weighted average

grant date fair value $3.95 - $5.15 $5.35 $4.89 - $5.42
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —

(Continued)

The following table represents stock option activity for the year ended

December 31, 2010:

Weighted Average

Weighted Average Remaining

Number of Grant Date Fair Weighted Average Contractual Life

Shares Value Exercise Price (in Years)

Outstanding

options at

December 31,

2009 1,629,760 $ 4.73 $ 13.81 5.37

Granted 456,860 5.10 12.12 —

Exercised (14,420) 1.35 2.22 —

Canceled or

forfeited (126,430) 4.87 13.91 —

Outstanding

options at

December 31,

2010 1,945,770 4.83 13.50 4.82

Options

exercisable at

December 31,

2010 880,584 $ 4.54 $ 13.63 4.17

Share-based compensation expense related to grants of stock options for
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the year ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was approximately

$2.0 million, $1.7 million and $1.3 million, respectively, before income

taxes. At December 31, 2010, the aggregate intrinsic value of options

outstanding and options exercisable was $2.2 million and $1.1 million,

respectively. At December 31, 2010, there was approximately $3.8 million

of unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding options, which is

expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5 years.

Restricted Stock Grants.  The restricted shares issued to non-executive

employees, as well as a limited number of executive management

employees, typically vest in four equal annual installments commencing on

the first anniversary of the grant date. The restricted shares issued to

non-management employees on August 1, 2007, vest in five equal

installments commencing on the date of grant and each of the four

anniversaries of the grant date. Stock-based compensation expense related

to restricted stock is based on the grant date price and is amortized over the

vesting period.

A summary of the Company’s nonvested restricted stock as of

December 31, 2010, is as follows:

Weighted

Average Grant

Number of Date Fair

Shares Value

Nonvested, December 31, 2009 219,504 $ 13.74

Granted 208,028 12.05

Vested (65,721) 13.97

Canceled or forfeited (36,905) 13.69

Nonvested, December 31, 2010 324,906 $ 12.62

Share-based compensation expense related to grants of restricted stock
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for the year ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was approximately

$1.2 million, $0.9 million and $0.6 million, respectively, before income

taxes. Total unrecognized compensation expense for unvested restricted

shares of common stock as of December 31, 2010 was approximately

$2.9 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average

period of 2.8 years.

Note 18.  Contingencies and Commitments

Litigation.  From time to time, the Company is subject to certain claims

and lawsuits that have been filed in the ordinary course of business.

Although the outcome of these matters cannot presently be determined, it is

management’s opinion that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not

have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or the financial

position of the Company.

NDeX.  The sellers of Barrett-NDEx, as noncontrolling interest holders

in NDeX, or their transferees, each as members of NDeX, has the right to

require NDeX to repurchase all or any portion of the NDeX equity interest

held
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THE DOLAN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —

(Continued)

by them. This right is exercisable for a period of six months following

September 2, 2012. To the extent the sellers of Barrett-NDEx timely

exercise this right, the purchase price would be based upon 6.25 times

NDeX’s trailing twelve month earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation

and amortization less the aggregate amount of any interest bearing

indebtedness outstanding for NDeX as of the date the repurchase occurs.

The aggregate purchase price would be payable by NDeX in the form of a

three-year unsecured note bearing interest at a rate equal to prime plus

2.0%.

DiscoverReady.  Under the terms of the DiscoverReady limited liability

agreement, DR Holdco has the right, for a period of ninety days following

November 2, 2012, to require DiscoverReady to repurchase all or any

portion of its equity interest in DiscoverReady. To the extent that DR

Holdco timely exercises this right, the purchase price of such equity interest

will be based on the fair market value of such interest. During that same

period, the Company also has the right to require DR Holdco to sell its

entire equity interest in DiscoverReady to it. If the Company timely

exercises its right, it would pay DR Holdco an amount based on the fair

market value of the equity interest. These rights generally may be exercised

by an individual holder of DR Holdco interests upon termination. If either

of these rights are exercised, the aggregate purchase price would be paid by

DiscoverReady in cash, to the extent allowable by the terms and conditions

of the Company’s then-existing bank credit agreement.

Note 19.  Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly financial data
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for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. The Company believes

that all necessary adjustments have been included in the amounts stated

below to present fairly the results of such periods when read in conjunction

with the annual financial statements and related notes.

Quarterly Financial Data

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Full Year

(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

2010

Revenues $76,978 $79,209 $78,459 $76,663 $311,309

Operating income 17,383 16,473 16,430 12,595 62,881

Net income

attributable to The

Dolan Company 9,157 8,632 9,040 5,526 32,355

Net income

attributable to The

Dolan Company

per share — Basic

and diluted 0.30 0.29 0.30 0.18 1.07

2009

Revenues $63,936 $67,040 $62,344 $69,597 $262,917

Operating income 14,442 16,317 11,472 13,161 55,392

Net income

attributable to The

Dolan Company 8,647 8,206 5,870 8,090 30,813

Net income

attributable to The

Dolan Company

per share — Basic

and diluted 0.29 0.27 0.20 0.27 1.03

A summary of significant events occurring in 2010 and 2009 that may
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assist in reviewing the information provided above follows:

2010. On August 9, 2010, the Company acquired certain assets of

Federal News. On December 1, 2010, the Company acquired the equity

interests of DataStream.

2009. On October 1, 2009, the Company acquired the mortgage default

processing and related services business of the Albertelli Sellers. On

November 2, 2009, the Company acquired a majority interest in

DiscoverReady LLC, a provider of discovery management and document

review services. On December 31, 2009, the Company recorded a gain of

$2.4 million related to the sale of its interest in GovDelivery.
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Item 9. Changes in or Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting or

Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the

participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and

chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and

procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the

period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, our chief executive

officer and chief financial officer have concluded that, as of the end of such

period, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and provided

reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the

reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,

processed, summarized and reported accurately and within the time frames

specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and

accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief

executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were not any changes in our internal control over financial

reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under

the Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2010 that

have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our

internal control over financial reporting.
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial

Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining

adequate internal control over financial reporting. Under the supervision and

with the participation of our management, including our chief executive

officer and chief financial officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our

internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010 using the

criteria described in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework, issued by

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (“COSO”) of the Treadway

Commission. Based on this evaluation and those criteria, our management

concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as

of December 31, 2010.

In making this assessment as of December 31, 2010, we have excluded

the operations of Federal News, acquired on August 9, 2010, and the

operations of DataStream, acquired on December 1, 2010. The financial

statements of Federal News Service reflect total assets and total revenues of

less than 1% of our consolidated financial amounts as of and for the year

ended December 31, 2010. The financial statements of DataStream reflect

total assets of 4% and total revenues of less than 1% of our consolidated

financial amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010. We have

excluded these businesses because we have not had sufficient time to make

an assessment of their respective internal controls using the COSO criteria

in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. In

excluding these businesses from our assessment, we have considered the

“Frequently Asked Questions” as set forth by the office of the Chief

Accountant and the Division of Corporate Finance on June 24, 2004, as

revised on September 24, 2007, which acknowledges that it may not be

possible to conduct an assessment of an acquired business’s internal control

over financial reporting in the period between the consummation date and

the date of management’s assessment and contemplates that such business

would be excluded from management’s assessment in the year of

acquisition.

McGladrey & Pullen, LLP, the independent registered accounting firm
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who audited our consolidated financial statements, has also audited the

effectiveness our internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2010 as described in their report on the next page.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders

The Dolan Company

We have audited The Dolan Company and Subsidiaries’ (the

“Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission (COSO). The Dolan Company’s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial

reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over

financial reporting included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal

Control over Financial Reporting in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of

The Dolan Company for the year ended December 31, 2010. Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control

over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was

maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an

understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk

that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our

audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on

Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management has excluded the

operations of Federal News Service and DataStream Content Solutions from

its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2010, because these businesses were acquired by the

Company on August 9, 2010, and December 1, 2010, respectively. We have
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also excluded those acquired businesses, which together comprise

approximately 4% of consolidated assets and less than 1% of consolidated

revenues as of and for the year ended December 31, 2010, from our audit of

internal control over financial reporting.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of

financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A

company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that (a) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in

reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company; (b) provide reasonable assurance

that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and

that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in

accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the

company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial

statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any

evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that

the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, The Dolan Company and Subsidiaries maintained, in all

material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control —

Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public

Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated

financial statements of The Dolan Company and Subsidiaries as of
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December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31, 2010, and our report dated March 11, 2011, expressed

an unqualified opinion.

/s/ McGladrey & Pullen, LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota

March 11, 2011
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

We have incorporated by reference information required by Part III into

this Annual Report on Form 10-K from our definitive Proxy Statement for

our 2011 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. We expect to file our proxy

statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A in early April 2011, but

will file it, in no event later than 120 days after December 31, 2010. Except

for those portions specifically incorporated in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K by reference to our proxy statement, no other portions of the

proxy statement are deemed to be filed as part of this Form 10-K.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

We have incorporated into this item by reference the information

provided under “Proposal 1 — Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers,”

“Directors Continuing in Office,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership

Reporting Compliance,” “Our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

Policies” and “Audit Committee” in our proxy statement.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

We have incorporated into this item by reference the information

provided under “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Executive

Compensation,” “Director Compensation,” “Compensation Committee

Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Compensation Committee

Report” in our proxy statement.

We anticipate that Renee Jackson, our General Counsel, will be a named
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executive officer in the proxy statement. Therefore, we are filing her

employment agreement with us as an exhibit to this Form 10-K.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and

Management and Related Stockholder Matters

We have incorporated into this item by reference the information

provided under “Principal Stockholders and Beneficial Ownership of

Directors and Executive Officers” in our proxy statement.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The table below sets forth information regarding securities authorized for

issuance under our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2010. On

December 31, 2010, we had one active equity compensation plan, the 2007

Incentive Compensation Plan, which was amended and restated in 2010 to

increase the number of shares reserved for issuance from 2.7 million shares

to 4.8 million shares. Our board of directors and stockholders have also

approved an Employee Stock Purchase Plan, having an effective date after

December 31, 2007. We have not yet determined when or if we will

implement the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Number of securities

Number of Weighted- remaining available

securities to be average exercise for future issuance

issued upon price of under equity

exercise of outstanding compensation plans

outstanding options, (excluding securities

options, warrants warrants and reflected in first

Plan Category and rights rights column)

Equity compensation

plans approved by

security holders

2007 Incentive

Compensation Plan 1,945,770 $ 13.50 2,332,591(1)
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Employee Stock

Purchase Plan — — 900,000

Subtotal 1,945,770 $ 13.50 3,232,591

Equity compensation

plans not approved

by security holders — — —

Total 1,945,770 $ 13.50 3,232,591
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(1) Includes 36,905 shares of restricted stock that were forfeited by grantees

during 2010, which are available to be reissued under the 2007 Incentive

Compensation Plan.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions and

Director Independence

We have incorporated into this item by reference the information

provided under “Related Party Transactions and Policies” and “Director

Independence” in our proxy statement. Please also refer to the independence

discussions in our proxy statement as they relate to each of our committees

under “Corporate Governance.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

We have incorporated into this item by reference the information

provided under “Fees of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”

and “Audit Committee Policy on Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible

Non-Audit Services” in our proxy statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statements Schedule

a. Financial Statements and Schedules.

1. Financial Statements.  The consolidated financial statements filed

as part of this report are listed in the index to financial statements in

Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K as follows and incorporated

in this Item 15 by reference:

Title Page

Report of McGladrey & Pullen, LLP, the independent registered public

accounting firm of The Dolan Company 67

Report of Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP, the independent

registered public accounting firm of The Detroit Legal News

Publishing, LLC 68

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 69

Consolidated Statements of Operations for years ended December 31,

2010, 2009 and 2008 70

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for years ended

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 71

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for years ended December 31,

2010, 2009 and 2008 72

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 73

2. Financial Statement Schedules.  Financial statement schedules are

omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they are

required or because the required information is included in the

consolidated financial statements or the related notes.
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b. Exhibits

Exhibit

No. Title Method of Filing

2.1 Membership Interests Purchase

Agreement by and among

DiscoverReady LLC, DR Holdco

LLC, Steven R. Harber, David

Shub, James K. Wagner, Paul

Yerkes, C. Parkhill Mays and

The Dolan Company (f/k/a

Dolan Media Company) dated

November 2, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 2.1 of our quarterly

report on Form l0-Q filed with

the SEC on November 6, 2009.

The schedules and exhibit to the

Membership Interest Purchase

Agreement have been omitted

pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of

Regulation S-K. We have agreed

to furnish supplementally to the

SEC, upon request, a copy of the

omitted schedules and exhibits.

3.1 Amended and Restated

Certificate of Incorporation

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3 of our current report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

May 26, 2010.

3.2 Second Amended and Restated

Bylaws

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.2 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on December 18, 2008.

3.3 Certificate of Designation of

Series A Junior Participating

Preferred Stock of The Dolan

Company (f/k/a Dolan Media

Company)

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.1 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on February 3, 2009.

4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4 of our amendment to

registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on July 16, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).
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Exhibit

No. Title Method of Filing

4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of

January 29, 2009, by and

between The Dolan Company

(f/k/a Dolan Media Company)

and Mellon Investor Services

LLC, as Rights Agent

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.1 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on February 3, 2009.

4.3 Amendment No. 1 to Rights

Agreement, dated as of

March 17, 2010, by and between

The Dolan Company (f/k/a

Dolan Media Company) and

Mellon Investor Services LLC,

as Rights Agent

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4 of our current report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on

March 22, 2010.

10.1* Amended and Restated

Employment Agreement of

James P. Dolan dated effective

April 1, 2007

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on June 6, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).

10.2* First Amendment to the

Amended and Restated

Employment Agreement of

James P. Dolan dated

December 29, 2008

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 of our annual report

on Form 10-K filed with the

SEC on March 12, 2009.

10.3* Amended and Restated

Employment Agreement

between The Dolan Company

(f/k/a Dolan Media Company)

and Scott J. Pollei dated

August 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on August 4, 2009.
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10.4* Employment Agreement

between The Dolan Company

(f/k/a Dolan Media Company)

and Vicki J. Duncomb dated

effective August 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on August 4, 2009.

10.5* Employment Agreement of

Mark W.C. Stodder dated

effective April 1, 2007

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.4 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on June 6, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).

10.6* First Amendment to the

Employment Agreement of

Mark W.C. Stodder dated

December 29, 2008

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 of our annual report

on Form 10-K filed with the

SEC on March 12, 2009.

10.7* Second Amendment to the

Employment Agreement of

Mark W.C. Stodder dated

August 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 of our quarterly

report on Form 10-Q filed with

the SEC on August 7, 2009.

10.8* Employment Agreement of

David A. Trott dated as of

March 14, 2006

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 of our registration

statement on Form S-1 filed with

the SEC on April 26, 2007

(Registration NO. 333-142372).

10.9* First Amendment to the

Employment Agreement of

David A. Trott dated

December 29, 2008

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 of our annual report

on Form 10-K filed with the

SEC on March 12, 2009.

10.10* Separation Agreement and

General Release between The

Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan

Media Company) and Mark E.

Baumbach dated July 28, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on July 28, 2009.
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10.11* Consulting Agreement between

Mark E. Baumbach and The

Dolan Company (f/k/a Dolan

Media Company) dated

September 28, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.8 of our quarterly

report on Form l0-Q filed with

the SEC on November 6, 2009.

10.12* 2007 Incentive Compensation

Plan (Amended and Restated in

2010)

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on May 26, 2010.
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Exhibit

No. Title Method of Filing

10.13* Form of Non-Qualified Stock

Option Award Agreement

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.6 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on July 11, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).

10.14* Form of Incentive Stock Option

Award Agreement

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.8 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on July 11, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).

10.15* Form of Restricted Stock Award

Agreement

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.7 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on July 11, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).

10.16* Amended and Restated

Executive Change in Control

Plan

Filed herewith.

10.17 Form of Indemnification

Agreement

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.18 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on June 29, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).

10.18* 2007 Employee Stock Purchase

Plan

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.18 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on July 11, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).
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10.19 Services Agreement between

American Processing Company,

LLC, Trott & Trott, P.C. and

David A. Trott

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.8 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on June 6, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372). Portions of

this exhibit were omitted and

have been filed separately with

the Secretary of the SEC

pursuant to an application for

confidential treatment under

Rule 406 of the Securities Act.

10.20 Services Agreement between

American Processing Company,

LLC, Feiwell & Hannoy

Professional Corporation,

Michael Feiwell and Douglas

Hannoy

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.9 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on June 6, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372). Portions of

this exhibit were omitted and

have been filed separately with

the Secretary of the SEC

pursuant to an application for

confidential treatment under

Rule 406 of the Securities Act.

10.21 Services Agreement between

American Processing Company,

LLC and Wilford & Geske,

Professional Association

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on February 25, 2008. Portions

of this exhibit were omitted and

have been filed separately with

the Secretary of the SEC

pursuant to an application for

confidential treatment under

Rule 406 of the Securities Act.
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10.22 First Amendment to the Services

Agreement between American

Processing Company, LLC and

Wilford & Geske, P.A. dated

June 4, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.4 of our quarterly

report on Form 10-Q filed with

the SEC on May 5, 2009.
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Exhibit

No. Title Method of Filing

10.23 Second Amendment to the

Services Agreement between

American Processing Company,

LLC and Wilford & Geske, P.A.

dated June 4, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of our quarterly

report on Form l0-Q filed with

the SEC on August 7, 2009.

Portions of this exhibit were

omitted and have been filed

separately with the Secretary of

the SEC pursuant to an

application for confidential

treatment under Rule 406 of the

Securities Act.

10.24 Amended and Restated Services

Agreement between National

Default Exchange, LP and

Barrett Daffin Frappier Turner &

Engel, LLP dated September 2,

2008

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on September 2, 2008. Portions

of this exhibit were omitted and

have been filed separately with

the Secretary of the SEC

pursuant to an application for

confidential treatment under

Rule 406 of the Securities Act.

10.25 Letter Agreement amending

Amended and Restated Services

Agreement between National

Default Exchange, LP and

Barrett Daffin Frappier Turner &

Engel, LLP dated January 13,

2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.35 of our annual

report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on March 9, 2009.

Portions of this exhibit were

omitted and have been filed

separately with the Secretary of

the SEC pursuant to an

application for confidential

treatment under Rule 406 of the

Securities Act.
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10.26 Services Agreement between

American Processing Company,

LLC (d/b/a NDeX) and James E.

Albertelli, P.A. (and, for certain

purposes, James E. Albertelli,

individually) dated October 1,

2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on October 5, 2009. Portions of

this exhibit were omitted and

have been filed separately with

the Secretary of the SEC

pursuant to an application for

confidential treatment under

Rule 406 of the Securities Act.

10.27 First Amendment to Services

Agreement among American

Processing Company, LLC (d/b/a

NDeX), James E. Albertelli, P.A.

and James E. Albertelli,

individually, dated as of July 12,

2010

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 of our quarterly

report on Form 10-Q filed with

the SEC on August 5, 2010.

10.28 Amended and Restated

Operating Agreement of The

Detroit Legal News Publishing,

LLC

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.10 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on June 6, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).

10.29 Amended and Restated

Operating Agreement of

American Processing Company,

LLC

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.11 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on June 6, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372). This

Exhibit 10.11 also included

Amendment No. 1 to the

Amended and Restated

Operating Agreement of

American Processing Company,

LLC, identified in this exhibit list

as Exhibit 10.30.
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10.30 Amendment No. 1 to Amended

and Restated Operating

Agreement of American

Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.11 of our amendment

to registration statement on

Form S-1/A filed with the SEC

on June 6, 2007 (Registration

No. 333-142372).

10.31 Amendment No. 2 to Amended

and Restated Operating

Agreement of American

Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on December 3, 2007.
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Exhibit

No. Title Method of Filing

10.32 Amendment No. 3 to Amended

and Restated Operating

Agreement of American

Processing Company, LLC

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on February 25, 2008.

10.33 Amendment No. 4 to the

Amended and Restated

Operating Agreement of

American Processing Company,

LLC

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on September 2, 2008.

10.34 Amendment No. 5 to the

American Processing Company,

LLC Operating Agreement dated

July 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 of our quarterly

report on Form l0-Q filed with

the SEC on August 7, 2009.

10.35 Amendment No. 6 to the

Amended and Restated

Operating Agreement of

American Processing Company,

LLC

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 to our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on January 5, 2010.

10.36 Amendment No. 7 to the

Amended and Restated

Operating Agreement of

American Processing Company,

LLC

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.4 to our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on January 5, 2010.

10.37 Amendment No. 8 to the

Amended and Restated

Operating Agreement of

American Processing Company,

LLC

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.37 of our annual

report on Form 10-K filed with

the SEC on March 8, 2010.

10.38 Third Amended and Restated

Limited Liability Company

Agreement of DiscoverReady

LLC dated as of November 2,

2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.9 of our quarterly

report on Form 10-Q filed with

the SEC on November 6, 2009.
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10.39 Amendment No. 1 to Third

Amended and Restated Limited

Liability Company Agreement of

DiscoverReady LLC dated as of

April 30, 2010

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 of our quarterly

report on Form 10-Q filed with

the SEC on May 6, 2010.

10.40 Third Amended and Restated

Credit Agreement, dated as of

December 6, 2010, among The

Dolan Company, the subsidiaries

of The Dolan Company, the

lenders from time to time party

thereto, U.S. Bank National

Association, as administrative

agent, lead arranger and sole

bookrunner, and Wells Fargo

Bank, National Association, as

syndication agent

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on December 7, 2010.

10.41 Asset Purchase Agreement

among The Dolan Company

(f/k/a Dolan Media Company),

American Processing Company,

LLC (d/b/a NDeX), James E.

Albertelli, P.A., The Albertelli

Firm, P.C., Albertelli Title, Inc.

and James E. Albertelli dated

October 1, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 of our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on October 5, 2009. The

schedules and exhibits to the

Asset Purchase Agreement have

been omitted pursuant to Item

601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. We

have agreed to furnish

supplementally to the SEC, upon

request, a copy of the omitted

schedules and exhibits.
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10.42 First Amendment to Asset

Purchase Agreement among

American Processing Company,

LLC (d/b/a NDeX), The Dolan

Company (f/k/a Dolan Media

Company), James E. Albertelli,

P.A., The Albertelli Firm, P.C.,

Albertelli Title, Inc. and James

E. Albertelli, individually, dated

as of July 12, 2010

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.3 of our quarterly

report on Form 10-Q filed with

the SEC on August 5, 2010.
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Exhibit

No. Title Method of Filing

10.43 Common Unit Purchase

Agreement by and between

David A. Trott, Ellen Coon,

Trustee of the Ellen Coon Living

Trust u/a/d 9/9/98, Marcy J.

Ford, Trustee of the Marcy Ford

Revocable Trust u/a/d 7/12/04,

William D. Meagher, Trustee of

the William D. Meagher Trust

u/a/d 8/24/07, and Jeanne M.

Kivi, Trustee of the Jeanne M.

Kivi Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, Dolan

APC, LLC, The Dolan Company

(f/k/a Dolan Media Company)

and Trott & Trott P.C. dated

December 31, 2009

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on January 5, 2010. The exhibits

to the Common Unit Purchase

Agreement have been omitted

pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of

Regulation S-K. We have agreed

to furnish supplementally to the

SEC, upon request, a copy of the

omitted exhibits.

10.44 Common Unit Purchase

Agreement by and between

David A. Trott, Ellen Coon,

Trustee of the Ellen Coon Living

Trust u/a/d 9/9/98, Marcy J.

Ford, Trustee of the Marcy Ford

Revocable Trust u/a/d 7/12/04,

William D. Meagher, Trustee of

the William D. Meagher Trust

u/a/d 8/24/07, and Jeanne M.

Kivi, Trustee of the Jeanne M.

Kivi Trust u/a/d 8/24/07, Dolan

APC, LLC, The Dolan Company

(f/k/a Dolan Media Company)

and Trott & Trott P.C. dated

January 4, 2010

Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to our current report

on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on January 5, 2010. The exhibits

to the Common Unit Purchase

Agreement have been omitted

pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of

Regulation S-K. We have agreed

to furnish supplementally to the

SEC, upon request, a copy of the

omitted exhibits.

(/)



(.navbar-

collapse)



Dolan Co. - FORM 10-K - March 11, 2011 http://www.getfilings.com/sec-filings/110311/Dol...

329 of 335 05/08/2018 07:08 PM



10.45* Employment Agreement of

Renee Jackson dated as of

July 12, 2010

Filed herewith.

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed herewith.

23.1 Consent of McGladrey & Pullen,

LLP

Filed herewith.

23.2 Consent of Baker Tilly Virchow

Krause, LLP

Filed herewith.

31.1 Section 302 Certification of

James P. Dolan

Filed herewith.

31.2 Section 302 Certification of

Vicki J. Duncomb

Filed herewith.

32.1 Section 906 Certification of

James P. Dolan

Filed herewith.

32.2 Section 906 Certification of

Vicki J. Duncomb

Filed herewith.

* Management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement

required to be filed as exhibit to this annual report on Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on

Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized.

THE DOLAN COMPANY

Dated: March 11, 2011

By: /s/ JAMES P. DOLAN

James P. Dolan

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and

President

(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ VICKI J. DUNCOMB

Vicki J. Duncomb

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has

been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and

in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/  JAMES P. DOLAN

James P. Dolan

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer,

President and Director (Principal

Executive Officer)

March 11, 2011
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/s/  VICKI J. DUNCOMB

Vicki J. Duncomb

Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer (Principal Financial Officer

and Principal Accounting Officer)

March 11, 2011

/s/  JOHN C. BERGSTROM

John C. Bergstrom

Director March 11, 2011

/s/  ANTON J. CHRISTIANSON

Anton J. Christianson

Director March 11, 2011

/s/  ARTHUR F. KINGSBURY

Arthur F. Kingsbury

Director March 11, 2011

/s/  BILL L. FAIRFIELD

Bill L. Fairfield

Director March 11, 2011

/s/  LAUREN RICH FINE

Lauren Rich Fine

Director March 11, 2011

/s/  GEORGE ROSSI

George Rossi

Director March 11, 2011

/s/  GARY H. STERN

Gary H. Stern

Director March 11, 2011
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Exhibit Index

Exhibit

No. Title Method of Filing

10.16 Amended and Restated

Executive Change in Control

Plan

Filed herewith.

10.45 Employment Agreement of

Renee Jackson dated as of

July 12, 2010

Filed herewith.

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed herewith.

23.1 Consent of McGladrey & Pullen,

LLP

Filed herewith.

23.2 Consent of Baker Tilly Virchow

Krause, LLP

Filed herewith.

31.1 Section 302 Certification of

James P. Dolan

Filed herewith.

31.2 Section 302 Certification of

Vicki J. Duncomb

Filed herewith.

32.1 Section 906 Certification of

James P. Dolan

Filed herewith.

32.2 Section 906 Certification of

Vicki J. Duncomb

Filed herewith.
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